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Department of Finance
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201 W Colfax Ave, Dept 1109

Denver, CO 80202

D E N v E R p: 720.913.5500
THE MILE HIGH CITY f: 720.913.5245

www.denvergov.org/finance

May 27,2016
Citizens of the City and County of Denver,

Honorable Mayor, @
Honorable Auditor,

Honorable Clerk and Recorder,

Honorable Members of City Council, and Brendan Hanlon

Audit Committee Chief Financial Officer

State law requires the City and County of Denver (City) to publish within seven months of the close of the fiscal year
a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (U.S. GAAP) and audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards by a
firm of licensed certified public accountants. This report is prepared by the Controller’s Office under the Department
of Finance according to Article 2, Part 5 of the City’s Charter. Pursuant to the requirements, | hereby issue the
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the City for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015.

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the City. Responsibility for the
accuracy of the data and the completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the
management of the City. To provide a reasonable basis for making those representations, management of the City

has established a comprehensive internal control framework that is designed both to protect the government’s assets
from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the City’s financial
statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits, the
City’s comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute
assurance that the financial statements will be free from material misstatement. As management, we assert that, to the
best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all material respects.

BKD, LLP, a firm of licensed certified public accountants, has audited the City’s financial statements. The goal of the
independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the City for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 2015, are free of material misstatement. The audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the accounting principles used

and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. The
independent auditors concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified
opinion on the City’s basic financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015. The independent

auditors' report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report.
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DenverGov.org | 311
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THE REPORT

The CAFRis presented in three sections:

+  TheIntroduction section includes this letter of
transmittal, Mayor, Auditor, District Attorney, Clerk and
Recorder, and City Council introductions, the City’s
organization chart, and certificates of achievement.

«  The Financial section includes the report of the
independent auditors, Management’s Discussion
and Analysis (MD&A), the basic financial statements,
including the government-wide financial statements
comprised of the Statement of Net Position and the
Statement of Activities and the accompanying notes
to the financial statements. The Financial Section
also includes the fund financial statements including
the governmental funds financial statements, the
proprietary funds financial statements, the fiduciary
funds financial statements, the component units
financial statements, and the combining individual
funds financial statements for the nonmajor
governmental funds and the internal service funds.
Required supplementary information other than the
MD&A is also included in the financial section.

. The Statistical section includes selected financial and

demographic information, on a multi-year basis.
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Summary Detail

This transmittal letter is designed to complement the MD&A
and should be read in conjunction with the MD&A.

This CAFR includes all funds of the City. The City provides a
full range of services including: police and fire protection;

the construction and maintenance of highways, streets and
other infrastructure; and recreational activities and cultural

events. The CAFR also includes the City’s component units,

which are legally separate organizations and for which the
City is financially accountable or whose relationship with
the City is of a nature and significance that would cause the
City’s financial statements to be incomplete were they not
included.

The City maintains budgetary controls that have the
objective of ensuring compliance with legal provisions
embodied in the annual appropriated budget submitted

by the Mayor and adopted by the City Council. All activities
of the General Fund and Human Services special revenue
fund are included in the annual appropriated budget except
for capital outlay. Project-length budgets are adopted for
the remaining special revenue funds and capital project
funds. Budgetary control (the level at which expenditures
and encumbrances cannot legally exceed the appropriated
amount) is established at the department level within
individual funds, except for special revenue and capital
project funds, which are at the funded project level.
Disbursements that would result in an overrun of funded
project balances (budgets) are not released until additional
appropriations are made available. At year-end, if additional
monies have not been appropriated where needed,
expenditures are properly reflected in the current period
causing an over budget condition to exist.

In addition to the financial audit, the City undertakes a single
audit in conformance with the Single Audit Act Amendments
of 1996 and U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB)
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and
Audit Requirements for Federal Audits. The results of this
single audit, including a schedule of expenditures of federal
awards, and the independent auditor’s reports on the City’s
internal controls and compliance with legal requirements,
with special emphasis on internal controls and legal
requirements involving the administration of federal awards,
are available in the City’s separately issued single audit

report.

City ProFILE

The City is located at the eastern base of the Rocky
Mountains in the north-central part of Colorado,
encompassing 154.63 square miles. The City is the
capital of the state, and it is also the cultural, distribution,

entertainment, financial, service and transportation hub of
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the Rocky Mountain region. With an elevation of 5,280 feet
the “Mile High City” has a cool, dry, sunny climate that makes
it a magnet for health seekers and those enjoying outdoor
recreation all year round. In 2015, Denver had an estimated
population of 682,545 for the core City and County. Itis
estimated that over 3 million people reside in the Denver
metro area, which includes the suburban counties of Adams,
Arapahoe, Boulder, Broomfield, Douglas and Jefferson.

Denver was founded November 22, 1858, after a gold
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discovery at the confluence of Cherry Creek and the South
Platte River. Town founder William H. Larimer, Jr. named the
city for James W. Denver, Governor of Kansas Territory, of

which east central Colorado was then a part.

Numerous gold discoveries sparked a mass migration of
some 100,000 in 1859-1861, leading the federal government
to establish Colorado Territory in 1861. The City was
incorporated on November 7, 1861 by a special act of

the first session of the Legislative Assembly of Colorado
Territory. In 1867 the City became the Capital of Colorado
Territory and remained the capital after Colorado became a

state on August 1, 1876. Denver became a City and County

with home rule when Article XX was added to the Colorado
Constitution in 1902. The City’s charter was enacted on
March 29, 1904 establishing a strong mayor/city council form

of government and an independent, elected city auditor.

The mayor and thirteen-member council, elected in non-
partisan elections govern the City. The Mayor is the chief
executive, exercising all administrative and executive powers
granted to the City, except as otherwise delegated by the
City Charter. The legislative powers of the City are vested

in the City Council. The City has an elected Auditor and an
elected Clerk and Recorder. All elected officials’ terms are
concurrent and last four years and each position is subject to

term limits of twelve years.

The Charter establishes an audit committee consisting of
seven members; two members appointed by the Mayor, two
members appointed by the City Council and two members
appointed by the Auditor, with the Auditor as the Chair. The
audit committee, among other things, is responsible for the
selection and management of the external auditor. During
the course of the annual city-wide audit the audit committee
monitors the progress of the audit and discusses with the
external auditor any matters related to the audit. The audit
committee also accepts the results of the audit.

RecionAL Economic CONDITIONS

The information presented in the financial statements is
perhaps best understood when it is considered from the
broader perspective of the specific environment within
which the City operates.

The City is the center of economic activity of the region,
serving as a business, recreational, higher educational and
cultural hub. Major features of the economy include the
central business district, state capitol building, Denver
International Airport, extensive library facilities, several
professional sports teams, institutions of higher learning,

and numerous museums and other cultural facilities.

The economy of the metropolitan area generally mirrors that
of the state. According to Colorado’s Office of State Planning
and Budgeting (OSPB), despite the slower job growth over
the past year, Colorado’s statewide unemployment rate
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continued to drop, registering 3.2% in January 2016, the
lowest since 2001. As of January 2015 state unemployment
was 4.6%, up from 4.2% in January 2014. Colorado’s
unemployment rate is below the national average of 5.0%
for 2015, according to the OSPB.

CONSTRUCTION

The March 2016 OSPB Colorado Economic Perspective report
states that nonresidential construction growth slowed to
10.7% and is expected to decrease 2.2% in 2016. The OSPB
also projects 22.0% permit growth in 2016.

PersoNAL INcomE AND WAGES

The March 2016 OSPB Colorado Economic Perspective report
shows that personal income growth decreased to 4.9% in
2015 from 6.2% in 2014, largely due to slowing employment
growth and especially the oil and gas slowdown. The
Colorado economy will continue on a similar trajectory in
2016.

CONSUMER SPENDING

Overall, consumer spending continues to increase according
to the OSPB. Colorado retail trade sales are expected to
increase 4.3% in 2016. Sales and use tax revenue, which
makes up half of the City’s General Fund revenue stream,
increased by 1.3% in 2015. The City anticipates that core
sales and use tax revenue will grow approximately 5.0% in
2016.

City FINANCIAL PoLiciEs AND PLANNING

The City, as with the rest of the nation and most of the world,
experienced a significant recession in 2009, causing the
largest decline in revenues since the 1930’s. Formal financial
policies, as well as operating practices, have enabled the City
to maintain core services and minimize the impact to citizens
and employees wherever possible. Formal policies exist

in areas such as balanced budgets, revenue diversification
and use of one-time and unpredictable revenues, operating

expenditures, reserves, investments, and debt.

REVENUE ADMINISTRATION

The City’s main source of revenue for operating expenditures
is sales and use tax, which makes up 51.0% of total General
Fund revenues. This is less than the 70.0% average for

most local governments in the region. In addition, the City
reviews all fees, fines, and charges for services on a rotating
basis to ensure they are meeting cost recovery goals. One-
time and unpredictable revenues are spent on one-time
costs, such as equipment replacement, or transferred to
capital improvement funds for repair and rehabilitation
projects.

EXPENDITURE ADMINISTRATION

Expenditure budgets are carefully reviewed by both

the implementing departments and the Budget and
Management Office. Careful attention is paid to ensure
departments are meeting projected vacancy savings and
that excess budget is not transferred to non-personnel line
items. For 2015, there was $27 million in additional savings
beyond the original budget by year-end. The primary
contributors to this unspent appropriation were significant
position vacancies that resulted from a very competitive job

market and unspent contingency.

RESERVES

The City has multiple reserves in its General Fund to address
budgetary shortfalls. A Contingency Reserve of no less

than 2.0% of total estimated expenditures, an Emergency
Reserve mandated by the State Constitution equal to 3% of
covered funds, and an unassigned Fund Balance target of
15.0% of total budgeted expenditures. The City’s budget
policy concerning the use of reserves varies depending on
the reserve type but generally limits the use of reserves to
respond to revenue shortfalls, unanticipated expenditures,
or severe economic downturn. The policy further states that
use of reserves should be combined with structural changes
to bring the budget back into balance. The unassigned
Fund Balance at the end of 2015 was projected to be 23.0%

of expenditures.
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DEesT ADMINISTRATION

The City’s debt policy establishes guidelines and parameters
for the issuance and management of debt. The primary
objectives of the policy are to ensure that debt is issued
prudently and affordable. The Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights
(TABOR) under the State Constitution requires the City to
obtain voter approval prior to issuing any multi-year fiscal
debt or obligations. Certain exceptions apply for refunding
of outstanding bonds and debt issued by enterprises of the
City. The City's Charter further restricts general obligation
bonded debt to 3.0% of the actual value of the taxable
property within the City. General obligation water bonds
issued by Denver Water are excluded from this limitation. At
December 31, 2015, the City’s general obligation bonded
debt of $815,676,000 subject to this restriction, was 27.1%
of the $3,006,108,000 three-percent limitation amount, not
including compound interest of the general obligation mini-
bonds.

According to standard measures used by the primary credit
rating agencies to assess debt (e.g. fund balance as a percent
of operating expenses, debt-to-assessed ratios, debt per
capital, etc.), the City’s level of direct debt obligations are
considered moderate but manageable in comparison with
similarly sized cities. Rating agencies cite the City’s strong
financial management and prudent fiscal policies as credit
strengths. As of December 31, 2015, the City is rated triple-A
(AAA) by all three of the major rating agencies: Standard &
Poor’s, Fitch, and Moody'’s Investors Service.

CasH MANAGEMENT

The City’s Charter regulates the securities in which

the City may invest its funds. Permissible investments
under the Charter are obligations of the United States
Government, its agencies, and sponsored corporations,
prime bankers’ acceptances, prime commercial paper,
certificates of deposit issued by banks and savings and
loan institutions, local government investment pools,
repurchase agreements, forward purchase agreements,
security lending agreements, highly rated municipal
securities, high grade corporate bonds, asset-backed
securities, supranational debt obligations, federal agency
collateralized mortgage obligations (CMO), federal agency
mortgage pass through securities (MBS), money market

funds that purchase only the types of securities specified

herein, and other similar securities as may be authorized
by ordinance. The City Council has adopted an ordinance
authorizing the investment of City moneys in Resolution
Funding Corporation (REFCORP) Securities, Forward
Purchase Agreements, and Debt Service Reserve Fund
Put Agreements, all of which are either issued by a U.S.
Government Corporation or are collateralized by surety
types already authorized by the Charter. The City is not
permitted to leverage its investment portfolio.

The objectives of the City’s investment policy, in order of
priority are to maintain principal, to ensure the availability
of funds to meet obligations promptly, and to maximize
yield on the investment portfolio. Bank deposits are either
insured by federal deposit insurance or collateralized
according to state law. Investments are held at a third-party

bank in a safekeeping account in the City’s name.

LonG-TerM FINANCIAL PLANNING

The City has a six-year long-range capital planning process
and document that is updated each year and helps drive
annual capital funding decisions as well as periodic
general obligation bond issues for larger investments. For
operations, revenues are forecasted out for twenty years
to account for planned changes to existing revenues, such
as sunsetting revenues, and to project any future deficits

between revenues and expenditures.

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Government Finance Officers Association of the

United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the
City for its CAFR for the year ended December 31, 2014. The
Certificate of Achievement is a national award recognizing
conformance with the highest standards for preparation of
state and local government financial reports. To be awarded
a Certificate of Achievement, the City must publish an easily
readable and efficiently organized CAFR. This report must
satisfy both U.S. GAAP and applicable legal requirements.
This was the thirty-fifth consecutive year that the City has
received this award. A Certificate of Achievement is valid
for one year only. We believe this 2015 CAFR continues

to conform to the Certificate of Achievement program
requirements and will submit it to the GFOA to determine its

eligibility for another certificate.
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Furthermore, the GFOA has given an Award for Outstanding Achievement in Popular Annual Financial Reporting to City for its
Popular Annual Financial Report (PAFR) for the fiscal year ending on December 31, 2014. The Award for Outstanding Achievement
in Popular Annual Financial Reporting (PAFR) is a prestigious national award recognizing conformance with the highest standards
for preparation of state and local government popular reports. In order to receive this award a government unit must publish a
PAFR whose contents conform to program standards of creativity, presentation, understandability and reader appeal. This is the
third year that the City has received this award. An Award for Outstanding Achievement in Popular Annual Financial Reporting is
valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current report continues to conform to the Popular Annual Financial Reporting
requirements, and we are submitting it to GFOA.

Additionally, GFOA presented a Distinguished Budget Presentation Award to the City for its annual budget for the fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2015. In order to receive this award, a governmental unit must publish a budget document that meets
program criteria as a policy document, as an operations guide, as a financial plan, and as a communications device. This award
is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current budget continues to conform to program requirements, and we are
submitting it to GFOA to determine its eligibility for another year.

The preparation of this CAFR could not have been accomplished without the efficient and dedicated service of a highly qualified
staff in the Controller’s Office. The Cash, Risk, and Capital Funding Division and the Budget and Management Office were also
instrumental in the CAFR’s completion. Their cooperation and continued assistance is necessary and appreciated. | would like to
thank all personnel who helped and contributed to the preparation of this report. | also want to acknowledge the thorough and
professional manner in which our independent auditors, BKD, LLP, conducted their audit.

Respectfully submitted,

B~

Brendan Hanlon
Chief Financial Officer
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Dear Denver residents:

Denver is experiencing one of the most dynamic moments in our city’s
history. With an unemployment rate down to just 3.3 percent, 59,000
jobs created, and 4,250 new businesses started in the last four and a half
years, it's no wonder that U.S. News and World Report ranked Denver as
the number one place to live in the country this year. We have positioned
ourselves at the vanguard of progress and the whole world is noticing.

As we work to meet the demands of a growing city, we are investing in the
creation of hundreds of new affordable housing units by leveraging public
and private funding sources. We are expanding mobility options that

will more efficiently move people through and around major corridors,
including bike, pedestrian and multimodal safety enhancements. And
Honorable Michael B. Hancock we're helping to address the challenges faced by Denver’s homeless
Mayor population with the expansion of shelter space and the launch of a Social
Impact Bond program that will provide permanent supportive housing

and vital services to 250 chronically homeless individuals.

Thanks to voter approval, the city has begun the development of the new National Western Center complex that will host year-
round entertainment, recreation, commerce and research, and a partnership with Colorado State University that will create
thousands of new jobs and further strengthen our economy. The project will open up new access to the South Platte River and
80 acres of open space; and create greater access to public transportation. Voters also approved an historic agreement with
Adams County, which will allow Denver International Airport to attract a wider array of commercial uses within a 1,500-acre pilot
program. The agreement will help Denver remain competitive globally while positioning the region and the state for continued
economic growth and job creation that will benefit all residents.

We are transforming this city while holding dear the values of who we are. | am proud of the progress we have made together and

| am optimistic about the city’s future.

MavoRr’s CABINET AND CHIEF OF STAFF

Don Mares Brendan Hanlon

Deputy Mayor and Executive Director of Human Services Chief Financial Officer

Janice Sinden Penny May

Chief of Staff Executive Director of General Services, interim
Scott Martinez Happy Haynes

City Attorney Executive Director of Parks and Recreation
Kim Day Jose Cornejo

Executive Director of Aviation Executive Director of Public Works

Bob McDonald Stephanie O’Malley

Executive Director of Environmental Health Executive Director of Safety

Stacie Loucks Brad Buchanan

Executive Director of Excise and Licenses Executive Director of Community Planning and Development
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Timothy M. O'Brien is the Auditor for the City and County of Denver.
Mr. O'Brien was elected Auditor in May 2015. Mr. O'Brien’s term will
expire on the third Monday in July 2019.

Honorable Timothy M. O’Brien, CPA
Auditor

Mitchell R. Morrissey is the District Attorney for the Second Judicial
District. The District Attorney is a state official. He is the chief law
enforcement officer in the district and is responsible for prosecuting
all felonies, misdemeanors, and serious traffic offenses arising in the
district. Mr. Morrissey became District Attorney in January 2005; his
current term will end January 8, 2017.

Honorable Mitchell R. Morrissey
District Attorney

Debra Johnson was elected Clerk and Recorder in July 2011. Ms.
Johnson also serves as Public Trustee, City Clerk, and Ex-Officio Clerk of
the City and County of Denver. Ms. Johnson'’s term will expire on the
third Monday in July 2019.

Honorable Debra Johnson
Clerk and Recorder
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There are 13 city council members - 11 from equally populated districts and two elected at-large. Council members, who must be
25 years of age, US citizens and two-year Denver residents, are all elected at the same time every four years. All terms expire on
the third Monday in July 2019.

Honorable Christopher Herndon Honorable Robin Kniech Honorable Deborah Ortega
President Council At-Large Council At-Large
Council District 8

Honorable Rafael Espinoza Honorable Kevin Flynn Honorable Paul D. Lépez
Council District 1 Council District 2 President Pro-Tem

Council District 3

Honorable Kendra Black Honorable Mary Beth Susman Honorable Paul' Kashmann
Council District 4 Council District 5 Council District 6

Honorable Jolon Clark Honorable Albus Brooks Honorable Wayne New Honorable Stacie Gilmore
Council District 7 Council District 9 Council District 10 Council District 11



11

INTRODUCTION

CitY ORGANIZATION CHART

suspien
|ea160j007

£d1104 euen(uepy

409240

SIDINIDS
uewny

yiesH Coy

|e}USWUOIIAUT

AJINd3s puedWOoH

( [ oudbs uswdojans ( ( uo1ea.2d)
SiSpEy) pue ainjeN pue Juawabeuey ! perst SHI0M 3l |qnd kL 4
J1ueOg J9AUR(Q L Jownasniy fousbiawg J1Wouod] pue syied
{ © A
( wnasn » [ Kieiqi SIDINID 103UOW ( ( SIDINID!
W il i juspuadapu K134e8 d11gNng IS
My J9AuaQg d11gnd JaAuag ABojouyda ] [ENEDY
9431 JO 9210
e e « w
( ( 4 4
wswyedaq sjeaddy buiuoz suone|ay sjuang fepads jJuswdoeasg
1o 3uauwiIsnipy Ayunwwo) pue pue buiuue|d 2dueuly
1918\ J9AURQ 30 934J0
Jo pieog s1ybiy uewny Ajunwwo)

( ( ( ( 19puseq
uoIsSIuwo)D) 210 BuLesn $92IN0SaY $o1IY1g Slleyy s,ua1p(iyd S9SUIIT Ksuiony KD 2l|qnd [eddiuniy
9DIAIDS |IAID : : uewNH JO YO Jo pleog J0 DO pue as1ox3 : ] a1 40 w.u_to

- { - N - A - - - -

1 1 1

Lemm—qy S E _ _ _ _ "
H R —— [mm——————————————

[1Puno) Aud

19pPJ10d9Y

pue 31D

JaAua( jo ajdoay

Asulony
Joupny 10Ae |\ - 14n0) A3uno) Lo
1



12 City AND CounTY OF DENVER GOoVERNMENT FINANCE OFFICERS ASSOCIATION AWARDS

The City and County of Denver is proud to have been recognized with an award for Outstanding Achievement for
Excellence in Financial Reporting, Outstanding Achievement in Popular Annual Financial Reporting and the
Distinguished Budget Presentation Award offered by the Government Finance Officers Association of the United
States and Canada (GFOA)

OUTSTANDING ACHIEVEMENT FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA)
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City
and County of Denver for its Annual Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition for excellence in state
or local government financial reporting. The Certification of Achievement Program

was established to encourage municipal governments to publish high quality financial
reports and to provide peer recognition and technical guidance for officials preparing
these reports.

In order to be awarded a Certification of Achievement, a government unit must

publish an easily-readable and efficiently-organized annual financial report, whose
contents conform to program standards. Such reports should go beyond the minimum
requirements of generally accepted accounting principles and demonstrate an effort

to clearly communicate the municipal government’s financial picture, enhance an
understanding of financial reporting by municipal governments and address user needs.
A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only.

OuTSTANDING ACHIEVEMENT IN PoPuLAR ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORTING

The GFOA has given an Award for Outstanding Achievement in Popular Annual Financial Reporting to the City and County

of Denver for its Popular Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014. The Award for Outstanding
Achievement in popular Annual Financial Reporting is a prestigious national award recognizing conformance with the highest
standards for preparation of state and local government popular reports.

In order to receive an Award for Outstanding Achievement in Popular Annual Financial Reporting, a government unit must publish
a Popular Annual Financial Report, whose contents conform to program standards of creativity, presentation, understandability,
and reader appeal. An Award for Outstanding in Popular Annual Financial Reporting is valid for a period of one year only.

DisTiNGUISHED BUDGET PRESENTATION AWARD

The GFOA presented a Distinguised Budget Presentation Award to the City and County of Denver for its annual budget for the
fiscal year beginning January 1,2015. In order to receive this award, a governmental unit must publish a budget document that
meets program criteria as policy document, as an operations guide, as a financial plan, and as a communications device. This
award is valid for a period of one year only.

The Distinguished Budget Presentation Awards Program is specifically designed to encourage state and local governments to
prepare and issue budget documents of the highest quality. Top-quality documents are essential if citizens and others with
an interest in a government’s finances are to be fully informed participants in the budget process. Better budget documents
contribute to better decision making and enhanced accountability.

The Distinguished Budget Presentation Awards Program allows the public finance profession a welcome opportunity to recognize
those governments that have, in fact, succeeded in preparing a high quality budget document.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Audit Committee
City and County of Denver
Denver, Colorado

We have audited the accompanying basic financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City and County of Denver (the City), as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise
the City s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditor s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not
audit the financial statements of the Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority, Cherry Creek North
Business Improvement District No. 1, Downtown Denver Business Improvement District, Denver Union
Station Project Authority, and Denver Preschool Program, Inc., all of which are included as discretely
presented component units, which represent 68.94 percent of total assets and 59.78 percent of total
revenues of the aggregate discretely presented component units as of and for the year ended

December 31, 2015, respectively. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors, whose
reports have been furnished to us and our opinion on the aggregate discretely presented component units,
insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority, Cherry
Creek North Business Improvement District No. 1, Downtown Denver Business Improvement District,
Denver Union Station Project Authority, and Denver Preschool Program, Inc., is based solely on the
reports of the other auditors. Additionally, we did not audit the financial statements of the Gateway
Village General Improvement District and the Fourteenth Street General Improvement District, both of
which are included as blended component units, and the Denver Employee Retirement Plan, a fiduciary
component unit, which represent 48.44 percent of total assets and 13.64 percent of total revenues of the
aggregate remaining fund information as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, respectively.
Those financial statements were audited by other auditors, whose reports have been furnished to us and
our opinion on the aggregate remaining fund information, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for
the Gateway Village General Improvement District, the Fourteenth Street General Improvement District,
and the Denver Employee Retirement Plan, is based solely on the reports of the other auditors. We

conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Pra

Xity’:
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Audit Committee
City and County of Denver

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity s preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity s
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City and County of Denver, as of

December 31, 2015, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1.E to the financial statements, in fiscal year 2015 the City adopted new accounting
guidance, Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Pensions—an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27, as amended by Governmental
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to
the Measurement Date—an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68. Our opinions are not modified with
respect to this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management s
discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison, pension information, and other postemployment
benefit information listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not part of the basic financial statements, is required by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical context.
We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements and other
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knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The accompanying combining and individual
fund financial statements and schedules, listed in the table of contents, is presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The 2015 information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. In our opinion, the 2015 information is fairly stated in all material respects
in relation to the basic financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, as a whole.
We also have previously audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, the City’s basic financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014,
which are not presented with the accompanying financial statements. In our report dated May 28, 2015,
we expressed unmodified opinions on the respective financial statements of the governmental activities,
the business type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information. In our opinion, the general fund balance sheet as of December 31,
2014 and related statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance for the year then ended
supplementary information are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014, taken as a whole.

The introduction section and statistical section listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has not
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and
accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

BED L

Denver, Colorado
May 27, 2016
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MANAGEMENT's DiscussioN AND ANALYsIS (UNAUDITED) FINANCIAL

Management of the City and County of Denver (City) offers readers of the basic financial statements this narrative overview and
analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015. Readers are encouraged to consider the
information presented here in conjunction with additional information that is furnished in the letter of transmittal. The focus of

the information herein is on the primary government.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

« TheCity's assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows of resources at the close of the
fiscal year by $3,001,355,000 (net position). Of this amount, $248,585,000 (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the
City’s ongoing obligations.

o The City’s total net position decreased by $402,240,000, or 11.8%, over the prior year resulting from a restatement of
beginning net position due to the implementation of GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Pensions. The City’s net position prior to the GASB 68 restatement increased $363,352,000 or 10.7%.

« Asof close of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $962,419,000,
an increase of $108,213,000 from the prior year. Approximately 30.5% or $293,104,000 of the fund balance (unassigned fund
balance) is available for spending at the government'’s discretion.

o Atthe end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $293,476,000 which represents 24.9%
of total General Fund expenditures, including transfers out.

o The City’s total bonded debt decreased by $246,520,000 during the year. Decreases occurred in the general obligation bonds
and revenue bonds.

e During 2015, the City adopted Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Pensions, an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27. 2014 financial information has not been restated for adoption
of GASB 68.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements. The basic financial statements
comprise three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the

basic financial statements. In addition to the basic financial statements, also provided are required and other supplementary
information.

GoVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a

manner similar to a private-sector business.

The Statement of Net Position presents information on all of the City’s assets, liabilities, and deferred inflows/outflows of resources,
with the difference reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of

whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.

The Statement of Activities reports how the City’s net position changed during the most recent year. All changes in net position
are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus,
revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g.,

uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation and sick leave).

The governmental activities reflect the City’s basic services, including police, fire, public works, sanitation, economic development,

culture, and recreation. Sales and property taxes finance the majority of these services.

17



18

City AND CounTY OF DENVER MANAGEMENT's DiscussioN AND ANALYsIS (UNAUDITED)

The business-type activities reflect private sector-type operations, such as Wastewater Management; the Denver Airport System,
including Denver International Airport (DIA); and Golf Courses, where fees for services typically cover all or most of the cost of

operations, including depreciation.

The government-wide financial statements include not only the City itself (referred to as the primary government), but also other
legally separate entities for which the City is financially accountable. Financial information for most of these component units is
reported separately from the financial information presented for the primary government itself. A few component units, although

legally separate, function essentially as an agency of the City and, therefore, are included as an integral part of the City.

Funp FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A fund is a grouping of related accounts used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities
or objectives. The City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All
of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements. Governmental fund financial statements focus on near term inflows and outflows of
spendable resources, as well as on the balances left at year-end that are available for spending. Consequently, the governmental
fund financial statements provide a detailed short-term view that helps the reader determine whether there are more or fewer
financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the City’s programs. Because this information does not
encompass the long-term focus of the government-wide statements, additional information is provided that reconciles the
governmental fund financial statements to the government-wide statements explaining the relationship (or differences) between

them.

The City maintains 22 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental funds balance
sheet and in the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General Fund
and Human Services special revenue fund, each of which is considered to be a major fund. Data from the other 20 governmental
funds are combined into a single aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for these nonmajor governmental funds is

provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for the General Fund and Human Services special revenue fund. A budgetary
comparison schedule has been provided to demonstrate compliance with these budgets for the General Fund and Human

Services fund in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

The City maintains two different types of proprietary funds: enterprise funds and internal service funds. Enterprise funds are
used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The City
uses enterprise funds to account for its Wastewater Management, Denver Airport System, Environmental Services, and Golf Course
funds. Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the City’s various
functions. The City uses internal service funds to account for workers’ compensation self-insurance and asphalt plant operations.
The internal service funds provide services which predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions.

They have been included within governmental activities with an adjustment to reflect the consolidation for internal service fund
activities related to the enterprise funds in the government-wide financial statements. The City closed the fleet maintenance

internal service fund during 2015.

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. The
proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for Wastewater Management and the Denver Airport System,
both of which are considered to be major funds of the City. Data for the other two enterprise funds and all of the internal service
funds are combined into their respective single aggregated presentations. Individual fund data for the nonmajor enterprise funds

and all of the internal service funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.

The City uses fiduciary funds to account for assets held on behalf of outside parties, including other governments. When these
assets are held under the terms of a formal trust agreement, a private-purpose trust fund is used.



MANAGEMENT's DiscussioN AND ANALYsIS (UNAUDITED) FINANCIAL

Agency funds generally are used to account for assets that the City holds on behalf of others as their agent. Pension trust funds
account for the assets of the City’s employee retirement plans.

Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of those funds are not

available to support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds.

The notes to basic financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Other information in addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes is presented in the form of certain
required supplementary information concerning the City’s budgetary comparison schedules and the implicit rate subsidy on
other postemployment benefits.

The combining statements supplementary information referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor funds, internal service
funds, and nonmajor component units are presented immediately following the budgetary comparison required supplementary

information.

GoveERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position. In the case of the City,
assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by $3,001,355,000 at the close of the most recent fiscal year.

A portion of the City’s net position, $248,585,000, is unrestricted and may be used to meet the City’s ongoing financial obligations.
This portion represents resources that are not restricted by external requirements nor invested in capital assets.

Net position of $1,427,424,000 (47.6%) reflects investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, infrastructure, machinery, and
equipment) less any related debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to provide
services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the City’s investment in its capital
assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from

other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

Net positions of the City also include $1,325,346,000 (44.2%) of restricted net position. These are resources subject to external

restrictions as to how they may be used by the City.

Table 1 reflects the City’s net position (dollars in thousands) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014:

Table 1

Governmental Business-type Total

Activities Activities Primary Government

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Current and other assets S 1,609,825 S 1,431,952 S 1,976,667 S 2,152,571 S 3,586,492 $ 3,584,523
Capital assets 2,865,329 2,852,516 4,079,540 3,927,196 6,944,869 6,779,712
Total assets 4,475,154 4,284,468 6,056,207 6,079,767 10,531,361 10,364,235
Deferred outflows 190,041 49,134 214,661 217,751 404,702 266,885
Noncurrent liabilities 2,492,483 1,715,368 183,652 4,532,566 2,676,135 6,247,934
Other liabilities 118,169 186,631 4,737,334 441,354 4,855,503 627,985
Total liabilities 2,610,652 1,901,999 4,920,986 4,973,920 7,531,638 6,875,919
Deferred inflows 399,896 348,514 3,174 3,092 403,070 351,606
Net position
Net investment in capital assets 1,509,354 1,420,817 (81,930) (193,351) 1,427,424 1,227,466
Restricted 649,483 524,017 675,863 667,801 1,325,346 1,191,818
Unrestricted (504,190) 138,255 752,775 846,056 248,585 984,311

Total net position $ 1,654,647 $ 2,083,089 $ 1,346,708 $ 1,320,506 $ 3,001,355 $ 3,403,595
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Table 2 reflects the City’s changes in net position (dollars in thousands) for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014:

Table 2
Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities Primary Government
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Revenues
Program revenues:
Charges for services $ 402,760 S 366,736 S 946,142 $ 852,923 $ 1,348,902 $ 1,219,659
Operating grants and contributions 180,537 187,247 19,220 121,690 199,757 308,937
Capital grants and contributions 38,298 54,479 30,047 28,912 68,345 83,391
General revenues:
Facilities development admissions tax 12,569 9,262 - - 12,569 9,262
Lodgers tax 82,376 75,579 - - 82,376 75,579
Motor vehicle ownership fee 26,647 23,944 - - 26,647 23,944
Occupational privilege tax 48,293 46,438 - - 48,293 46,438
Property tax 349,176 347,079 - - 349,176 347,079
Sales and use tax 638,276 615,735 - - 638,276 615,735
Specific ownership tax 232 213 - - 232 213
Telephone tax 10,628 10,148 - - 10,628 10,148
Investment income 15,503 14,928 41,593 45,205 57,096 60,133
Other revenues 48,550 25,511 13,666 2,225 62,216 27,736
Total revenues 1,853,845 1,777,299 1,050,668 1,050,955 2,904,513 2,828,254
Expenses
General government 340,401 319,464 - - 340,401 319,464
Public safety 588,597 592,270 = - 588,597 592,270
Public works 190,577 193,207 = - 190,577 193,207
Human services 125,195 114,727 = - 125,195 114,727
Health 64,687 59,216 = - 64,687 59,216
Parks and recreation 68,650 80,199 - - 68,650 80,199
Cultural activities 131,835 128,799 - - 131,835 128,799
Community development 45,355 39,598 - - 45,355 39,598
Economic opportunity 20,027 21,091 - - 20,027 21,091
Interest on long-term debt 63,267 66,306 - - 63,267 66,306
Wastewater management = - 111,941 102,688 111,941 102,688
Denver airport system - - 769,896 773,345 769,896 773,345
Other enterprise funds - - 20,733 20,428 20,733 20,428
Total expenses 1,638,591 1,614,877 902,570 896,461 2,541,161 2,511,338
Change in net position before transfers 215,254 162,422 148,098 154,494 363,352 316,916
Transfers 2,275 575 (2,275) (575) - -
Transfers of Capital Assets - (10,066) - 10,066 - -
Change in net position 217,529 152,931 145,823 163,985 363,352 316,916
Net position (deficit) - January 1, as previously reported 2,083,089 1,930,158 1,320,506 1,156,521 3,403,595 3,086,679
Change in accounting position - GASB 68 (645,971) - (119,621) - (765,592) -
Net position (deficit) - January 1, as restated 1,437,118 1,930,158 1,200,885 1,156,521 2,638,003 1,156,521
Net position - December 31 $ 1,654,647 $ 2,083,089 $ 1,346,708 $ 1,320,506 $ 3,001,355 $ 3,403,595

Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $217,529,000 for the year ended December 31, 2015. Key elements of

the increase are as follows:

«  Property tax and sales and use taxes totaled 84.5% of all tax revenues and 53.3% of all governmental activities' revenues.
Property tax recorded in the governmental funds totaled $349,176,000 for an increase of $2,097,000 (0.6%) while sales
and use tax revenues of $638,276,000 were up $22,541,000 (3.7%) compared to 2014, reflecting stable growth in the 2015

economy.

« Total expenses increased by $23,714,000 (1.5%) primarily due to an increase in costs for goods and services.

General government expenses in 2015 were $340,401,000 (20.8%) of total expenses. Public safety expenses were $588,597,000
(35.9%) of total expenses. Public works’ expenses were $190,577,000 (11.6%) of total expenses. Cultural activities were
$131,835,000 (8.0%) of total expenses. Human services’expenses were $125,195,000 (7.6%) of total expenses. The remainder
of the governmental activities expenses is comprised of health with $64,687,000 (4.0%), parks and recreation with $68,650,000
(4.2%), community development with $45,355,000 (2.8%), economic opportunity with $20,027,000 (1.2%), and interest on long-
term debt of $63,267,000 (3.9%).
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Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities
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Business-type activities increased the City’s net position by $145,823,000. Key elements of this modest increase are as follows:

o Total revenues of $1,050,668,000 were $287,000 (.03%) lower compared to prior year amounts. This was primarily due to the
stabilized rates for landing fees, facility rent revenues, and parking and car rental revenues at the Denver Airport System and
no rate increases for the sanitary and storm fees at Wastewater Management.

o Total expenses of $902,570,000 increased by $6,109,000 (.7%) when compared to the prior year. Wastewater Management
expenses in 2015 totaled $111,941,000 (12.4%) of total business-type activities. Denver Airport System expenses totaled
$769,896,000 (85.3%) of business-type activities. The remaining $20,733,000 (2.3%) of expenses in business-type activities
were related to Environmental Services and Golf activities.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT'S FUNDS

As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.

GOVERNMENTAL FunDs

The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on current year revenues, expenditures, and balances
of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s near-term financing requirements. In particular,

unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the

fiscal year.

Expenses and Program Revenues - Business-Type Activities

dollars in thousands
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As of December 31, 2015, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $962,419,000 an increase
of $108,213,000 in comparison with the prior year. Approximately 30.5% or $293,104,000 of the total fund balance amount
constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is available for spending at the City’s discretion.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City. As of December 31, 2015, unassigned fund balance of the General Fund
was $293,476,000 while total fund balance was $394,200,000. As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to
compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents
24.9% of total General Fund expenditures, including transfers out, of $1,176,320,000, while total fund balance represents 33.5% of
the same amount.

The total fund balance of the City’s General Fund increased by $30,184,000 (8.3%) during the year ended December 31, 2015. This
is a result of recovering revenues following the economic downturn and cost savings measures implemented to reduce overall

expenditures.

Almost every revenue source increased slightly in 2015 due to a recovery of the economy. Total General Fund revenues including
transfers in, totaled $1,205,732,000, an increase of $81,210,000 or 7.2%. Certain revenues in the General Fund that increased from
2014 to 2015 include:

e Sales and use taxes earned were higher by $26,494,000. This increase is primarily attributable to the continuing expansion of
the economy and retail marijuana sales tax collections related to the implementation of Amendment 64.

« Lodgers taxes were higher by $2,010,000 largely as a result of an increased amount of conventions and conferences hosted
within Denver.

«  Motor Vehicle ownership revenue increased by $2,703,000 as a result of an increase in vehicle registrations.
o Property taxes were lower by $4,922,000 due in part to a decrease in the abatement/refund mill levy.

o Licenses and permits revenues increased by $11,484,000 largely due to an increase in construction activity as well as a higher

number of street occupancy permits issued over the previous year.

e Charges for services increased by $20,526,000. Factors contributing to this increase include additional revenue
reimbursement from enterprise funds, growth in plan review revenue associated with improvements in local construction

activities, and various other fee increases.

The national and local economies continued to recover in 2015 following the recession of 2009. The City continued to monitor
2015 expenditures. Total General Fund expenditures, including transfers out, increased by $109,440,000, or 10.3%. The primary

drivers of this increase are personnel cost increases and transfers out.

The Human Services special revenue fund had a total fund balance of $58,704,000. This amounts to a net increase in fund balance
of $3,511,000 during the current year. The underlying reasons for the change include increased cash and decreased liabilities at

year-end when compared to 2014 due to increased property tax revenue resulting from an improving economy.

ProPRIETARY FUNDS

The City's proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-wide financial statements, but in

more detail.

Total net position of Wastewater Management was $584,224,000 and for the Denver Airport System net position was
$725,453,000. Net position for all enterprise funds increased $145,823,000. Other significant factors concerning the finances of
the enterprise funds can be found in the discussion of the City’s business-type activities.
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GENERAL FuND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

Differences between the General Fund original budget and the final amended budget include a revision to both the projected

revenues and expenditures.

Original revenue estimates for 2015, prepared in the summer of 2014, assumed moderate growth in the local and national
economies. Sales and use tax revenue was originally projected to grow by 6.0% over the 2014 revised forecast and total General
Fund revenue was projected to increase by 4.8% over 2014 revised figures. In the summer of 2015, the original General Fund
revenue forecast, including transfers in, was revised upward by $31,777,000 or 2.7% over original projections. Major factors
contributing to this upward adjustment include:

« The sales and use tax estimate was revised upward by $9.3 million or 1.6% due largely to the economy expanding more
rapidly than originally anticipated.

« Lodgers tax, occupational privilege tax and motor vehicle ownership tax were revised upward by a combined $4.3 million or

4.7% based on strong mid-year actual collections.

« Licenses and permitting revenue projections were revised upward by $7,636,000 or 19.9%. This increase was largely driven by

upward adjustments to the revenue projections for street occupancy permits and construction/excavation permits.

«  Charges for services revenue was revised upward by $2.6 million or 18.6% due largely to an increase in the City’s charges to

local governments for fire protective services.

« Transfer revenue was revised upward by $3 million or 6% to account for additional Convention Center excise tax revenue less
a decrease in the Convention Center Hotel special revenue fund transfer to the General Fund.

Differences between the final amended budget and actual revenues and expenditures are briefly summarized in the following
paragraph.

In 2015, actual General Fund revenues, including transfers in, were approximately $10.4 million or 0.9% higher than the revised
budget for 2015. General Fund budget basis expenditures were approximately $54,606,000 less than the revised 2015 budget.
This is due to achieving unspent appropriations, due in large part to compensation savings and lower use of contingency funds in
2015.

CapPiTAL AsseTs AND BONDED DeBT ADMINISTRATION

CaPITAL ASSETS

The City’s capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of December 31, 2015, were $6,944,869,000 (net

of accumulated depreciation). This investment in capital assets includes land and land rights, collections, buildings and
improvements, equipment and other, park facilities, and, for governmental activities, infrastructure (including streets, alleys, traffic
signals, bridges, fiber optic cable, and trails). Infrastructure-type assets of business-type activities are reported as buildings and
improvements. The City’s capital assets by type at December 31, 2015 and 2014 are shown in Table 3 (dollars in thousands):
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Table 3
Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities Primary Government

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Land and construction in progress S 362,244 S 339,501 $ 879,154 $ 1,010412 $ 1,241,398 $ 1,349,913
Buildings and Improvements 2,398,875 2,359,329 5,588,031 5,178,909 7,986,906 7,538,238
Equipment and other 320,967 329,002 837,895 792,298 1,158,862 1,121,300
Collections 42,300 46,661 - - 42,300 46,661
Intangibles 35,035 - - - 35,035 -
Infrastructure 1,536,665 1,506,179 - - 1,536,665 1,506,179
Less accumulated depreciation (1,830,757) (1,728,156) (3,225,540) (3,054,423) (5,056,297) (4,782,579)
Total $ 2,865,329 $ 2,852,516 $ 4,079,540 $ 3,927,196 $ 6,944,869 $ 6,779,712

Major capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2015 included the following:

»  Governmental Activities — The West Denver New Branch Library project was placed in service in 2015 as part of the Better

Denver Bond projects.

«  Business-type Activities - Wastewater completed approximately $16,400,000 in Wastewater funded projects and the received
approximately $7,600,000 in donated capital assets. The Denver Airport System completed the construction of the hotel.

Additional information on the City’s capital asset activity for the year can be found in Note IlI-D in the notes to basic financial

statements.

Bonpep Dest
At December 31, 2015, the City had total bonded indebtedness of $5,143,211,000. Of this amount,

$815,676,000 comprises debt backed by the full faith and credit of the City. The remainder of the City’s debt, $4,327,535,000
represents bonds and commercial paper notes secured by specified revenue sources (i.e., revenue bonds of the Denver Airport
System, Wastewater Management, and excise tax revenue bonds). The City has no outstanding commercial paper notes as of

December 31, 2015.

As of December 31, 2015, the City’s general obligation debt is rated AAA by Standard & Poor’s rating agency, Fitch Ratings, and

Moody’s Investors Service.

Outstanding bonded debt at December 31, 2015, and 2014, is reflected in Table 4 (dollars in thousands):

Table 4
Governmental Business-type Total
Activities Activities Primary Government
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
General obligation bonds $ 815676 $ 867,646 S - 3 -8 815676 $ 867,646
Revenue bonds 171,365 191,150 4,156,170 4,330,935 4,327,535 4,522,085
Total $ 987,041 $ 1,058,796 $ 4,156,170 $ 4,330,935 $ 5,143,211 $ 5,389,731

Additional information on the City’s bonded debt for the year can be found in Note IlI-G in the notes to the basic financial

statements.
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Economic FAcTors AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET

The original 2016 budget assumes moderate growth in the local economy. The 2016 General Fund original revenues, including
transfers in, are projected to be $1,212,098,000, which is an increase of 7.8% from actual 2015 revenues. It is anticipated that 2016
revenues will be revised upward to reflect better than expected performance in 2015 and the early part of 2016. Measures have
been taken to have expenditures be in line with anticipated revenues.

Itis anticipated that fund balance will increase during 2016 and the City remains committed to growing General Fund reserves.

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all those with an interest in the
government’s finances. Questions concerning the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial
information should be addressed to the Controller’s Office, 201 West Colfax Avenue, Department 1109, Denver, CO 80202. The

report is available online at www.denvergov.org/finance.


www.denvergov.org/finance

Basic Financial







FINANCIAL 27

Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Primary Government

Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
Assets
Cash on hand 8,552 $ - $ 8,552 $ -
Cash and cash equivalents 820,464 55,757 876,221 35,289
Investments - 874,998 874,998 -
Receivables (net of allowances):
Taxes 475,801 - 475,801 123,688
Notes 61,448 - 61,448 -
Accounts 30,131 56,290 86,421 3,481
Accrued interest 4,213 7,338 11,551 71
Other - - - 11,200
Due from other governments 31,149 - 31,149 -
Internal balances 3,744 (3,744) - -
Inventories 81 9,802 9,883 -
Prepaid items and other assets 8,108 1,815 9,923 1,467
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 70,177 55,287 125,464 159,031
Investments - 839,410 839,410 74,623
Accounts receivable - 9,656 9,656 -
Accrued interest receivable - 1,123 1,123 -
Other receivables - 2,116 2,116 -
Prepaid items - 4,920 4,920 -
Pension asset 44,591 - 44,591 -
Long-term receivables (net of allowances) 50,078 10,409 60,487 151,263
Denver Water CIS (net of amortization) - 2,144 2,144 -
Prepaid expense - 3,064 3,064 -
Prepaid bond insurance and other assets 558 - 558 6,123
Interest rate swaps - 46,282 46,282 -
Assets held for disposition 730 - 730 -
Capital assets:
Land and construction in progress 362,244 879,154 1,241,398 23,625
Buildings, improvements, infrastructure, collections, 2,503,085 3,200,386 5,703,471 208,465
and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation
Total Assets 4,475,154 6,056,207 10,531,361 798,326
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives 34,319 28,023 62,342 -
Deferred amount on refundings 12,675 161,169 173,844 27,146
Items related to pension plans 143,047 25,469 168,516 -
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 190,041 214,661 404,702 27,146
Liabilities
Vouchers payable 74,595 64,039 138,634 9,223
Accrued liabilities 37,169 56,123 93,292 43,942
Unearned revenue 11,728 44,937 56,665 6
Interest rate swaps 38,828 196,761 235,589 -
Advances 6,170 - 6,170 3,285
Due to taxing unit 631 - 631 -
Due to other governments - 4,499 4,499 16,309
Liabilities payable from restricted assets - 77,735 77,735 -
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year 118,169 183,652 301,821 29,939
Due in more than one year 2,323,362 4,293,240 6,616,602 959,039
Total Liabilities 2,610,652 4,920,986 7,531,638 1,061,743
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property taxes 398,816 - 398,816 99,605
Items related to pension plans 1,080 525 1,605 -
Deferred gain on refunding of debt - 2,649 2,649 -
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 399,896 3,174 403,070 99,605
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 1,509,354 (81,930) 1,427,424 (113,833)
Restricted for:
Capital projects and grants 441,967 39,333 481,300 99,848
Emergency use 45,364 - 45,364 281
Debt service 95,291 636,530 731,821 62,455
Pension 44,591 - 44,591 -
Donor and other restrictions:
Expendable 10,432 - 10,432 4,872
Nonexpendable 3,000 - 3,000 -
Other purposes 8,838 - 8,838 -
Unrestricted (deficit) (504,190) 752,775 248,585 (389,499)
Total Net Position (Deficit) 1,654,647 $ 1,346,708 $ 3,001,355 $ (335,876)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.




City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Program Revenues

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and
Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Primary Government
Governmental Activities:
General government $ 340,401 $ 99,302 $ 37,017 $ 2,253
Public safety 588,597 93,230 26,914 2,651
Public works 190,577 77,308 20,825 9,701
Human services 125,195 502 73,768 -
Health 64,687 2,095 10,848 -
Parks and recreation 68,650 11,206 766 12,115
Cultural activities 131,835 66,736 1,828 -
Community development 45,355 41,312 7 11,578
Economic opportunity 20,027 11,069 8,564 -
Interest on long-term debt 63,267 - - -
Total Governmental Activities 1,638,591 402,760 180,537 38,298
Business-type Activities:
Wastewater management 111,941 126,260 - 9,564
Denver airport system 769,896 793,543 19,220 20,483
Environmental services 9,967 15,796 - -
Golf course 10,766 10,543 - -
Total Business-type Activities 902,570 946,142 19,220 30,047
Total Primary Government $ 2,541,161 $ 1,348,902 $ 199,757 $ 68,345
Component Units $ 240,914 $ 93,435 $ 6,017 $ -
General revenues:
Taxes:
Facilities development admissions
Lodgers

Motor vehicle ownership fee
Occupational privilege
Property
Sales and use
Specific ownership
Telephone
Investment and interest income
Other revenues
Transfers
Total General Revenues and Transfers
Change in net position
Net position (deficit) - January 1, as previously reported
Adoption of accounting principle - GASB 68
Correction of an error
Net position (deficit) - January 1, as restated

Net Position (Deficit) - December 31

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Net (Expense) Revenue and
Changes in Net Assets

Primary Government
Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
(201,829) $ - $ (201,829)
(465,802) - (465,802)
(82,743) - (82,743)
(50,925) - (50,925)
(51,744) - (51,744)
(44,563) - (44,563)
(63,271) - (63,271)
7,542 - 7,542
(394) - (394)
(63,267) - (63,267)
(1,016,996) - (1,016,996)
- 23,883 23,883
- 63,350 63,350
- 5,829 5,829
- (223) (223)
- 92,839 92,839
(1,016,996) 92,839 (924,157)
S (141,462)
12,569 - 12,569 -
82,376 - 82,376 2,742
26,647 - 26,647 -
48,293 - 48,293 -
349,176 - 349,176 80,402
638,276 - 638,276 27,452
232 - 232 244
10,628 - 10,628 -
15,503 41,593 57,096 9,368
48,550 13,666 62,216 35,655
2,275 (2,275) - -
1,234,525 52,984 1,287,509 155,863
217,529 145,823 363,352 14,401
2,083,089 1,320,506 3,403,595 (354,244)
(645,971) (119,621) (765,592) -
- - - 3,967
1,437,118 1,200,885 2,638,003 (354,244)
1,654,647 S 1,346,708 S 3,001,355 S (335,876)
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Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Other Total
Human Governmental Governmental
General Services Funds Funds
Assets
Cash on hand $ 117 $ 169 $ 8,266 $ 8,552
Cash and cash equivalents 273,039 54,679 451,238 778,956
Receivables (net of allowances of $147,839)

Taxes 185,474 64,922 225,405 475,801

Notes 430 - 61,018 61,448

Accounts 21,999 11,487 45,376 78,862

Accrued interest 1,973 - 1,844 3,817
Interfund receivable 12,436 - 1,330 13,766
Due from other governments - 1,961 29,188 31,149
Prepaid items and other assets 2,890 - 5,218 8,108
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 65,283 - 4,894 70,177
Assets held for disposition - - 730 730
Total Assets $ 563,641 $ 133,218 $ 834,507 $ 1,531,366
Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Vouchers payable $ 19,240 $ 5,436 $ 48,929 $ 73,605

Accrued liabilities 15,882 980 475 17,337

Due to taxing units 556 - 75 631

Interfund payable 36 2,460 5,472 7,968

Unearned revenue 1,133 272 10,323 11,728

Advances 25 156 7,989 8,170

Compensated absences - - 53 53
Total Liabilities 36,872 9,304 73,316 119,492
Deferred Inflows of Resources:

Unavailable revenues - property tax 118,702 65,210 215,465 399,377

Unavailable revenues - long-term receivables 13,867 - 36,211 50,078
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 132,569 65,210 251,676 449,455
Fund Balances:

Nonspendable 2,890 - 8,218 11,108

Restricted 65,713 58,704 469,367 593,784

Committed 32,121 - 2,262 34,383

Assigned - - 30,040 30,040

Unassigned 293,476 - (372) 293,104
Total Fund Balances 394,200 58,704 509,515 962,419
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows

of Resources, and Fund Balances $ 563,641 $ 133,218 $ 834,507 $ 1,531,366

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds to the Statement of

Net Position
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Total fund balance-governmental funds.

Capital assets used in governmental activities, excluding internal service funds of $215 are
not financial resources, and therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Accrued interest payable not included in the funds.
Pension asset

Deferred inflow of resources related to property taxes, long-term receivables, and pensions are
not available to pay for current-period expenditures, and therefore, are not recorded
in the funds.

Deferred outflow of resources are not financial resources, and therefore are not reported
in the funds and include:
Accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives
Loss on refunding
Pensions

Interest rate swap liability.

Prepaid bond insurance, net of accumulated amortization.

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the cost of these funds to their
primary users-governmental funds. The assets and liabilities of the internal service
funds are included in governmental activities in the statement of net position.

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current
period and therefore are not reported in the governmental funds (this excludes

internal service liabilities of $29,775).

Net position of governmental activities

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

$ 962,419

2,865,114

(19,751)
44,591

49,559

34,319
12,675
143,047
(38,828)
558

12,700

(2,411,756)

$ 1,654,647
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -

Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Other Total
Human Governmental Governmental
General Services Funds Funds
Revenues
Taxes:
Facilities development admission - $ - $ 12,569 $ 12,569
Lodgers 23,072 - 59,304 82,376
Motor vehicle ownership fee 26,647 - - 26,647
Occupational privilege 48,293 - - 48,293
Property 107,198 58,057 183,921 349,176
Sales and use 581,922 - 58,329 640,251
Specific ownership - - 232 232
Telephone 2,692 - 7,936 10,628
Special assessments - - 1,575 1,575
Licenses and permits 59,909 - 1,621 61,530
Intergovernmental revenues 33,240 73,492 106,911 213,643
Charges for services 189,573 502 75,030 265,105
Investment and interest income 7,388 - 7,610 14,998
Fines and forfeitures 52,989 - 551 53,540
Contributions 107 276 4,274 4,657
Other revenue 16,336 574 48,193 65,103
Total Revenues 1,149,366 132,901 568,056 1,850,323
Expenditures
Current:
General government 230,258 - 101,766 332,024
Public safety 518,800 - 88,277 607,077
Public works 121,516 - 70,946 192,462
Health 49,301 - 14,735 64,036
Human services - 123,095 - 123,095
Parks and recreation 57,914 - 15,308 73,222
Cultural activities 44,213 - 66,214 110,427
Community development 21,515 - 23,276 44,791
Economic opportunity 601 - 19,212 19,813
Debt service:
Principal retirement 4,998 4,051 95,618 104,667
Interest 997 750 62,875 64,622
Bond issuance costs - - 491 491
Capital outlay - - 35,194 35,194
Total Expenditures 1,050,113 127,896 593,912 1,771,921
Excess (deficiency) of revenues 99,253 5,005 (25,856) 78,402
over (under) expenditures
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of capital assets 2 - 294 296
Issuance of certificate of participation - - 22,470 22,470
Issuance of capital leases 485 - - 485
Bond premium - 1,422 1,422
Insurance recoveries 285 6 975 1,266
Transfers in 56,366 75 149,986 206,427
Transfers out (126,207) (1,575) (74,773) (202,555)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (69,069) (1,494) 100,374 29,811
Net change in fund balances 30,184 3,511 74,518 108,213
Fund balances - January 1 364,016 55,193 434,997 854,206
Fund Balances - December 31 394,200 S 58,704 S 509,515 S 962,419

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balances - Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of
activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and
reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlay exceeded
depreciation expense in the current period:

Capital outlay, including sale of assets
Depreciation expense (excluding internal service)

Certain revenues are recorded in the funds under modified accrual but not considered revenue
in the statement of activities.

The issuance of long-term debt and other obligations (e.g., bonds, certificates of participation,
and capital leases) provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while the
repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of

governmental funds. Neither transaction, however has any effect on change in net position.

Also, governmental funds report the effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items when
debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are amortized in the statement of activities.
These differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items consist of:

Certificates of Participation issued

Capital lease obligations

Principal retirement on bonds

Premium, discounts, and deferred gain (loss) on refunding

Capital lease principal payments

Principal payments on note payable

Principal payments on intergovernmental agreement

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds:
Compensated absences (excluding internal service)
Accrued interest payable
Legal liability
Net OPEB obligation
Amortization of imputed debt-swap
Portion of pension expense that do not require current financial resources

Internal service funds are used by management to charge their cost to individual funds. The net
expense of certain activities of internal service funds is reported within governmental
activities.

Change in net position of governmental activities

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

108,213

175,224
(162,782)

(4,863)

(22,470)
(485)
72,160
3,822
25,891
6,025
591

(5,079)
1,355
1,198

(2,491)

505

22,560

(1,845)

$ 217,529
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Wastewater Denver
Management Airport System
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents S 4,798 29,530
Investments 4,799 35,334
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles of $563):
Accounts 14,290 39,780
Accrued interest 391 6,815
Inventories - 9,629
Interfund receivable 373 61
Prepaid items and other assets 493 1,322
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents - 48,957
Investments 515 37,024
Accounts receivable - 9,155
Accrued interest receivable - 1,100
Other receivables - 2,116
Prepaid items - 4,920
Total Current Assets 25,659 225,743
Noncurrent assets:
Investments - restricted 8,315 793,556
Investments - unrestricted 77,527 757,338
Capital assets:
Land and construction in progress 24,188 850,667
Buildings and improvements 16,736 2,315,457
Improvements other than buildings 803,609 2,422,915
Machinery and equipment 17,777 814,248
Accumulated depreciation (284,169) (2,920,389)
Net capital assets 578,141 3,482,898
Long-term receivables (net of allowances) - 10,409
CIS net 2,144 -
Prepaid expense and other - 3,064
Interest rate swaps - 46,282
Total Noncurrent Assets 666,127 5,093,547
Total Assets 691,786 5,319,290
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives - 28,023
Deferred amount on refundings 570 160,599
Items related to pension plans 3,279 20,809
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 3,849 209,431

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.




Governmental
Activities
Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds
21,429 55,757 41,508
- 40,133 -
2,220 56,290 1,347
132 7,338 396
173 9,802 81
3 437 32
- 1,815 -
6,330 55,287 -
- 37,539 -
501 9,656 -
23 1,123 -
- 2,116 -
- 4,920 -
30,811 282,213 43,364
- 801,871 -
- 834,865 -
4,299 879,154 -
13,479 2,345,672 3,627
15,835 3,242,359
5,870 837,895 1,642
(20,982) (3,225,540) (5,054)
18,501 4,079,540 215
2,000 12,409 -
- 2,144 -
- 3,064 -
- 46,282 -
20,501 5,780,175 215
51,312 6,062,388 43,579
- 28,023 -
- 161,169 -
1,381 25,469 -
1,381 214,661 -

continued
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds, continued

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Wastewater Denver
Management Airport System
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Vouchers payable $ 1,728 56,644
Revenue bonds payable 2,850 -
Accrued liabilities 576 55,307
Unearned revenue 18,348 26,158
Interfund payable 564 5,497
Advances - -
Capital lease obligations 579 -
Compensated absences 883 2,337
Claims reserve - -
Construction payable 4,781 -
Due to other governments 4,499 -
Current liabilities (payable from restricted assets):
Vouchers payable - 23,479
Retainages payable - 20,665
Notes payable - 4,893
Accrued interest and other liabilities - 24,496
Other accrued liabilities - 9,095
Revenue bonds payable - 170,550
Total Current Liabilities 34,808 399,121
Noncurrent liabilities:
Interest rate swaps - 196,761
Notes payable - 12,184
Revenue bonds payable, net 42,473 4,070,819
Net pension liability 25,079 115,000
Capital lease obligations 6,278 -
Compensated absences 2,248 6,734
Claims reserve - -
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 76,078 4,401,498
Total Liabilities 110,886 4,800,619
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Items related to pension plans 525 -
Deferred gain on refunding of debt - 2,649
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 525 2,649
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 530,011 (626,147)
Restricted for:
Capital projects - 32,479
Debt service - 636,530
Unrestricted 54,213 682,591
Total Net Position $ 584,224 725,453

Adjustment to reflect consolidation of internal service fund activities

related to enterprise funds

Net position of business-type activities

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Activities
Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds
886 59,258 990
540 3,390 -
240 56,123 28
431 44,937 -

73 6,134 133

614 1,193 -
406 3,626 225

- - 9,808

- 4,781 -

- 4,499 -

- 23,479 -

- 20,665 -

- 4,893 -

- 24,496 -

- 9,095 -

- 170,550 -

3,190 437,119 11,184
- 196,761 -

- 12,184 -

2,433 4,115,725 -
8,465 148,544 B
708 6,986 -
819 9,801 101

- - 19,641
12,425 4,490,001 19,742
15,615 4,927,120 30,926
- 525 -

- 2,649 -

- 3,174 -
14,206 (81,930) 215
6,854 39,333 -

- 636,530 -
16,018 752,822 12,438
37,078 1,346,755 12,653

(47)

1,346,708

FINANCIAL



38

City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position - Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Wastewater Denver
Management Airport System
Operating Revenues
Charges for services $ 126,260 $ 687,536
Other revenue - -
Change in claims reserve - -
Total Operating Revenues 126,260 687,536
Operating Expenses
Personnel services 22,532 148,518
Contractual services 20,053 197,459
Supplies and materials 1,805 88,269
Depreciation and amortization 18,067 163,714
District water treatment charges 48,873 -
Claims payments - -
Other operating expenses - 2,557
Total Operating Expenses 111,330 600,517
Operating income (loss) 14,930 87,019
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment and interest income 706 40,648
Passenger facility charges - 106,007
Customer facility fee - 18,598
Intergovernmental revenue 827 -
Disposition of assets 195 -
Grants - 622
Interest expense (669) (169,413)
Other revenue - 12,644
Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 1,059 9,106
Income (loss) before capital grants, contributions, and transfers 15,989 96,125
Capital grants and contributions 9,564 20,483
Transfers out (25) -
Change in net position 25,528 116,608
Net position - January 1, as previously reported 580,875 699,412
Adoption of accounting principle - GASB 68 (22,179) (90,567)
Net position - January 1, as restated 558,696 608,845
Net Position - December 31 $ 584,224 $ 725,453

Change in net position of enterprise funds

Adjustment to reflect consolidation of internal service fund activities

related to enterprise funds
Change in net position of business-type activities

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.




Governmental

Activities

Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds
21,069 834,865 17,004
5,270 5,270 2,646

- - 2,022

26,339 840,135 21,672
9,972 181,022 2,139
4,924 222,436 617
1,283 91,357 8,074
1,145 182,926 167

- 48,873 -

- - 9,592

3,231 5,788 8,006
20,555 732,402 28,595
5,784 107,733 (6,923)
239 41,593 415

- 106,007 -

- 18,598 -

- 827 -

- 195 -

- 622 -

(185) (170,267) -

- 12,644 -

54 10,219 415
5,838 117,952 (6,508)
30,047 -
(2,250) (2,275) (1,597)
3,588 145,724 (8,105)
40,365 1,320,652 -
(6,875) (119,621) -
33,490 1,201,031 20,758
37,078 1,346,755 12,653

145,724
99

145,823
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Wastewater Denver
Management Airport System

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from customers $ 126,313 695,296
Payments to suppliers (59,734) (240,191)
Payments to employees (23,019) (128,002)
Other receipts - -
Interfund activity (8,951) (33,678)
Claims paid - -
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities 34,609 293,425
Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Operating grants received - 439
Transfers out (25) -
Net Cash Provided (Used) By Noncapital Financing Activities (25) 439
Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of debt - 1,846
Bond issue costs - (465)
Gain/Loss on asset disposal - -
Principal payments (3,277) (157,082)
Interest payments (1,815) (214,190)
Passenger facility charges - 105,238
Car rental customer facility charges - 18,626
Payments on capital assets acquired through construction payables (2,931) (50,702)
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (14,535) (216,407)
Payments to escrow for current refunding of debt - (20,870)
Reimbursement from City for capital asset costs and proceeds from sale of assets 195 904
Contributions and advances 1,924 28,966
Intergovernmental revenues 827 -
Other receipts - -
Net Cash Used in Capital and Related Financing Activities (19,612) (504,136)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of investments (147,561) (1,946,362)
Proceeds from sale of investments 134,404 2,126,202
Sale of assets held for disposition; payments to maintain assets held - 9,458
Insurance proceeds from remediation of asset held for disposition - 302
Interest received 713 24,806
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities (12,444) 214,406
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,528 4,134
Cash and cash equivalents - January 1 2,270 74,353
Cash and Cash Equivalents - December 31 $ 4,798 78,487

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Governmental

Activities

Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds
23,094 844,703 20,386
(9,943) (309,868) (16,937)
(10,076) (161,097) (3,337)
5,270 5,270 2,646

- (42,629) -

- - (9,592)
8,345 336,379 (6,834)
- 439 -
(2,250) (2,275) (1,597)
(2,250) (1,836) (1,597)
- 1,846 -

- (465) -

152 152 -
(1,119) (161,478) -
(182) (216,187) -

- 105,238 -

- 18,626 -

- (53,633) -
(545) (231,487) -

- (20,870) -

- 1,099 -

- 30,890 -

- 827 -

R - 4,368
(1,694) (525,442) 4,368
- (2,093,923) -

- 2,260,606 -

- 9,458 -

- 302 -

212 25,731 392
212 202,174 392
4,613 11,275 (3,671)
23,146 99,769 45,179
27,759 111,044 41,508

continued
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds, continued

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds

Wastewater Denver
Management Airport System
Reconciliation of Operating Income (loss) to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Operating income (loss) S 14,929 S 87,019
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 18,067 163,714
Miscellaneous revenue - 6,243
Accounts receivable, net of allowance (486) 832
Due from other City agencies/departments - (28)
Interfund receivable (142) -
Long-term receivable - -
Inventories - 5,151
Prepaid items and other assets 222 1,132
Vouchers payable 1,507 23,523
Unearned revenue 682 686
Accrued and other liabilities 434 856
Interfund payable (750) 673
Advances - -
Claims reserved - -
Items related to pension 146 3,624
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities $ 34,609 $ 293,425
Noncash Activities
Assets acquired through capital contributions S 7,640 $ -
Unrealized gain on investments - (8,729)
Unrealized gain on derivatives - 20,969
Capital assets acquired through accounts payable 4,781 43,330
Amortization of bond premiums and deferred losses and gains on bond refundings 191 6,637
Refunding bond proceeds delivered directly to an irrevocable trust - 195,940

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Governmental

Activities

Other Total Internal
Enterprise Enterprise Service
Funds Funds Funds
5,784 107,732 $ (6,923)
1,145 182,926 167
- 6,243 -

(207) 139 (388)

R (28) _

- (142) 3,770

(7) 5,144 2,655

- 1,354 -
(148) 24,882 (509)
83 1,451 -
(312) 978 (1,198)
1,799 1,722 (236)
- - (2,150)

- - (2,022

208 3,978 -
8,345 336,379 $ (6,834)
- 7,640 $ -

- (8,729) -

- 20,969 -

- 48,111 -

5 6,833 -

195,940
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Funds

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Pension, Health, and

Other Employee Private-Purpose Agency
Benefit Trust Funds Trust Funds Funds
Assets
Cash on hand S - S 313 S 3,245
Cash and cash equivalents 43,583 727 43,741
Securities lending collateral 232,667 - -
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles of $4,412):
Taxes - - 827,730
Accounts 2,955 - 16
Accrued interest 1,816 - -
Investments, at fair value:
U.S. Government obligations 152,233 - -
Domestic stocks and bonds 695,184 - -
International stocks 481,549 - -
Mutual funds 353,704 - -
Real estate 183,585 - -
Other 702,004 - -
Total Investments 2,568,259 - -
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 4,767 -
Total Assets 2,854,047 1,040 $ 874,732
Liabilities
Vouchers payable 2,589 438 12,838
Securities lending obligation 236,505 - -
Other accrued liabilities - - 13,898
Due to taxing units - 313 847,996
Total Liabilities 239,094 751 $ 874,732
Net Position
Net position restricted for pensions 1,945,673 -
Net position held in trust for OPEB benefits 70,826 -
Net position held in trust for deferred compensation benefits 598,454 -
Net position held in trust for other purposes - 289
Net Position Restricted for Pensions
and Other Purposes $ 2,614,953 $ 289

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Pension, Health, and

Other Employee Private-Purpose
Benefit Trust Funds Trust Funds
Additions
Contributions:
City and County of Denver $ 64,443 $ -
Denver Health and Hospital Authority 7171 -
Plan members 84,832 -
Total Contributions 156,446 -
Investment earnings:
Net appreciation in fair value of investments (55,770) -
Interest and dividends 39,066 -
Total Investment Earnings (16,704) -
Less investment expense (15,426) -
Net Investment Earnings (32,130) -
Securities lending earnings 799 -
Securities lending expenses:
Borrower rebates 521 -
Agent fees (330) -
Net Earnings from Securities Lending 990 -
Total Net Investment Earnings (31,140) -
Total Additions 125,306 -
Deductions
Benefits 230,755 -
Refunds of contributions 2,245 -
Administrative expenses 4,373 -
Other deductions - 5
Total Deductions 237,373
Change in net position (112,067) (5)
Net position - January 1 2,727,020 294
Net Position -December 31 $ 2,614,953 $ 289

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Statement of Net Position - Component Units

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Denver Denver Denver
Convention Union Urban Other
Center Hotel Station Project Renewal Component
Authority Authority Authority Units Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,580 $ 1,906 $ 8,330 $ 20,473 $ 35,289
Receivables (net of allowances):
Taxes 1,715 12,278 83,893 25,802 123,688
Accounts - - 3,041 440 3,481
Accrued interest - - 71 - 71
Other - 6,778 4,410 12 11,200
Prepaid items and other assets 1,318 - 52 97 1,467
Restricted Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents - 31,568 127,384 79 159,031
Investments 74,623 - - - 74,623
Long-term receivables - 151,263 - - 151,263
Other assets 6,123 - - - 6,123
Capital Assets:
Land and construction in progress 23,625 - - - 23,625
Buildings and improvements 249,753 - - 20,775 270,528
Machinery and equipment 27,148 - 138 1,972 29,258
Accumulated depreciation (85,910) - (51) (5,360) (91,321)
Net Capital Assets 214,616 - 87 17,387 232,090
Total Assets 302,975 203,793 227,268 64,290 798,326
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amount on refundings 4,894 - 20,336 1,916 27,146
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 4,894 - 20,336 1,916 27,146
Liabilities
Vouchers payable 4,695 - - 4,528 9,223
Accrued liabilities 9,613 1,380 25,519 7,430 43,942
Unearned revenue - - - 6 6
Advances 845 1,352 1,088 - 3,285
Due to other governments - - 232 16,077 16,309
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year 6,110 2,447 20,682 700 29,939
Due in more than one year 328,689 325,033 289,557 15,760 959,039
Total Liabilities 349,952 330,212 337,078 44,501 1,061,743
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property taxes - 12,081 77,798 9,726 99,605
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - 12,081 77,798 9,726 99,605
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets (116,762) - 87 2,842 (113,833)
Restricted for:
Capital projects 39,408 - 60,440 - 99,848
Emergency use - - - 281 281
Debt service 41,654 - 20,790 11 62,455
Donor and other restrictions:
Expendable - - 4,872 - 4,872
Unrestricted (deficit) (6,383) (138,500) (253,461) 8,845 (389,499)
Total Net Position (Deficit) $ (42,083) $ (138,500) $ (167,272) $ 11,979 $ (335,876)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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Statement of Activities - Component Units
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Denver Denver
Convention Union Denver
Center Station Urban Other
Hotel Project Renewal Component
Authority Authority Authority Units Total

Expenses $ 101,671 $ 17,425 $ 92,747 $ 29,071 $ 240,914
Program Revenues
Charges for services 93,061 - - 374 93,435
Operating grants and contributions - 2,974 1,819 1,224 6,017
Total Program Revenues 93,061 2,974 1,819 1,598 99,452
Net expenses (8,610) (14,451) (90,928) (27,473) (141,462)
General Revenues
Taxes:

Lodgers - - 2,742 2,742

Property - 5,502 65,909 8,991 80,402

Sales and use - - 27,452 - 27,452

Specific ownership - - - 244 244
Investment and interest income 67 9,121 166 14 9,368
Other revenues 10,000 789 2,794 22,072 35,655
Net General Revenues 10,067 15,412 99,063 31,321 155,863
Change in net position 1,457 961 8,135 3,848 14,401
Net position (deficit) - January 1, (43,540) (143,428) (175,407) 8,131 (354,244)

as previously reported

Correction of an error - 3,967 - - 3,967
Net position (deficit) - January 1, as restated (43,540) (139,461) (175,407) 8,131 (350,277)
Net Position (Deficit) - December 31 $ (42,083) $ (138,500) $ (167,272) $ 11,979 $ (335,876)

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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[.  SuMMARY OF SIGNFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) applicable to governmental entities. A summary of the City and County of Denver’s
significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements follows.

NortE A - ReporTING ENTITY

The City and County of Denver (City) was incorporated in 1861 and became a Colorado Home Rule City on March 29, 1904, under
the provisions of Article XX of the Constitution of Colorado, as amended, when the people of the City ratified a Charter providing
for a Mayor-Council form of government. The City is operated by authority of the powers granted by its Charter. The City provides
typical municipal services with the exception of education, public housing, and sewage treatment that are administered by other

governmental entities.

As required by U.S. GAAP, these financial statements present the City (primary government) and its component units. The
component units discussed below are included in the City’s reporting entity because of the significance of their operational or
financial relationships with the City in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14,

The Financial Reporting Entity, GASB Statement No. 39, Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units - an
amendment of GASB Statement No. 14, and GASB Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus - an amendment of
GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 34. Certain amounts reported in the individual component unit financial statements have been

reclassified to conform to the City’s accounting policies. Each component unit has a December 31st year end.
1. Blended Component Units.

Gateway Village, Denver 14th Street, and RiNo General Improvement District (GID) — The districts were created by the
City as separate legal entities pursuant to state statute. Per statute, the City Council serves as ex officio Board of Directors for
the districts. District Advisory Boards, appointed by the City Council, conduct and manage all affairs of the districts, which
provide capital improvement and maintenance services entirely to the City, subject to overall approval and supervision of the
ex officio Board of Directors. The districts are reported herein in the City’s special revenue and debt service funds except for
the RiNo GID which had no financial activity in 2015 or net position to report as of December 31, 2015.

2. Discretely Presented Component Units.

9th Avenue, Cherry Creek North, Cherry Creek Subarea, Colfax, Downtown Denver, Old South Gaylord, West Colfax,
Federal Boulevard, Bluebird, Colfax-Mayfair, Santa Fe, and RiNo Business Improvement Districts (BID) — Each BID was
created by the City as a separate legal entity pursuant to state statute for the purpose of maintaining public improvements
and planning development activities within each BID’s geographic boundaries. The City appoints the governing boards of the
BIDs and is able to impose its will through the approval of the BID’s operating budgets. The 9th Avenue and RiNo BID’s had no
financial activity in 2015 or net position to report as of December 31, 2015.

Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority (DCCHA) - The DCCHA was organized by the City as a nonprofit corporation

in accordance with State law for the purpose of owning, acquiring, constructing, equipping, operating and financing a hotel
adjacent to the City’s convention center. The Mayor appoints the Board of Directors of the DCCHA, subject to City Council
confirmation, and a financial benefit/burden relationship exists as a result of an economic development agreement between
the City and DCCHA. According to the agreement DCCHA distributes certain excess revenues to the City, makes payments in

lieu of taxes to the City, and has entered into a room block agreement which coordinates the reservation of hotel room blocks
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with events scheduled at the City’s convention center. The City makes semi-annual economic development payments to the
DCCHA, which totaled $10,000,000 in 2015, and will gradually increase to an annual maximum of $11,000,000 in 2018. The

City also has the right to purchase the hotel at the purchase option price per the agreement.

Denver Downtown Development Authority (DDDA) - The DDDA was created for the purpose of promoting public health,
safety, prosperity, security, and general welfare in order to halt or prevent deterioration of property values or structures within
the central business district and to assist in the development and redevelopment of the central business district, especially

to benefit the property within the boundaries of the Authority. The City entered into a cooperation agreement with DDDA

in 2009 authorizing the Authority to collect and disburse property and sales tax increment revenues. The DDDA collects
property and sales tax increment revenue from the City and disburses it to the Denver Union Station Project Authority and
the Denver Union Station Metro Districts. The Central Platte Valley Metropolitan District also exists within the boundaries of
DDDA and it receives property tax revenue from the DDDA. The Board of Directors is appointed by the Mayor and confirmed
by City Council, and City Council may remove any director at will. These appointments and the ability of the City to impose its

will on the Authority make the City financially accountable for the Authority.

Denver Preschool Program, Inc. (DPP) - DPP is a nonprofit corporation organized to administer the Denver Preschool
Program that provides tuition credits for children of Denver families the year before the child is eligible for kindergarten. The
City is legally obligated to provide financial support to DPP, as the program is funded by a sales and use tax increase of fifteen
one-hundredths of one percent (0.15%) that was voter-approved through December 2026. The Mayor appoints ten of the
eleven DPP board members and City Council appoints a council member as the other board member. The City appointments
to the governing body and its financial obligations to DPP make the City financially accountable for the DPP.

Denver Union Station Project Authority (DUSPA) - In 2001, the City, the Regional Transportation District (RTD), the Denver
Regional Council of Governments, and the Colorado Department of Transportation entered into an intergovernmental
agreement for the redevelopment of Denver Union Station and its surrounding environs as a multimodal transportation

hub in the City’s metropolitan area. The Denver Union Station Project Authority was created by City ordinance in 2008, as a
permanent, centralized agency to accomplish the Denver Union Station Project (the Project) which will specifically deal with
the financing, acquiring, equipping, designing, constructing, operating and maintaining of the Project. DUSPA is a Colorado
nonprofit organization. The Mayor appoints six of the eleven voting DUSPA board members, which are then confirmed by
City Council. The Mayor can remove any City appointed board member at will, giving the City the ability to impose its will

on the Authority. The ability to appoint the majority of voting members and to impose its will on DUSPA makes the City
financially accountable for the Authority. Tax increment revenue from the City provides funding for the Project, which creates
a financial burden relationship between the City and DUSPA. DUSPA is authorized to issue revenue bonds for the Project,
which for federal income tax purposes are considered to be issued on behalf of the City, however these bonds, and any
other obligation incurred by DUSPA, are not liabilities of the City. DUSPA had a restatement of net position in the amount of

$3,967,000 related to revenue not recorded in the 2014 financial statements.

Denver Urban Renewal Authority (DURA) - DURA was created as a separate legal entity by the City pursuant to the state
Urban Renewal Law to acquire, clear, rehabilitate, conserve, develop or redevelop identified slum or blighted areas existing
within the City and to prevent future blight from developing. In addition, for health and safety purposes, DURA provides
housing rehabilitation assistance in the form of low-interest loans to low-income Denver homeowners through two City
housing rehabilitation programs. The Mayor appoints the DURA board of directors subject to City Council approval. Any
urban renewal project undertaken by DURA must receive prior approval by the City. A significant amount of DURA’s financing
comes from incremental property and sales tax revenue from the City. In 2009, DURA established Denver Neighborhood
Revitalization, Inc. (DNRI), a registered State of Colorado not-for-profit organization and component unit of DURA, to address
the needs in the Denver community related to foreclosed and/or abandoned homes. DNRI administers and executes
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the Neighborhood Stabilization Program (NSP) funds awarded by the City and County of Denver. DNRI activities include

acquisition and rehabilitation of foreclosed residential properties in targeted neighborhoods within the City and County of

Denver. For presentation purposes, DURA and DNRI financial activity is combined.

Complete financial statements, as applicable, for the following individual discretely presented component units can be

obtained from their respective administrative offices:

Bluebird BID
8005 South Chester Street, Suite 150
Centennial, Colorado 80112

Cherry Creek Subarea BID
1573 South Jamaica Street
Denver, Colorado 80012

Colfax-Mayfair BID
P.0.Box 202161
Denver, Colorado 80220

Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority
1225 Seventeenth Street, Suite 3050
Denver, Colorado 80202

Denver Preschool Program, Inc.
305 Park Avenue West, Suite B
Denver, Colorado 80205

Denver Urban Renewal Authority
1555 California Street, Suite 200
Denver, Colorado 80202

Old South Gaylord BID
1076 South Gaylord Street
Denver, Colorado 80209

West Colfax BID
4500 West Colfax Avenue
Denver, Colorado 80204

3. Fiduciary Component Unit.

Cherry Creek North BID
299 Milwaukee Street, Suite 201
Denver, Colorado 80206

Colfax BID
P.O.Box 18853
Denver, Colorado 80218

Downtown Denver BID
511 16th Street, Suite 200
Denver, Colorado 80202

Denver Downtown Development Authority
201 West Colfax Avenue, Department 1109
Denver, Colorado 80202

Denver Union Station Project Authority
1225 17th Street, Suite 3050
Denver, Colorado 80202

Federal Boulevard BID
2931 West 25th Avenue
Denver, Colorado 80211

Santa Fe BID
901 West 10th Avenue, Suite 2A
Denver, Colorado 80204

Denver Employees Retirement Plan (DERP) — The DERP is a separate legal entity established by City ordinance to provide
pension benefits for substantially all City employees, except police officers and fire fighters. The Mayor appoints the members
of the DERP governing board. The DERP is presented herein in the City’s fiduciary funds as Pension and Health Benefits Trust
Funds. The net position of the DERP is held for the sole benefit of the participants and is not available for appropriation by the
City.

Related Organizations.

The City appoints members to the boards of the following organizations. The City’s accountability for the organizations does

not extend beyond making these appointments and there is no fiscal dependency by these organizations on the City.
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Denver Health and Hospital Authority (Authority) — The Authority is a political subdivision and body corporate of the
State of Colorado. The Authority is governed by a nine member board, all appointed by the Mayor. The Authority entered
into contractual agreements with the City to obtain and operate the City’s existing hospital system. In accordance with the
contractual agreements between the Authority and the City, the City paid the Authority $59,457,000 for providing various
health related services to the City and its residents during 2015. In addition, the Authority made payments in the amount of
$1,959,000 to the City for human services, fleet, sheriff, and various human resources services.

Denver Housing Authority (DHA) - The DHA was created by ordinance in accordance with U.S. Department of Housing and
Urban Development (HUD) regulations. Its five member board, appointed by the Mayor, controls the daily administration and
operations of the DHA. The DHA is dependent on Federal funds from HUD and, as a result, is not financially dependent on the
City. In addition, the City is not responsible for any deficits incurred and has no fiscal management control over the DHA.

Denver Public Library Trust (DPL Trust) - The DPL Trust is a charitable entity formed by the Library Commission and the DPL
Friends Foundation to accept inherited interests through a bequest. All assets of the DPL Trust derive from a percentage of
an interest in two real estate partnerships. The Library Commission appoints the trustees of the DPL Trust. All funds received
by the DPL Trust are deposited into a bank account managed by the DPL Trust and quarterly transferred to the DPL Friends
Foundation. The monies may be requested during the Denver Public Library’s annual budget request from the DPL Friends

Foundation.

Denver Water Board - The Denver Water Board was created pursuant to the City Charter as a separate legal entity to oversee
the City’s water system. The Denver Water Board's five-member governing body is appointed by the Mayor, but the City

is not financially accountable for the Denver Water Board because the Denver Water Board has the power to levy property
taxes to support general obligation bonds issued by the Denver Water Board and the Denver Water Boards’ determination

of the necessity for the mill levy would not be subject to approval or modification by the City. The Denver Water Board had
no general obligation bonds outstanding as of December 31, 2015, and no longer has authority to issue general obligation
bonds.

Lowry Economic Redevelopment Authority (Lowry) - Lowry was created as a public entity by contract between the City
and another local government under the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, C.R.S. Section 24-10-01. Lowry is a separate
legal entity intended to maintain, manage, promote, and implement economic redevelopment of the former Lowry Air Force
Base. The City is not fiscally accountable for Lowry. Lowry is governed by a nine-member board of directors of which the

Mayor appoints seven.

Stapleton Development Corporation (SDC) - The City and DURA created a nonprofit corporation whose objectives would
include, but not be limited to, planning an orderly public purpose assessment and redevelopment program for the former
Stapleton International Airport property and implementing the redevelopment plan for the property. The SDC board of
directors is composed of 11 voting members; the Mayor appoints 9 and 2 are appointed by DURA. All 11 members are
confirmed by the City Council. Neither the City nor DURA is financially accountable for SDC, as the City and DURA cannot
impose their will on SDC, nor does a financial benefit or burden exist between the entities.

NotEe B - GoverNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The government-wide financial statements, which include the statement of net position and statement of activities, report
information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units. Eliminations have been
made to minimize the double-counting of internal activities. Governmental activities, which generally are supported by taxes,

intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions, are reported separately from business-type activities, which
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rely generally on fees and charges to external parties. The primary government is reported separately from certain legally

separate component units for which the primary government is financially accountable.

The statement of net position reports all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the difference between the two presented as net

position.

The statement of activities demonstrates the extent to which the direct expenses of a given function or business-type activity

is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are clearly identifiable with a specific function. Program revenues include: 1)
charges to customers who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services provided by the programs, and 2) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Taxes and other items

not properly included among program revenues are reported as general revenues.

Separate fund financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, fiduciary funds (even though fiduciary
funds are excluded from the government-wide financial statements), and component units. The emphasis of fund financial
statements is on major governmental funds, enterprise funds, and component units, each reported as a separate column. All

remaining governmental funds, enterprise funds, and component units, are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds.

NotEe C — MeasureMENT Focus, BAsis oF ACCOUNTING, AND STATEMENT PRESENTATION

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual

basis of accounting, as are the proprietary and fiduciary funds, and discretely presented component unit financial statements.
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related
cash flows. On an accrual basis, property taxes are recognized in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are

recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements have been met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when they are measurable
and available. Available means collectible within the current period, or soon enough thereafter, to pay liabilities of the current
period or when matured. The City considers all revenue as available, if collected within 60 days after year end. Property taxes,
sales and use taxes, franchise taxes, occupational privilege taxes, interest revenue, and charges for services are susceptible to
accrual. Other receipts, fines, licenses, permits, and parking meter revenues become measurable and available when cash is
received by the City and are recognized as revenue at that time. Grant revenue is considered available if it is expected to be
collected within one year and all eligibility requirements are met. Expenditures are recorded when the related liability is incurred,
except for debt service expenditures, and certain compensated absences and claims and judgments, which are recognized when

the payment is due.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

«  The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general government,
except those required to be reported in another fund. This fund is financed primarily by sales tax, property tax, and

charges for services.

«  The Human Services special revenue fund is used to account for proceeds of restricted revenue to be used for public

assistance and welfare activities. This fund is financed primarily by intergovernmental revenue and property taxes.

The City reports the following major proprietary funds:

«  The Wastewater Management fund accounts for the City’s storm and sewer operations. This fund is financed primarily

by sanitary sewer and storm drainage charges.
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«  The Denver Airport System fund accounts for the operation of the City’s airport system which includes Denver
International Airport. This fund is financed primarily by facility rentals, parking revenues, and landing fees.

The City reports the Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority, Denver Union Station Project Authority, and Denver Urban
Renewal Authority component units as major component units.

Additionally, the City reports the following fund-types:

» Internal service funds account for asphalt plant and workers’ compensation services provided to the various
departments and agencies of the City on a cost reimbursement basis.

«  Pension trust funds account for the Denver Employees Retirement Plan and Deferred Compensation Plan which
accumulate resources for pension and health benefit payments to qualified City retirees and amounts employees defer
from their income.

«  The private-purpose trust funds are used to account for resources legally held in trust by the City for use by various
organizations for various purposes, i.e., COBRA payments and unclaimed warrants. All resources of the funds, including
any earnings on invested resources, may be used to support the various activities of the organizations. There is no
requirement to preserve the resources as capital.

«  Agency funds account for the Employee Salary Redirect plan, clearing funds for payroll and benefit provider payments,
and collected receipts being temporarily held for allocation to other entities. The agency funds are custodial in nature

and do not involve measurement of results of operations.

The effect of interfund activity generally has been eliminated from the government-wide financial statements. Exceptions to this
practice include payments and other charges between the City’s enterprise funds and various other functions of the government.

Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions affected.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses
generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal
ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the enterprise and internal service funds are charges to customers for
sales and services. Operating expenses for the enterprise and internal service funds include the administrative expenses, cost
of sales and services, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as
nonoperating revenues and expenses.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, the City uses the restricted resources first, then unrestricted
resources as needed. If no other restrictions exist, the order of spending of resources will be committed, assigned, and lastly
unassigned.

Note D — Assets, Dererrep OutrLows, LiaBiLiTiES, DEFerrReD INFLows, AND NET PosiTioN or FUND BALANCES

1. Cash and Investments. For the primary government, except when prohibited by trust agreements, the operating cash in
each fund is maintained in one consolidated pool by the City. Cash in excess of operating requirements is invested by the
City. The City Charter, Section 2.5.3(C) and the Denver Revised Municipal Code, Section 20-21, authorize that investments
may be made in U.S. Government obligations, its agencies and sponsored corporations, prime commercial paper, prime
bankers'acceptances, certificates of deposit issued by eligible banks and savings and loan associations, local government
investment pools, repurchase agreements, forward purchase agreements, securities lending agreements, highly rated
municipal securities, high grade corporate bonds, asset-backed securities, supranational debt obligations, federal agency
collateralized mortgage obligations (CMO), federal agency mortgage pass through securities (MBS), money market funds
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that purchase only the types of securities specified herein, and other similar securities as may be authorized by ordinance.
The pension trust funds and component units maintain deposits and investments outside of the City’s investment pools.
These are primarily in demand deposits and U.S. Government obligations. Some pension trust funds have investments in

real property.

Investments are stated at fair value, which is primarily determined based upon quoted market prices at year end. Fair values
of real estate and other investments are determined by independent periodic appraisals.

2. Cash Equivalents. The City’s investments held in the consolidated pool with original maturities of three months or less
from the purchase date are classified as cash equivalents. For investments owned by wastewater, the airport system, the
pension trust funds, and the component units, investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date

of purchase are considered cash equivalents.

3. Property Taxes Receivable. Property taxes are reported as a receivable and as deferred inflows of resources when the
levy is certified by the City’s Assessor on or before December 15 of each year, unless there is a special election. Property
taxes receivable is reduced by an allowance for uncollectible taxes. Property taxes are due and considered earned on
January 1 following the year levied. The first and second halves become delinquent on March 1 and June 16, respectively.
Tax rate levy authority for the 2015 fiscal year was approved when Resolution 1070, Series of 2015, was adopted by the
City Council and approved by the Mayor.

4. Water and Wastewater Service Accounts. Sanitary sewer accounts are maintained, billed, and collected by the Water
Board in connection with its water accounts. The Wastewater Management enterprise fund is responsible for billing and
collecting storm drainage charges using a cycle billing system. Flat rate accounts and certain cycle billings are billed in
advance on a monthly basis and revenues relating to future years are classified as unearned revenue. Metered accounts
are billed in arrears and have been accrued.

5. Interfund Receivables/Payables. During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual
funds for goods provided or services rendered. The balances from these transactions are classified as “interfund
receivable” or “interfund payable” on the balance sheet/statement of net position. Other interfund receivables/payables

between individual funds have occurred because some funds have overdrawn their equity share of pooled cash.

6. Due From Other Governments. Due from other governments includes amounts due from grantors for grants for specific
programs and capital projects. Program and capital grants for capital assets are recorded as receivables and revenues
when all eligibility requirements are met. Revenues received in advance of project costs being incurred or for which
eligibility requirements have not been met are unearned. In the governmental funds, revenue recognition also depends
on the timing of cash collections (availability).

7. Inventories and Prepaid Items. The City values inventories at cost, which approximates market, and accounts for
them using either the weighted average method or the first-in/first-out method. The costs of governmental fund-type
inventories are recorded as expenditures when purchased.

Payments made to vendors for services representing costs applicable to future accounting periods are recorded as prepaid
items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements.

8. Restricted Assets. Certain assets of the General Fund, General Government special revenue fund and certain component

units are classified as restricted assets because their use is completely restricted by State statute (see Note IV-E-8).

In the General Fund and Human Services special revenue fund, certain monies related to capital leases (see Note IlI-E-1) are
classified as restricted in accordance with lease requirements.
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Certain resources of the governmental activities and the Denver Airport System enterprise fund are classified as restricted
assets because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants. These covenants require the accumulation of resources for
current principal and interest on both bonds and subordinate bonds, principal and redemption price on term bonds subject

to mandatory redemption, principal and interest emergency reserve, and operating and maintenance emergency reserve.

In the governmental activities the net pension asset is presented as a restricted asset.

Certain assets of the Environmental Services enterprise fund have been restricted by external parties to be used for future
plant and equipment expenditures and payment of certain liabilities.

9. Capital Assets. Land, collections, construction in progress, buildings, equipment, infrastructure, and intangible assets are
reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities, or component unit columns of the government-wide
financial statements. Such assets are recorded at cost or estimated cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital
assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation. The capitalization threshold of the City is $5,000
except for software which has a threshold of $50,000. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the
value of the assets or materially extend assets' lives are not capitalized. Interest incurred during the construction phase
of capital assets of business-type activities is reflected in the capitalized value of the asset constructed, net of interest
earned on the invested proceeds over the same period.

Assets under capital leases are recorded at the present value of future minimum lease payments and are amortized over the
shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset.

Capital assets of the City and certain component units are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the following estimated

useful lives:
Buildings and improvements 5to 100 years
Motor vehicles and motorized equipment 5to 20 years
Furniture, machinery, and equipment 3 to 20 years
Collections, excluding library books 15 years
Library books 4 years
Infrastructure 6 to 50 years
Intangibles 3to 5years

Library books are depreciated over a 4-year life using the composite method. The Western History artwork collection is not
capitalized because these assets are held for public exhibition rather than financial gain and the value cannot be determined.
They are protected and preserved and proceeds from any sales must be used to acquire other items for collection. In
addition, artwork acquired through the Estate of Clyfford Still is not capitalized because the collection must be held for public
exhibition and sale of the collection, or any piece of the collection, is prohibited, under the terms of the will and the donation
agreement. A value has not been assigned to the Clyfford Still collection and due to the rarity of the collection combined
with restrictions within the will for its ownership and exhibition, its ultimate value may be impossible to establish with any

certainty.

Assets held for disposition are recorded in the Denver Airport System enterprise fund and consist primarily of the net book
value of the Stapleton International Airport, which ceased aviation operations on February 27, 1995. No depreciation is
recorded for assets held for disposition. In addition, assets held for disposition in governmental funds consist of foreclosed

property and land pending future sale.
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10. Long-term Obligations. The City records long-term debt and other long-term obligations as liabilities in the
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements. Bond premiums and discounts are amortized over the
life of the bonds using the effective interest method or the straight-line method over the term of the debt, except for
deferred refunding gains (losses) which are amortized using the same methods over the shorter of the term of either the
new or old debt. Bond premiums and discounts are presented as an addition or reduction (net) of the face amount of the
bond payable. With few exceptions, bonds issued by the City are tax-exempt and subject to federal arbitrage regulations.

In the fund financial statements for governmental fund-types, bond issuance costs, other than prepaid insurance, are
recognized as expenditures during the current period even if withheld from actual net proceeds. Bond proceeds and bond
premiums are reported as an other financing source. Bond discounts are reported as an other financing use. Issuance costs,

even if withheld from actual net proceeds received, are reported as expenditures.

11. Compensated Absences. The City has vacation, sick, and paid time off leave policies covering substantially all of its

employees, as follows:

Career Service Authority

Fire and Police Departments’ Classified Service
Undersheriff

District Attorney and Judges

Employees may accumulate earned but unused benefits up to a specified maximum. The City has recorded an accrued
liability for compensated absences in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements that was calculated
using the vesting method.

12. Unearned Revenues. Unearned revenues reflect amounts that have been received before the City has a legal claim to
the funds. In subsequent periods, when revenue recognition criteria are met, or when the City has a legal claim to the

resources, the unearned revenue is removed from the statement of net position/balance sheet and revenue is recognized.

13. Pensions. For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows
of resources related to pensions and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Denver
Employees Retirement Plan (DERP), the Statewide Defined Benefit Plan and Old Hire Fire and Police Pension Plans,
administered by the Fire and Police Pension Association of Colorado (FPPA) and the Public Employees’ Retirement
Association of Colorado Pension Plans (PERA), and additions to/deductions from the various pension plan’s fiduciary
net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by DERP, FPPA, and PERA. For this purpose,
benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance
with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.

14. Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources. A deferred inflow of resources is an acquisition
of net position by the City that is applicable to a future reporting period and a deferred outflow of resources is a
consumption of net position by the City that is applicable to a future reporting period. Both deferred inflows and
outflows are reported in the Statement of Net Position, but are not recognized in the financial statements as revenues,
expenses, and reduction of liabilities or increase in assets until the period(s) to which they relate. The City reports
deferred outflows of resources for pension-related amounts for the City’s share of the difference between projected and
actual earnings, for the City’s share of the difference between contributions to the individual plans and the proportionate
share of the contributions, and for changes of assumptions or other inputs. Deferred outflows of resources of the City

also consist of the accumulated decrease in fair value of hedging derivatives and the deferred amount on refunding.
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The City reports deferred inflows of resources for pension-related amounts in the government wide financial statements or
the City’s share of the difference between expected and actual experience and for the City’s share of the difference between
contributions to the individual plans and the proportionate share of the contributions. The City also reports deferred inflows

of resources for property tax receivables that are reported as deferred inflow of resources when levied for the next fiscal year.

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenue and other fund financial resources are recognized in the period in
which they become both measurable and available. Assets recorded in the fund financial statements for which the revenues
are not available are reported as a deferred inflow of resources. Deferred inflows of resources are also comprised of property
tax and long-term receivables that are unavailable in the fund statements.

A deferred amount on refunding is included in deferred inflows of resources relating to the Denver Airport System. These

amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available.

15. Net Position. In the government-wide and fund financial statements, net position is the difference between assets,
liabilities, deferred inflows, and deferred outflows. Net investment in capital assets, represents capital assets; less
accumulated depreciation; and less any outstanding borrowings related to the acquisition, construction, or improvement
of those assets. Certain net positions are restricted for capital projects, emergency use, debt service, by donor

restrictions, and for the net pension asset.

16. Fund Balance. In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report nonspendable, restricted, committed,
assigned, and unassigned fund balance classifications based on the nature and extent of the constraints placed on the
fund balances.

17. Encumbrances. Encumbrances for contracts and purchase orders are unencumbered at year end and reappropriated
against the subsequent year’s budget. As of December 31, 2015, the encumbrances reflected in Table 1 (dollars in

thousands) were reappropriated against the 2016 budget for remaining prior year encumbrances.

Table 1

Governmental Activities:
General Fund $ 32,121
Human Services Fund 9,464
Other Governmental Funds 137,810

Total Governmental Activities $ 179,395

Business-type Activities:

Wastewater Management S 19,099
Denver Airport System 208,070
Other Enterprise Funds 1,545
Total Business-type Activities $ 228,714

NoTtEe E - ImPLEMENTATION OF NEw ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68. In 2015, the City implemented the provisions of GASB Statement
No. 68 (Statement No. 68), Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 27 and GASB
Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date - an amendment of GASB
Statement No. 68, which revise and establish new financial reporting requirements for most governments that provide their
employees with pension benefits. The City provides its employees with pension benefits through The Denver Employees
Retirement Plan (DERP), the Statewide Defined Benefit Plan and Old Hire Fire and Police Pension Plans, administered by the Fire

and Police Pension Association (FPPA) and the Public Employees Retirement Association of Colorado Pension Plans (PERA).
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Statement No. 68 requires employers to record their proportionate share, as defined in Statement No. 68, of the various plans’ net
pension liability. Statement No. 68 also includes recognition of deferred inflows and outflows of resources associated with the net
difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan investments, changes of assumptions of other inputs, the net
difference between expected and actual experience, and other employer-specific deferrals. The adoption of GASB 68 resulted in
an adjustment of beginning net position of the primary government as of January 1, 2015 of the following amounts: a decrease
of $645,971,000 for the governmental activities, a decrease of $119,621,000 for the business-type activities, which included a
decrease of $90,567,000 for the Denver Airport System, a decrease of $22,179,000 for Wastewater Management, a decrease of
$2,944,000 for the Golf Course Fund, and a decrease of $3,931,000 for the Environmental Services Fund.

[I. STEwARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Norte A - DericiT Funp Equity

At December 31, 2015, the Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority (DCCHA), the Denver Union Station Project Authority
(DUSPA), and the Denver Urban Renewal Authority (DURA) component units had deficit net position in the amounts of
$42,083,000, $138,500,000, and $167,272,000, respectively.

The DCCHA component unit will use revenue from its hotel facility to fund its deficit net position. DUSPA receives sales tax
revenue to fund its deficit net position. The DURA component unit uses Tax Increment Financing (TIF), which is additional

incremental property and sales taxes generated by redevelopment projects, to fund their deficit net position.

Note B — Excess EXPENDITURES OVER AUTHORIZATIONS

Budget basis expenditures exceeded authorizations for the projects shown in Table 2.

Table 2

Excess Expenditures Over Authorizations
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Budget Basis Excess over
Authorization Expenditures Authorization
Adams Mark Tax Increment $ 2,151 $ 2,742 $ 591
Denver Public Library 41,527 41,958 431
Fire 126,286 126,475 189
Office of Economic Development 5,038 7,230 2,192
Police 211,598 211,770 172
Undersheriff 118,681 119,309 628

The expenditures, which resulted in excess of authorization, were recorded because liabilities had been incurred before year end.

[ll. DetaiLED NOTES FOR ALL FUNDS

Note A — DePosITS AND INVESTMENTS

1. Deposits. The City Charter, Section 2.5.3(c), requires all banking or savings and loan institutions to pledge sufficient
collateral as required by law (Public Deposit Protection Act (C.R.S., 11-10.5-101)) before any public funds are deposited. In
addition, the City’s Investment Policy requires that certificates of deposit be purchased from institutions that are certified
as Eligible Public Depositories by the appropriate state regulatory agency. Under the Colorado Public Deposit Protection
Act (PDPA), all deposits exceeding the amount insured by the FDIC are to be fully collateralized at 102.00% of the deposits
with specific approved securities identified in the act. The eligible collateral pledged must be held in custody by any
Federal Reserve Bank, or branch thereof, or held in escrow by some other bank in a manner as the banking commissioner

shall prescribe by rule and regulation, or may be segregated from the other assets of the eligible public depository and
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held in its own trust department. All collateral so held must be clearly identified as being security maintained or pledged
for the aggregate amount of public deposits accepted and held on deposit by the eligible public depository. Deposits
collateralized under the PDPA are considered collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institutions’ trust

department or agent in the “City’s name.”

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a failure of a financial institution or counterparty, the City would not be able
to recover its deposits, investments or collateral securities. At December 31,2015, the bank balance and carrying amounts

of accounts managed by the Manager of Finance (the Manager) were $19,896,000 and $23,903,000, respectively. The City’s
deposits, except for the pension trust fund and certain component units’ deposits are subject to, and in accordance with
PDPA.

All deposits for DURA, DUSPA, and DCCHA were not subject to custodial credit risk at December 31, 2015, since they were
covered by FDIC or PDPA.

Investments. It is the policy of the City to invest its funds in a manner which will provide for the highest investment
return consistent with the preservation of principal and provision of the liquidity necessary for daily cash flow demands.
The City's Investment Policy applies to all investment activity of the City under the control of the Manager, including
investments of certain monies related to all governmental and business-type activities, and trust and agency funds.

The City’s Investment Policy does not apply to the investments of the deferred compensation plan or component units.
Other monies that may from time to time be deposited with the Manager for investment shall also be administered in

accordance with the Investment Policy.

The City Charter, Section 2.5.3(c), and Revised Municipal Code, Section 20-21, authorize the investments that the City can
hold. The Investment Policy requires that investments shall be managed in accordance with portfolio theory management
principles to compensate for actual or anticipated changes in market interest rates. To the extent possible, investment
maturity will be matched with anticipated cash flow requirements of each investment portfolio. Additionally, to the extent
possible, investments will be diversified by security type, market sector, and institution. This diversification is required

in order that potential losses on individual securities do not exceed the income generated from the remainder of the
portfolios. Deviations from expectations shall be reported in a timely fashion and appropriate action taken to control adverse

developments.

At December 31, 2015, the City’s investment balances were as shown in Table 3.

Table 3

City Investment Balances
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Fair Value
Repurchase agreements $ 121
Money market funds 1,824
Local government investment pool 92,498
Common stock 934,499
Mutual funds 353,761
Municipal bonds 105,939
U.S. Treasury securities 652,999
U.S. agency securities 1,040,520
Corporate bonds 637,430
Structured products’ 381,142
Multinational fixed income? 194,935
Annuity contracts 228,055
Real estate 183,585
Other 494,839
Total Investments $ 5,302,147

'Includes asset backed securities, collateralized mortgage obligations, and mortgage back securities.
?Includes supranational and U.S. agency for international development securities. Supranationals are U.S. dollar denominated bonds of international
organizations such as the World Bank and International Monetary Fund.
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The DERP pension trust fund had securities lending collateral of $336,193,000 at December 31, 2015; see Note IlI-A-5 for

additional discussion related to this balance.

At December 31, 2015, the investment balances of the discretely presented component units were as shown in Table 4.

Table 4

Component Units Investment Balances
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Fair Value

Money market funds S
Local government investment pool

U.S. Treasury securities

U.S. agency securities

Corporate bonds

Structured products

Certificate of Deposit

Total Investments $

126,681

881

24,591
2,846
2,672

280
374

158,325

A reconciliation of cash and investments as shown in the basic financial statements as of December 31, 2015, is shown in

Table 5.

Table 5

Reconciliation of Cash and Investments
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Primary Component

Government Units Total
Governmental and Business-type Activities
Cash on hand S 8,552 - S 8,552
Cash and cash equivalents 876,221 35,289 911,510
Investments 874,998 - 874,998
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 125,464 159,031 284,495
Restricted investments 839,410 74,623 914,033
Total Governmental and Business-type Activities 2,724,645 268,943 2,993,588
Fiduciary
Cash on hand 3,558 - 3,558
Cash and cash equivalents 88,051 - 88,051
Investments 2,568,259 - 2,568,259
Total Fiduciary 2,659,868 - 2,659,868
Total 5,384,513 268,943 5,653,456
Less deposit balance (82,366) ! (110,618) (192,984)
Total Investments $ 5,302,147 158,325 $ 5,460,472

"The carrying amount of the City's deposits of $23,903, plus pension deposits of $43,583, less uncashed warrants of $15,778, plus other

cash amounts of $30,658, equal $82,366.

Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in financial market interest rates will adversely affect the value

of an investment. The City’s Investment Policy limits interest rate risk for investments under the control of the Manager by

limiting the maximum maturity of investments. Investments in commercial paper have a maximum maturity of 270 days.

Corporate debt obligations have a maximum maturity of five years. U.S. Treasury, agency, and supranational, municipal, and

asset-backed securities can have a maximum maturity of ten years. Agency mortgage-backed securities have a maximum

maturity of 31 years with an average life limitation of 20 years. Agency collateralized mortgage obligations have a maximum

maturity of 31 years with an average life limitation of 10 years. To further mitigate interest rate risk, the investment policy

limits investments in asset-backed securities, mortgage-backed securities, and collateralized mortgage obligations to a
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combined maximum of 20.00% of the City’s overall investments. The City also minimizes interest rate risk by maintaining a
concentration of its portfolio invested in short-term and extremely liquid investments. The Manager is authorized to waive
certain portfolio constraints when such action is deemed to be in the best interest of the City. The Manager has waived the
maximum maturity for certain investments in U.S. agency securities that are part of the Denver Airport System structured pool
created to facilitate an economic defeasance of a portion of the future debt service payments due on certain airport system
bonds, and also the investments held for the Cable Land Trust and Workman'’s Compensation. Maturities of the underlying

investments in the local government investment pool are limited by the pool’s investment policies to less than one year.

At December 31, 2015, the City’s investment balances and maturities for those investments subject to interest rate risk

(excluding the DERP) is shown in Table 6 (dollars in thousands):

Table 6
Investment Maturities in Years

Less Greater
Investment Type Fair Value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10
Local government investment pool S 92,498 S 92,498 S - S - S -
Municipal bonds 105,939 - 71,608 22,551 11,780
U.S. Treasury securities 572,270 25,253 471,725 75,292 -
U.S. agency securities 969,016 63,559 774,965 127,409 3,083
Corporate bonds 479,728 15,033 464,695 - -
Multinational fixed income 194,935 22,300 131,324 39,243 2,068
Structured products 296,608 5,931 205,486 81,188 4,003
Total $ 2,710,994 $ 224,574 $ 2,119,803 $ 345,683 $ 20,934

The City’s portfolio of U.S. agency securities includes callable securities. If a callable investment is purchased at a discount, the
maturity date is assumed to be the maturity date of the investment. If the investment is bought at a premium, the maturity
date is assumed to be the call date. As of December 31, 2015, the City owned agency callable securities with a fair value of

$16,616,000.

The DERP manages interest rate risk through the constraints on duration specified in each manager’s investment guidelines
included in the Plan’s Investment Policy. At December 31, 2015, the DERP pension trust fund investment balances and

maturities for those investments subject to interest rate risk are shown in Table 7 (dollars in thousands).

Table 7
Investment Maturities in Years

Less Greater
Investment Type Fair Value than 1 1-5 6-10 than 10
U.S. Treasury securities S 80,729 S 165 S 45,520 S 21,407 S 13,637
U.S. agency securities 71,504 6 46,057 20,715 4,726
Structured products 31,654 64 12,784 12,964 5,842
Corporate bonds 157,702 1,339 120,678 30,099 5,586
Non- U.S. Government bonds 52,879 5,578 22,953 12,534 11,814
Total $ 394,468 $ 7,152 $ 247,992 $ 97,719 $ 41,605

Credit Quality Risk. Credit quality risk is the risk that the issuer or other counterparty to a debt security will not fulfill its
obligations to the City. Moody'’s, Standard & Poor’s, and Fitch Ratings are the three primary Nationally Recognized Securities
Rating Organizations (NRSRO) that assess this risk and assign a credit quality rating for most investments. Obligations of the
U.S. Government or obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government are assigned credit quality ratings of AAA by
Fitch and Aaa by Moody’s, both with stable outlooks as of December 31, 2015. Standard and Poor’s rate securities of the U.S.
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Government AA+ also with a stable outlook. Of the City’s investments at December 31, 2015, commercial paper, municipal

bonds, corporate debt obligations, structured products, local government investment pools, and supranational securities

were subject to credit quality risk.

The City’s Investment Policy requires that commercial paper be rated by at least two NRSRO with a minimum short term

rating of A-1, P-1, or F-1 at the time of purchase. The Investment Policy requires that the municipal bonds have a minimum

underlying issuer rating from at least two of the three rating agencies of A+ or its equivalent. The Investment Policy

requires that corporate debt obligations have a minimum underlying issuer rating from at least two of the NRSRO or A- or its

equivalent. The Investment Policy requires that asset-backed securities have a minimum underlying issuer rating from at least

two of the NRSRO of AA- or its equivalent. The Investment Policy requires that mortgage-backed securities and collateralized
mortgage obligations that had ratings of at least Aaa by Moody’s, AAA by Fitch and AA+ by Standard & Poor’s. The Investment

Policy also requires local government investment pools to be in compliance with Title 24 Part 7 of Article 24 of the Colorado

Revised Statues. The Investment Policy also requires supranational securities by issued by institutions with debt obligations
rated AAA, or the equivalent, by at least two NRSROs.

As of December 31, 2015, the City owned $105,939,000 of municipal bonds that had ratings of at least A1 by Moody’s or AA-
by Standard & Poors or Fitch. The City owned $479,728,000 of corporate debt obligations that had NRSRO ratings of at least
A3 or its equivalent. The City owned $171,448,000 of asset-backed securities that had ratings of at least Aa3 by Moody's or
AA- by Standard & Poor’s or Fitch. The City owned $125,160,000 of agency mortgage-backed securities and collateralized
mortgage obligations that had ratings of at least Aaa by Moody’s, AAA by Fitch and AA+ by Standard & Poor’s. The City
owned $92,498,000 invested in local government investment pools with a rating of AAAm by Standard and Poor’s. The City
also had $142,071,000 invested in supranational securities that had ratings of at least Aaa by Moody’s or AAA by Standard &

Poor’s or Fitch.

The DERP manages credit risk through the constraints on investments specified in each manager’s investment guidelines

included in the Plan’s Investment Policy. Securities implicitly governed by the U.S. Government are included.

Information on the credit ratings associated with the DERP investments in debt securities at December 31, 2015, is shown in

Table 8 (dollars in thousands).

Table 8
Non- U.S. Implicit U.S.

Asset Corporate Government Mortgage Government
S&P Moody's Backed Bonds Bonds Bonds Bonds Total
AAA Aaa 395 $ 17,535 S = 21,719 $ 2,756 $ 42,405
AAA NR - - 854 - 854
AA+to AA- Aa3to Al 24 2,494 1,304 68,577 72,399
A+to A- A1 to Baa2 58 6,917 3,149 - 10,124
BBB+ to BBB- A3 to Baa3 72 12,306 3,928 16,306
BB+ to BB- Ba3 to B1 - 15,038 3 15,041
B+ to B- B1to Caal - 9,344 9,344
CCC+ to CCC- B3 to Caa2 89 1,505 1,594
D NR - 639 - - 639
NR Aaa to Baa2 - 42,682 60 42,742
NR NR = 91,923 10,197 = = 102,120
Total 638 $ 157,701 $ 52,879 31,017 $ 71,333 s 313,568
U.S. Government 80,729
Explicit U.S. Government Agencies 171
Total s 394,468

NR - no rating available
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Custodial Credit Risk. Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of a failure, the City will not be able
to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Investments
are exposed to custodial credit risk if they are uninsured, are not registered in the City’s name, and are held by either the
counterparty to the investment purchase or are held by the counterparty’s trust department or agent but not held in the
City’s name. None of the City’s investments owned at December 31, 2015, were subject to custodial credit risk.

In accordance with the City’s Investment Policy, all of the City’s repurchase agreements are collateralized at 102.00% of the
market value of the portfolio by U.S. agency securities at the time of purchase. Collateral valuation is calculated and adjusted
at least once per week, and adjusted on an as needed basis. Collateral for all investments, including repurchase agreements,
are held in the City’s name by the City’s custodian, J.P. Morgan.

One City agency, the Office of Economic Development, owned repurchase agreements that are related to several bank
accounts at Vectra Bank in relation to its HUD Section 108 programs. The cash in these accounts is invested each nightin
repurchase agreements issued by Vectra. The amounts in these accounts are held in the City’s name and protected by the
PDPA. In addition, Vectra pledges securities that are direct obligations of the U.S. Government, at a minimum collateralized
value of 102.00% in compliance with HUD'’s investment requirements. The total repurchase agreements at December 31,
2015, were $121,000.

DERP has no formal policy for custodial credit risk. At December 31,2015, there were no investments or collateral securities
subject to custodial credit risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the City’s
investment in a single issuer. The City’s Investment Policy states that a maximum of 5.00% of the portfolio may be invested
in commercial paper, municipal securities, corporate debt obligations, certificates of deposit, asset-backed securities, or
mortgage-backed securities issued by any one obligor. The City’s Investment Policy states that a maximum of 10.00% of the
portfolio may be invested in an individual supranational obligor, local government investment pool, money market mutual
fund, or collateralized mortgage obligation. The City’s Investment Policy also limits investments in U.S. agency securities to
25.00% of total investments. The City’s Investment Policy limits concentrations even further with a combined maximum of
50.00% of the portfolio that can be invested in corporate debt obligations, commercial paper, and certificates of deposit as
well as a combined maximum of 20.00% of the portfolio that can be invested in structured products. As of December 31,
2015, all investments were in compliance with this policy. More than 5.00% of the City’s investments in U.S. agency securities
are in individual issuers: Federal Home Loan Bank (13.00%), Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation (7.00%), Federal
National Mortgage Association (10.00%), and Tennessee Valley Authority (5.00%).

The DERP Investment Policy mandates that no managed account may invest more than 5.00% of managed assets in the
securities of a single issuer. As of December 31, 2015, all DERP investments were in compliance with this policy.

Foreign Currency Risk. Foreign Currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect their value of an
investment or deposit. The City’s Investment Policy, excluding the DERP pension trust fund, does not allow for investments in
foreign currency. The DERP pension trust fund Investment Policy allows 18.50% to 30.0% of total investments to be invested
in international equities and 1.50% to 3.50% of total investments to be invested in international fixed income. The DERP
pension trust fund exposure to foreign currency risk as of December 31, 2015, is reflected in Table 9 (dollars in thousands).
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Table 9

Foreign Currency Equities Fixed Income Total
Australian Dollar S 13,418 - S 13,418
Brazilian Real 9,555 4,002 13,557
British Pound Sterling 67,295 2 67,297
Canadian Dollar 7,597 - 7,597
Chilean Peso 1,018 46 1,064
Chinese Yuan 39,032 18 39,050
Columbian Peso 439 3,007 3,446
Czech Koruna 799 - 799
Danish Krone 4,010 - 4,010
Egyptian Pound 141 - 141
Euro 104,858 = 104,858
Hong Kong Dollar 9,643 - 9,643
Hungarian Forint 1,504 2,686 4,190
Indian Rupee 12,220 - 12,220
Indonesian Rupiah 3,008 4,347 7,355
Japanese Yen 66,829 - 66,829
Malaysian Ringgit 3,196 4,663 7,859
Mexican Peso 4,528 4,753 9,281
New Israeli Shekel 3,213 - 3,213
New Zealand Dollar 1,099 - 1,099
Norwegian Krone 2,888 - 2,888
Peru Sole - 855 855
Philippine Peso 564 253 817
Polish Zloty 2,037 4,955 6,992
Qatari Riyal 956 - 956
Romanian Leu - 1,473 1,473
Russian Ruble 7,609 2,478 10,087
Singapore Dollar 6,202 - 6,202
South African Rand 10,465 4,236 14,701
South Korean Won 29,921 112 30,033
Swedish Krona 8,656 - 8,656
Swiss Franc 23,252 - 23,252
Taiwan Dollar 21,328 - 21,328
Thai Baht 6,192 4,356 10,548
Turkish Lira 3,713 3,771 7,484
United Arab Emiarti Dirham 1,504 - 1,504
Other 287 = 287

Total Foreign Deposits and Investments  $ 478,976 $ 46,013 $ 524,989

3. Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority (DCCHA). DCCHA's investments were not subject to custodial credit risk

at December 31, 2015, since they consisted solely of money market funds that are not evidenced by securities and are in

DCCHA’s name.

Denver Urban Renewal Authority (DURA). Although it does not have a formal policy to limit exposure to interest

rate risk, DURA limits the maximum maturity of investments. At December 31,2015, DURA’s investment balances and

maturities are shown in Table 10 (dollars in thousands).

Table 10
Investment Maturities in Years
Less

Investment Type Fair Value than 1 1-5
Money market funds S 52,058 S 52,058 S -
Local government investment pool 695 695 -
U.S. Treasury securities 24,591 115 24,476
U.S. agency securities 2,846 860 1,986
Corporate bonds 2,672 - 2,672
Structured products 280 - 280
Certificate of Deposit 374 - 374
Total $ 83,516 $ 53,728 $ 29,788
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5. Securities Lending. Although the City is authorized to enter into securities lending programs with certain qualified
dealers, it had no security lending transactions in 2015. Under this program investment securities owned by the City are
loaned to the dealer up to a maximum of one year in exchange for a predetermined fee. The City continues to receive
interest earnings on the loaned securities. The securities are collateralized by the dealer. The collateral is held in the City’s
name by J.P. Morgan, the City’s custodian. Collateral for these transactions is limited to permissible investments included
in the City’s Investment Policy with maturities not exceeding one year from the date of settlement. The initial market
value of the collateral for each investment position maintained with a dealer shall be 102.00% of the market value of the
securities being collateralized. Market value includes investment principal plus accrued interest. Collateral valuation
levels with each dealer must be determined on at least a weekly basis, and deficiencies from the required 102.00% level

must be cured no later than the following business day. The City had no securities on loan as of December 31, 2015.

The DERP pension trust fund participates in a securities lending program to augment income. The program is administered
by the DERP custodial agent bank, which lends certain securities for a predetermined period of time, to an independent
broker/dealer (borrower) in exchange for collateral. Collateral may be cash, U.S. Government securities, defined letters of
credit or other collateral approved by the DERP. Loans of domestic securities are initially collateralized at 102.00% of the fair
value of securities lent. Loans of international securities are initially collateralized at 105.00% of the fair value of securities
lent. The DERP continues to receive interest and dividends during the loan period as well as a fee from the borrower. There
are no restrictions on the amount of securities that can be lent at one time. The duration of securities lending loans generally
matches the maturation of the investments made with cash collateral. At December 31,2015, the fair value of underlying
securities lent was $322,971,000. The fair value of associated collateral was $336,193,000; of this amount, $232,667,000
represents the fair value of cash collateral and $103,526,000 is the fair value of non-cash collateral. The DERP pension trust
fund does not have the ability to pledge or sell non-cash collateral unless the borrower defaults, therefore it is not reported on

the financial statements.

Note B — RECEIVABLES

1 Accounts Receivables and Allowances. The City reviews its accounts receivables periodically and allowances for
doubtful accounts are established based upon management’s assessment of collection. Table 11 represents the

accounts receivables and allowances for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2015.

Table 11

Accounts Receivables and Allowances Summary
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

| Activities Busi type Activities Fiduciary Funds
Other Internal
Human Governmental Service Wastewater Denver Nonmajor Agency and
Receivable General Services Funds Funds Total Airport System Business-type Total DERP
Property taxes 5 118,693 $ 65,241 $ 215,473 $ = $ 399,407 $ - S - S - $ - $ 822,705
Other taxes 67,402 53 10,874 - 78,329 - - - - 9,437
Notes - - 3,859 - 3,859 = -
Accounts 8,132 11,487 9,204 1,347 30,170 14,525 51,379 2,721 68,625 2,971
Long-term accounts 64,483 = 39,735 = 104,218 = 10,409 2,000 12,409 =
Accrued interest 1,973 - 1,844 39 4213 391 7,915 155 8,461 1,816
Loans 10,712 = 138,602 = 149,314 = - - - -
Gross Receivable 271,395 76,781 419,591 1,743 769,510 14,916 69,703 4,876 89,495 836,929
Allowances (61,519) (372) (85,948) (147,839) (235) (328) (563) (4,412)

Net Receivable $ 209,876 $ 76,409 $ 333,643 $ 1,743 $ 621,671 $ 14,681 $ 69,375 $ 4,876 $ 88,932 $ 832,517
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2. Notes Receivable. The special revenue funds, General Fund, related organizations, and component unit notes receivable

balance at December 31, 2015, is shown in Table 12 (dollars in thousands).

Table 12
Percent of Total
Related Notes
December 31 Receivable
Neighborhood Development Loans $ 13,111 n/a
Economic Development Loans 34,564 n/a
Housing Development Loans 105,498 n/a
Total Office of Economic Development 153,173
Less allowances for delinquent loans (13,994) n/a
Less allowances for forgivable loans (77,731) n/a
Notes Receivable, Net $ 61,448
Denver Health and Hospital Park Hill Health Clinic $ 3,975 2.60%
Denver Housing Authority 6,807 4.44%
Total Related Organizations Notes Receivable $ 10,782 '
Denver Urban Renewal Authority $ 8,191 ! 5.35%

'Amounts included in the notes receivable balance above.

Allowance for uncollectibles for notes receivable of $91,725,000 is included in the accounts receivable allowance of
$147,839,000 in Table 11. The Neighborhood, Economic and Housing Development loans are funded from both federal U.S.
Housing and Urban Development grants and City monies designated for affordable housing. Recipients of affordable housing
loans target low and moderate income households, special needs and the homeless. Rental and occupancy covenants are
recorded on these properties for affordability periods of 20 years or more. Housing loans may be fully forgivable at the end

of the affordability period, due and payable in full, or due and payable based on occupancy rates or other conditions. The
Economic Development loans are made to qualified program recipients under the Community Development Block Grant to
provide business owners with funds to promote job creation and growth in targeted areas. Loans are collateralized by the

underlying properties.

3. Long-Term Receivables Allowance. Included in long-term receivables are amounts related to reimbursement for
construction costs, parking fines, court fines, and library fines. The City recorded an allowance for uncollectible accounts

for governmental activities of $54,140,000.

4. Operating Leases. The Denver Airport System leases portions of its Denver International Airport buildings and
improvements to concession tenants under non-cancelable operating leases. Lease terms vary from 1 to 30 years. The
operating leases require retail concessions to pay a minimum guarantee or percentage of gross receipts, whichever is
greater. Revenue from these operating leases of $82,155,000 was recognized in the Denver Airport System enterprise
fund during the year ended December 31, 2015. Minimum future rentals due from concessions under operating leases

are shown in Table 13 (dollars in thousands).
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Table 13

Year

2016 S 92,674
2017 47,677
2018 39,709
2019 35,930
2020 32,673
2021-2025 41,988
2026-2029 2,720
Total $ 293,371

The United Airlines lease provides it can be terminated by the airline if the airline’s cost per enplaned passenger exceeds $20
in 1990 dollars. Rental rates for airlines are established using the rate making methodology whereby a compensatory method
is used to set terminal rental rates and a residual method is used to set landing fees. Rentals, fees, and charges must generate

gross revenues together with other available funds sufficient to meet rate maintenance covenants per governing bond

ordinances.

Norte C - INTERFUND RecEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS

Tables 14 and 15 (dollars in thousands) reflect the City’s interfund balances as of December 31, 2015.

1.

Interfund Payables/Receivables.

Table 14
Payable Fund
General Human N Denver Nonmajor Internal

Receivable Fund Fund Services Governmental M t  Airport System Business-type Service Total
General Fund $ - $ 1,158 $ 5,407 $ 564 $ 5,101 $ 73 $ 133 $ 12,436
Nonmajor Governmental 4 1,302 1 - 23 - - 1,330
Wastewater Management = = = 373 = 373
Denver Airport System - 61 - - - 61
Internal Service 32 = = = = 32
Nonmajor Business-type - - 3 - - - - 3
Total $ 36 $ 2,460 $ 5,472 $ 564 $ 5,497 $ 73 $ 133 $ 14,235

These balances result from the time lag between the dates that interfund goods and services are provided or reimbursable

expenditures occur, transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and payments between funds are made. In addition,

some balances result from the overdraft of cash balances in the payable funds.

Transfers.

Table 15

Transfers Out

General Human Nonmajor Wastewater Nonmajor Internal
Transfers In Fund Services Governmental Management Business-type Service Total
General Fund $ S $ 1,500 $ 51,269 $ = $ 2,000 $ 1,597 $ 56,366
Human Services 75 - - - - - $ 75
Nonmajor Governmental 126,132 75 23,504 25 250 - S 149,986
Total $ 126,207 $ 1,575 $ 74,773 $ 25 $ 2,250 $ 1,597 $ 206,427

Transfers are used to move revenues from the fund in which the City budget requires collection to the fund required to

expend the monies, and to move unrestricted revenues collected in the General Fund to finance various activities accounted

for in other funds.
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Note D - CaPIiTAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2015, are shown in Tables 16 and 17.

1.

Governmental Activities.

Table 16

Governmental Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

January 1 Additions Deletions Transfers December 31
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and land rights $ 292,940 $ 17,989 $ (598) - $ 310,331
Construction in progress 46,561 35,194 - (29,842) 51,913
Total capital assets not being depreciated 339,501 53,183 (598) (29,842) 362,244
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 2,359,329 25,479 (1,606) 15,673 2,398,875
Equipment and other 329,002 53,181 (62,280) 1,064 320,967
Collections 46,661 5,741 (12,168) 2,066 42,300
Intangibles 13,603 19,715 - 1,717 35,035
Infrastructure 1,492,576 35,239 (472) 9,322 1,536,665
Total capital assets being depreciated 4,241,171 139,355 (76,526) 29,842 4,333,842
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (722,192) (63,908) 751 - (785,349)
Equipment and other (266,475) (19,947) 46,958 - (239,464)
Collections (28,083) (5,780) 12,167 - (21,696)
Intangibles (5,545) (23,009) - - (28,554)
Infrastructure (705,861) (50,305) 472 - (755,694)
Total accumulated depreciation (1,728,156) (162,949) 60,348 - (1,830,757)
Total capital assets being depreciated, net 2,513,015 (23,594) (16,178) 29,842 2,503,085
Governmental Activities Capital Assets, net $ 2,852,516 $ 29,589 $ (16,776) - $ 2,865,329
Business-type Activities.
Table 17
Business-type Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)
January 1 Additions Deletions Transfers December 31
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and land rights $ 323,262 $ - S - 4,438 S 327,700
Construction in progress 687,150 314,104 (3,918) (445,882) 551,454
Total capital assets not being depreciated 1,010,412 314,104 (3,918) (441,444) 879,154
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 2,103,163 14 (357) 242,852 2,345,672
Improvements other than buildings 3,075,746 8,044 (2,693) 161,262 3,242,359
Machinery and equipment 792,298 17,613 (9,346) 37,330 837,895
Total capital assets being depreciated 5,971,207 25,671 (12,396) 441,444 6,425,926
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (1,072,031) (55,053) - - (1,127,084)
Improvements other than buildings (1,296,414) (84,437) 9,234 - (1,371,617)
Machinery and equipment (685,978) (42,830) 1,969 - (726,839)
Total accumulated depreciation (3,054,423) (182,320) 11,203 - (3,225,540)
Total capital assets being depreciated, net 2,916,784 (156,649) (1,193) 441,444 3,200,386
Business-type Activities Capital Assets, net $ 3,927,196 $ 157,455 $ (5,111) - $ 4,079,540

Note: Interest costs of $47,985 were capitalized during 2015.
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3. Discretely Presented Component Units. Capital Asset activity for the Denver Convention Center Hotel Authority,

Denver Union Station Project Authority, and Denver Urban Renewal Authority component units is shown in Table 18.

Table 18

Discretely Presented Component Units
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Additions
January 1 and Transfers Deletions December 31
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and land rights S 23,421 S - - S 23,421
Construction in progress 129 3,359 (3,284) 204
Total capital assets not being depreciated 23,550 3,359 (3,284) 23,625
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 237,359 12,446 - 249,805
Machinery and equipment 37,887 - (10,653) 27,234
Total capital assets being depreciated 275,246 12,446 (10,653) 277,039
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (52,693) (7,544) 312 (59,925)
Machinery and equipment (25,146) (2,955) 2,065 (26,036)
Total accumulated depreciation (77,839) (10,499) 2,377 (85,961)
Total capital assets being depreciated, net 197,407 1,947 (8,276) 191,078
Discretely Presented Component Units
Capital Assets, net $ 220,957 $ 5,306 (11,560) $ 214,703

'Excludes net capital assets of $17,387 of Other Component Units.

Depreciation Expense. Depreciation expense that was charged to governmental activities' functions is shown in Table

19 (dollars in thousands).

Table 19

General government S
Public safety

Public works, including depreciation of infrastructure

Human services

Health

Parks and recreation

Cultural activities

Community development

Capital assets held by internal service funds

Total $

Construction Commitments. The City’s governmental and business-type activities have entered into construction and

professional services contracts having remaining commitments under contract as of December 31, 2015, as shown in

Table 20 (dollars in thousands).

Table 20

Governmental Activities:
Winter Park Capital $ 1,462
Capital Improvements 50,348
Conservation Trust 5,162
Bond Projects 26,359
Other Capital Projects 24,406
Entertainment and Culture 1,125

Total Governmental Activities $ 108,862

Business-type Activities:
Wastewater Management S 17,900
Denver Airport System 118,620
Total Business-type Activities $ 136,520

20,980
17,768
75,930
1,022
467
15,494
31,065
56

167

162,949

1

71



72 City AND CounTY OF DENVER NoTes To BAsic FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The commitments for these funds are not reflected in the accompanying financial statements. Only the unpaid amounts

incurred to date for these contracts are included as liabilities in the financial statements.

NortE E — Lease OBLIGATIONS

1. Capitalized Leases. The governmental activities capital leases are for various properties including the Wellington Webb
Municipal Office Building, 2000 West Third Avenue Wastewater building, Arie PTaylor Building, the Denver office building
at 200 W. 14th Ave,, District 1, 2, 3, and 5 Police Stations, Fire Station #10, certain Human Services facilities, the Buell
Theatre, the 5440 Roslyn maintenance facility property, and the public parking unit within the Cultural Center parking
garage. The capital leases also include certain computer software and network equipment, and public works, safety, and

parks and recreation equipment.

The City provided funding for the construction of parking facilities adjacent to the Denver Museum of Nature and Sciences
(DMNS) the Denver Zoo, and the Denver Botanic Gardens (DBG) from proceeds of certificates of participation (COP)
financings. Under separate agreements, the DMNS, the Denver Zoological Foundation Inc., and DBG agreed to increase
their admission charges and provide a portion of their admission revenues to help make the COP lease payments. In 2015,
the DMNS collected and remitted $578,000 to the City to be applied to the lease payments. The Zoo collected and remitted
$642,000. DBG collected and deposited $600,000 with a trustee to be applied to lease payments.

In addition to base rental payments, the lease agreement related to the Wellington Webb Municipal Office Building requires
the City to make all payments for any swap agreements relating to the Series 2008A Certificates of Participation (COPs)
entered into by the lessor. There are 3 swap agreements considered to be hybrid instruments embedded in the lease. See

Note llI-G-7 for detailed information regarding swaps.

The related net book values of plant and equipment under capital lease obligations as of December 31, 2015, are shown in

Table 21 (dollars in thousands).

Table 21
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities
Buildings $ 296,138 $ =
Equipment 33,606 1,746
Land 16,667 -
Less accumulated depreciation (118,774) (988)
Net Book Value $ 227,637 $ 758

Table 22 (dollars in thousands) is a schedule by year of future minimum lease obligations together with the present value of

the net minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2015.

Table 22

Governmental Business-type
Year Activities Activities
2016 $ 38,976 $ 1,397
2017 43,103 1,124
2018 39,844 1,163
2019 40,233 838
2020 36,371 875
2021 - 2025 145,733 3,829
2026 - 2030 130,486 -
2031-2034 47,642 -
Total minimum lease payments 522,388 9,226
Less amounts representing interest (118,833) (1,047)

Present Value of Minimum Lease Payments $ 403,555 $ 8,179
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2. Operating Leases. The City is committed under various cancelable leases for property and equipment. These leases are
considered for accounting purposes to be operating leases. Lease expenses for the year ended December 31, 2015, were
approximately $4,490,000, for governmental activities and $1,406,000 for business-type activities. The City expects these
leases to be replaced in the ordinary course of business with similar leases. Future minimum lease payments should be

approximately the same amount.

Norte F - RaTEs AND CHARGES

The Denver Airport System establishes annually, as adjusted semi-annually, airline facility rentals, landing fees, and other charges

sufficient to recover the costs of operations, maintenance, and debt service related to the airfield and space utilized by the airlines.

Any differences between amounts collected and actual costs allocated to the airline’s leased space are credited or billed to the
airlines. As of December 31, 2015, the Denver Airport System has accrued a liability of $3,150,000 for such amounts due to the

airlines.

For the years ended December 31, 2001 through 2005, 75.00% of net revenues (as defined by bond ordinance) remaining at
the end of each year is to be credited in the following year to the passenger airlines signatory to use and lease agreements; and
thereafter it is 50.00%, capped at $40,000,000. The net revenues credited to the airlines for the year ended December 31, 2015
were $40,000,000 and have been accrued as a liability at year end.

Note G — LonG-Term DEBT

1. General Obligation Bonds. The City issues general obligation bonds to provide for the acquisition and construction of
major capital facilities. General obligation bonds have been issued for both governmental and business-type activities.
General obligation bonds are reported in the proprietary funds if they are expected to be repaid from proprietary fund

revenues.

General obligation bonds are direct obligations and pledge the full faith and credit of the City. These bonds are generally
issued as 15 to 20-year serial bonds, except for refunding issues. General obligation bonds outstanding, excluding
unamortized premium of $21,337,000, at December 31, 2015, are $815,676,000. Interest rates vary from 2.30% to 5.65% with
a net interest cost of 1.53% to 6.77%.

General obligation bonds have been issued by the Gateway Village General Improvement District (GID) and the Denver 14th
Street GID; however, these bonds are solely the obligation of the Districts and not the primary government. As of December
31,2015, there are bonds outstanding in the amount of $500,000 for the Gateway GID and $3,630,000 for the Denver 14th
Street GID.

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are shown in Table 23 (dollars in thousands).

Table 23
Governmental Activities
General Government General Improvement District

Year Principal ' Interest ° Principal Interest
2016 $ 54,270 $ 36,759 $ 595 $ 273
2017 56,825 34,144 105 248
2018 59,930 31,675 110 240
2019 47,930 29,081 120 232
2020 49,775 27,147 130 224
2021 - 2025 268,736 119,009 780 973
2026 - 2030 278,210 52,684 1,100 658
2031-2034 - - 1,190 215
Total $ 815,676 $ 330,499 $ 4,130 $ 3,063

'Does not include $4,463 and $762 of compound interest on the Series 2007 and 2014A mini-bonds respectively or unamortized premium of $21,337.
’Excludes Build America Bonds interest subsidy. The City is eligible to receive $72 million over the remaining life of its Direct Pay Build America Bonds
to subsidize interest payments.
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Revenue Bonds. The City and component units issue bonds and notes where income derived from acquired or
constructed assets is pledged to pay debt service. Certain Airport system revenue bonds are subject to mandatory
redemption requirements in 2015, and subsequent years. Revenue bonds outstanding, excluding unamortized premium
(net of discount) of $138,233,000, for the primary government, at December 31, 2015, are shown in Table 24 (dollars in

thousands).

Table 24

Purpose Net Interest Cost Interest Rates Amount
Excise tax refunding 2.93% to 5.42% 5.00% to 6.00% S 171,365
Wastewater Management 241% 3.00% to 5.00% 40,710
Golf Enterprise 4.80% 4.70% to 5.00% 2,970
Denver Airport System 1.42% to 6.76% 0.370% to 6.414% 4,112,490
Total primary government 4,327,535
DCCHA component unit 4.125% to 5.25% 329,475
Total $ 4,657,010

Revenue bonds’ debt service requirements to maturity are shown in Tables 25 and 26 (dollars in thousands).

Table 25
Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
Golf Enterprise Wastewater Management Denver Airport System
Principal ' Interest Principal ? Interest Principal Interest Principal * Interest

2016 $ 18,120 $ 9,451 S 540 $ 145 $ 2,850 S 1,478 $ 170,550 $ 166,385
2017 18,965 8,500 565 120 2,995 1,336 172,120 158,416
2018 19,810 7,552 590 92 3,105 1,216 190,655 150,491
2019 20,750 6,512 620 62 3,225 1,092 195,140 143,261
2020 20,090 5,422 655 31 3,340 963 200,405 136,847
2021-2025 73,630 9,007 - - 11,970 3,013 1,272,180 563,750
2026 - 2030 = o © 9,165 1,463 887,355 351,134
2031-2035 - - - 4,060 189 563,295 183,650
2036 - 2040 - - - - - 303,205 83,335
2041 -2043 - - - - - - 157,585 14,914
Total $ 171,365 $ 46,444 $ 2,970 $ 450 $ 40,710 $ 10,750 $ 4,112,490 $ 1,952,183
'Does not include unamortized premium of $4,738.

Does not include unamortized premium of $3.

*Does not include unamortized premium of $4,613.

“Does not include unamortized premium of $128,879.

Table 26

Component Unit
DCCHA

Year Principal ' Interest

2016 $ 6,110 S 16,298

2017 6,710 16,032

2018 7,380 15,706

2019 8,045 15,392

2020 9,270 14,990

2021-2025 59,940 66,970

2026 - 2030 87,230 49,547

2031-2035 144,790 24,572

Total $ 329,475 $ 219,507

"Does not include unamortized premium of $5,324.
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The City has pledged future facilities development admission tax and occupational privilege tax for payment of debt service
on $28,245,000 of Series 2003 Excise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds issued in April 2003. The bonds were issued for the
purpose of refunding outstanding excise tax revenue bonds that financed the construction of the Colorado Convention
Center. Over the past 10 years annual net revenues available for debt service have averaged $52,428,000. In 2015, debt
service paid and net revenue available for debt service was $3,054,000 and $60,862,000, respectively. The bonds matured in
November 2015.

In January 2000, the City increased the tax rate on its lodger’s tax and short term auto rental tax. The City has pledged the
increase portion of those taxes for debt service on $149,190,000 of Series 2005A Excise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds issued
in August 2005, and $73,630,000 of Series 2009A Excise Tax Revenue Refunding Bonds issued in May 2009. The bonds were
issued for the purpose of refunding bonds that financed the expansion of the Colorado Convention Center and are payable
through 2023. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $217,809,000, with annual combined debt
service requirements ranging from $25,512,000 to $27,571,000. Over the past 10 years annual net revenues available for debt
service have averaged $46,365,000. In 2015, debt service paid and net revenue available for debt service was $27,165,000 and
$64,699,000, respectively. The revenue available figures include excess revenues that were pledged to the 2009B bonds, and
may be used for debt service on the 2005A and 2009A bonds if revenues from the increase are insufficient.

The City, through its Department of Aviation, has pledged future Airport System Net Revenues, as defined in the 1984 Airport
System General Bond Ordinance as supplemented and amended and the 1990 Airport System Subordinate Bond Ordinance
as supplemented and amended. The $4,112,490,000 of outstanding bonds were issued for the purpose of financing capital
projects at the airport and for refinancing earlier bond issues and have maturities ranging from 2016 to 2043. The total
principal and estimated interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $6,064,673,000. Over the past 10 years annual net
revenues available for debt service have averaged $427,661,000. In 2015, debt service paid and net revenue available for debt
service was $368,700,000 and $481,735,000, respectively.

Included in the Airport’s System’s revenue bonds are $34,900,000 of Series 1992F-G; $28,200,000 of Series 2002C, $61,700,000
of Series 2008B, $92,600,000 of Series 2008C1, $200,000,000 of Series 2008C2-C3, $104,655,000 of Series 2009C, and
$131,500,000 of Series 2007G1-G2 which bear interest at flexible, daily, or weekly rates and are subject to mandatory
redemption upon conversion of the interest rate to a different rate type or rate period. If the bonds are in a daily, weekly or

monthly mode, the bonds are subject to purchase on demand of the holder at a price of par plus accrued interest.

The City, through its Wastewater Management Division, has pledged future income from its storm drainage and sanitary
sewerage facilities, net of operating expenses, for debt service on $50,425,000 of Series 2012 Wastewater Revenue Bonds
issued in January 2012. The bonds were issued for the purpose of refunding the remaining $20,350,000 of Series 2002
Wastewater Revenue Bonds outstanding and to finance improvements to the storm drainage facilities. The total principal and
interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $51,460,000, with annual requirements ranging from $2,123,000 to $4,331,000.
Over the past 10 years annual net revenues available for debt service have averaged $20,464,000. In 2015, debt service paid
and net revenue available for debt service was $4,329,000 and $33,363,000, respectively.

The City, through its Golf Division, has pledged future income from its golf facilities, net of operating expenses, for debt
service on $7,365,000 of Series 2005 Golf Enterprise Revenue Bonds issued in March 2006. The bonds were issued for the
purpose of financing the construction of certain golf facilities of the City and are payable through 2020. The total principal
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and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $3,420,000, with annual requirements of approximately $684,000. Over the
past 10 years annual net revenues available for debt service have averaged $1,477,000. In 2015, debt service paid and net

revenue available for debt service was $684,000 and $912,000, respectively.

For detailed information on individual bond issues see Other Supplementary Schedules - Combined Schedule of Bonds

Payable and Escrows.

3. Other Debt. DURA component unit note payable and tax increment bonds, exclusive of unamortized premium of
$32,087,000 at December 31, 2015, are comprised of the following individual issues shown in Table 27 (dollars in

thousands).

Table 27

Purpose Interest Rates Amount
Series 2007 5.25% ' $ 1,550
Series 2010B-1 3.00% - 5.00% 67,700
Series 2013A-1 5.00% 139,540
Series 2013D-2 3.93% 8,010
Series 2014D-2 4.10% - 4.19% 56,400
Note payable 2.00% 4,953
Total $ 278,153

'Fixed rate through 2016, then converts to variable

Debt service requirements to maturity for DURA’s bond issues are shown in Table 28 (dollars in thousands).

Table 28

Year Principal Interest
2016 $ 20,682 $ 13,361
2017 25,485 12,778
2018 30,729 11,665
2019 26,909 9,394
2020 21,265 8,011
2021 -2025 148,130 23,915
Total $ 273,200 $ 79,124

Debt service for DURA's note, payable to the City, is dependent on the availability of tax increment financing (TIF) revenue.
Due to the uncertainty of this revenue the payments cannot be estimated. Payments will be made quarterly on the 10th of

January, April, June and October, and will consist of the entirety of DURA's receipt of TIF revenues.

4. Indentures and Reporting Requirements. The City is subject to a number of limitations and restrictions contained in
various indentures. Such limitations and covenants include: continued collection of pledged revenues, segregation of
pledged revenues, and maintenance of specified levels of bond reserve funds, permissible investment of bond proceeds
and pledged revenues, and ongoing disclosure to the secondary bond market in accordance with the Securities and

Exchange Commission’s Rule 15¢2-12. The City is in compliance with all significant covenants.
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5. Notes payable. The Airport System entered into a Master Installment Purchase Agreements on March 15, 2004, with
GE Capital Public Finance Inc. for $13,000,000, to finance various capital equipment purchases at rates and terms of
3.64% based on a 30/360 calculation for 2004. Payments are due quarterly to GE Capital Public Finance. The Airport
System entered into Master Installment Purchase Agreements on October 26, 2006. These include an agreement with
Koch Financial Corporation for $23,000,000 and an agreement with GE Capital Public Finance for $9,000,000. These
transactions will finance capital equipment purchases at rates and terms of 4.34% and 4.16% based on a 30/360
calculation for 2007. The Airport System entered into a $20,500,000 Master Installment Purchase Agreement with
Sovereign Leasing, LLC on January 10, 2012, to finance capital equipment purchases, at a rate of 1.96% based on a 30/360
calculation for 2012. The Airport System entered into an Installment Purchase Agreement on January 9, 2015 with Banc of
America Public Capital Corp for $1,800,000 to finance various capital equipment purchases at a rate of 1.17%. Payments
are due annually. The payment schedules relating to the note requirements as of December 31, 2015, are shown in Table

29 (dollars in thousands).

Table 29
Denver International Airport

Year Principal Interest
2016 $ 4,893 $ 292
2017 2,508 206
2018 2,569 165
2019 2,139 124
2020 2,181 81
2021-2022 2,787 41
Total $ 17,077 $ 9209

The City has a note payable with JP Morgan Chase Bank of New York in the amount of $1,431,000 as of December 31, 2015.
This represents Housing and Urban Development (HUD) loans that are due regardless of amounts received from borrowers.

6. Changes in Long-term Liabilities. Long-term liability activity for the year ended December 31, 2015, is shown in Tables
30 and 31 (dollars in thousands).

Table 30
January 1 Due within
Governmental Activities (as restated) Additions Deletions December 31 one year
Legal liability $ 6,413 $ 1,462 $ 2,660 $ 5,215 $ 1,291
Compensated absences:
Classified service employees - 3,164 94,439 27,046 23,226 98,259 4,573
Career Service employees - 5,912 47,448 29,841 29,342 47,947 3,867
Net other postemployment benefit obligation 13,148 2,491 - 15,639 -
Net pension liability 770,249 122,321 82,601 809,969 -
Claims payable 31,471 7,570 9,592 29,449 9,808
General obligation bonds' 871,688 1,183 51,970 820,901 54,270
GID general obligation bonds 4,535 - 405 4,130 595
Excise tax revenue bonds 191,150 - 19,785 171,365 18,120
Capitalized lease obligations 406,491 22,955 25,891 403,555 25,022
Unamortized premium 37,948 1,422 8,290 31,080 -
Intergovernmental agreement 3,182 - 591 2,591 623
Other governmental funds - note payable 7,456 - 6,025 1,431 -
Total Governmental Activities $ 2,485,618 $ 216,291 $ 260,378 $ 2,441,531 $ 118,169

'Additions to general obligation bonds represent mini-bond accretion of $1,183. Ending balance includes compound interest from the 2007 and
2014A mini-bonds of $5,225.
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Table 31
January 1 Due within
(as restated) Additions Deletions December 31 one year
Business-type Activities
Wastewater Management
Revenue bonds $ 43,425 $ - $ 2,715 $ 40,710 S 2,850
Unamortized premium 4,887 - 274 4,613 -
Net pension liability 23,895 3,140 1,956 25,079 -
Capitalized lease obligations 7,419 - 562 6,857 579
Notes payable - - - - -
Compensated absences 3,100 40 9 3,131 883
Other long-term liabilities - - - - -
Total Wastewater Management 82,726 3,180 5,516 80,390 4,312
Denver Airport System:
Revenue bonds 4,284,025 195,940 367,475 4,112,490 170,550
Unamortized premium 153,213 - 24,334 128,879 -
Net pension liability 98,437 25,672 9,109 115,000 -
Notes payable 20,987 1,846 5,756 17,077 4,893
Compensated absences 8,903 4,009 3,841 9,071 2,337
Total Denver Airport System 4,565,565 227,467 410,515 4,382,517 177,780
Nonmajor enterprise funds:
Revenue bonds 3,485 - 515 2,970 540
Unamortized net premium 8 - 5 3 -
Net pension liability 7,455 1,681 671 8,465 -
Capitalized lease obligations 1,926 - 604 1,322 614
Compensated absences 1,188 544 507 1,225 406
Total nonmajor enterprise funds 14,062 2,225 2,302 13,985 1,560
Total Business-type Activities $ 4,662,353 $ 232,872 $ 418,333 $ 4,476,892 $ 183,652
Major Component Units:
Revenue bonds’ $ 340,708 S - S 5,909 S 334,799 S 6,110
Increment bonds and notes payableZ 633,320 107,965 103,566 637,719 23,129
Compensated absences 156 117 107 166 -
Total Major Component Units $ 974,184 $ 108,082 $ 109,582 $ 972,684 $ 29,239

"Includes unamortized premium of $5,324.
2Includes unamortized premium of $32,087.

The legal liability, compensated absences, net other post employment benefit (OPEB) obligation and other accrued liabilities
in the governmental activities are generally liquidated by the General Fund. The other governmental funds include a note
payable liquidated by the Community Development special revenue fund and a claims payable liquidated by the Workers’
Compensation internal service fund. The amount available for long-term debt in the debt service funds and in the special
revenue fund was $75,358,000.

7. Swap Agreements. Included in the City’s governmental activities are three derivatives that are embedded in the City’s
certificated lease for the Webb Municipal Office Building. The intent of the three pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate
swaps is to protect against rising interest rates on the variable rate 2008A Certificates of Participation (COPs). In 2003,
Civic Center Office Building, Inc., the lessor, entered into two swap agreements with JP Morgan, associated with the
2003C1 and 2003C2 COPs, and one swap agreement with Lehman Brothers that was associated with the 2003C3 COPs.
In October 2008, due to the deteriorating credit rating of the insurer (AMBAC), the outstanding COPs were refunded by
the Series 2008A1-A3 Refunding Certificates of Participation, terminating the three swaps. To maintain the interest rate
hedge related to the lease payments, the derivative instruments with JP Morgan were amended and new swaps were
entered into that were associated with the 2008A1 and 2008A2 COPs. The derivative instrument with Lehman Brothers
was terminated and replaced with an agreement with Royal Bank of Canada (RBC). A new swap was initiated under the
RBC agreement that was associated with the 2008A3 COPs. At the time of termination of the 2003 swaps, the JP Morgan
swaps had negative fair values, and no termination payments were made. In addition to a termination payment made
to Lehman Brothers by the City, an up-front payment of $475,000 was received from RBC at the initiation of the 2008
replacement swap. These events resulted in off-market components of the swaps that are being treated as implied loans

for accounting purposes and are being amortized through investment revenues over the life of the new hedges.
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As of December 31, 2015, all three swaps are effective cash flow hedges and the fair values and changes in fair values are
reported in the government-wide Statement of Net Position as deferred outflows of governmental activities. The combined
fair market value of the three swaps as of December 31, 2015 was ($38,828,000). The year-end fair values were calculated
using the mid-market LIBOR swap curves as of December 31, 2015. The fair values represent the difference between the
present value of the fixed payments and the present value of the floating payments, at forward floating rates as of December
31,2015. When the present value of payments to be made by the City exceeds the present value of payments to be received,
the swap has a negative value to the City. When the present value of payments to be received by the City exceeds that of

payments to be made, the swap has a positive value to the City.

Table 32 provides the swap associated debt rates as of December 31, 2015.

Table 32

Swap 2008A1 2008A2 2008A3
Associated debt 2008A1 COP 2008A2 COP 2008A3 COP
Fixed payment to counterparty 3.400% 3.400% 3.130%
Variable payment from counterparty (68% LIBOR) (0.224%) (0.224%) (0.224%)
Net swap interest rate 3.176% 3.176% 2.906%
Variable-rate certificate coupon payment 0.010% 0.010% 0.010%
Net swap and certificate rate 3.186% 3.186% 2.916%

As rates vary, lease interest payments and net swap payments will vary. As of December 31, 2015, lease payment
requirements of the related variable rate COPs and the net swap payments, assuming current rates remain the same, for their

terms, are summarized in Table 33 (dollars in thousands).

Table 33
Interest Rate

Year Principal Interest Swaps Net Total
2018 9,235 21 7,421 16,677
2019 9,805 20 7,032 16,857
2020 10,410 19 6,685 17,114
2021 - 2025 62,510 18 27,473 90,001
2026 - 2030 81,625 12 15,056 96,693
2031 -2033 38,000 4 1,262 39,266
Total $ 228,470 $ 139 $ 77,847 $ 306,456

Table 34 (dollars in thousands) provides the fair values and the 2015 changes in fair value of the on-market and the implied
loan portions of the swaps as of December 31, 2015, and the accounting classifications of the changes in fair value for the year
then ended.

Table 34
Effective Notional  Termination Associated Fair Values Changein
Counterparty Date Amount Date Debt Series 12/31/15 Fair Value Classification
2008A1 Swap Agreements
JP Morgan Chase Bank 7/17/03  $ 80,470 12/1/29 2008A1 COP S (11,781 $ 448 Deferred outflow
S 263 Investment revenue
2008A2 Swap Agreements
JP Morgan Chase Bank 7/17/03 67,865 12/1/29 2008A2 COP (9,934) 378 Deferred outflow
222 Investment revenue
2008A3 Swap Agreements
Royal Bank of Canada 10/1/08 87,940 12/1/31 2008A3 COP (17,113) (372) Deferred outflow
20 Investment revenue
Total $ 236,275 $ (38,828) $ 454 $ 505

Note: Certain City derivatives have been reported as investment derivatives in accordance with the provisions of GASB 53. Additionally, investment income on
these derivatives has also been recognized in accordance with GASB 53. The City does not enter into derivative transactions for investment purposes, nor does
the City Charter allow for the investment in derivative investments.
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The risk involved in the three swaps flows through the lease from Civic Center Office Building, Inc. (the “lessor”) to the City.

The following risks are generally associated with swap agreements:

Credit risk - All of the governmental activity swaps rely on the performance of the respective swap counterparties. The City

is exposed to the risk of these counterparties being unable to fulfill their financial obligations to the lessor. The City measures
the extent of the risk based on the credit ratings of each counterparty and the fair value of the swap agreement. As of
December 31, 2015, there was no risk of loss to the City, as the swap agreements had negative fair values. The credit ratings of

the counterparties as of December 31, 2015 are shown in Table 35.

Table 35
Ratings of the Counterparty or
Counterparty (Credit Support Provider) its Credit Support Provider
S&P Moody's Fitch
JP Morgan Chase Bank A+ Aa3 A+
Royal Bank of Canada AA- Aa3 AA

«  Termination risk — Any party to these swap agreements may terminate the swap if the other party fails to perform
under the terms of the contract. Additionally, the lessor may terminate any of the swap agreements at any time
at its sole discretion. If the swap had a negative fair value at the time of termination the City could be liable to the
counterparty for a termination payment equal to the fair market value of the swap. If any of the swaps were terminated,

the associated variable rate certificates would no longer have the benefit of the interest rate hedge.

« Interest rate risk - The City is exposed to interest rate risk on the swaps. In regards to the pay fixed, receive variable
swaps, as the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) index rate decreases, the City’s net payments on the swaps

increase.

«  Basisrisk - The City pays interest at variable rates on the COPs associated with the swaps. Each of the swap agreements
provide for the applicable counterparty to make variable rate payments based on the LIBOR index. To the extent that

the variable rate paid on the certificates is different than the rate received from the counterparties based on LIBOR, there

may be a net loss or benefit to the City.

The Airport System has entered into interest rate swap agreements in order to protect against rising interest rates. The 1998,
1999 and 2009A swap agreements are pay fixed, receive variable rate, cash flow hedges, with the variable payment from

the counterparty based on the USD-SIFMA Municipal Swap Index and the variable rate of the bonds. The rest of the Airport
System’s swap agreements are considered investment derivatives as defined by GASB 53. Table 36 provides a profile of the

terms of the Airport’s swap agreements (all rates as of December 31, 2015).

Table 36
1999, 2002 2005 2006A

SWAP 2009A 2006B 2008A 1998 2008B

2002C, 2008B 2006A, 2008C1
Associated Debt 2009C 2007D 2002C, 2007F-G 2008C2-C3 2002C
Payment to counterparty 5.613% 3.794% 4.009% 4.740% 4.760%
Payment from counterparty (0.338%) (4.386%) (0.301%) (0.401%) (0.529%)
Net swap interest rate 5.275% -0.592% 3.708% 4.339% 4.231%
Associated bond interest rate 1.046% 4.961% 0.795% 0.928% 0.912%
Net swap and bond rate 6.321% 4.369% 4.503% 5.267% 5.143%
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As rates vary, variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary. As of December 31, 2015, debt service
requirements of the related variable rate debt and net swap payments for the Airport System’s cash flow hedges (1998, 1999
and 2009A swap agreements), assuming current interest rates remain the same, for their terms, are reflected in Table 37

(dollars in thousands).

Table 37
Interest Rate

Year Principal Interest Swaps Net Total
2016 $ 3,300 $ 3,943 $ 19,546 $ 26,789
2017 5,200 3,912 19,546 28,658
2018 8,300 3,867 19,545 31,712
2019 43,155 3,780 17,791 64,726
2020 46,385 3,348 14,258 63,991
2021 - 2025 187,585 10,425 24,663 222,673
2026 - 2030 87,085 3,692 = 90,777
2031 18,990 194 - 19,184
Total $ 400,000 $ 33,161 $ 115,349 $ 548,510

Variable Rate Bonds and Swap payments are calculated using rates in effect on December 31, 2015.

Table 38 (dollars in thousands) provides a summary of the Airport’s interest rate swap transactions as of December 31, 2015.

Table 38
Bond/Swap Variable
Effective Notional Termination Associated Payable Receivable Changes in Fair Value Fair Values
Counterparty Date Amount Date Debt Series Swap Rate Swap Rate Classification Amount December 31
Hedging Derivatives
1998 Swap Agreements
Goldman Sachs Capital Markets, L.P. 10/4/00 $ 100,000 11/15/25 2008C2-C3 4.7600% 70% LIBOR + 0.10% Deferred outflow $ 425 $ (21,578)
Investment income (2,342)
Societe Generale, New York Branch 10/4/00 100,000 11/15/25 2008C2-C3 4.7190% 70% LIBOR + 0.10% Deferred outflow 425 (21,319)
Investment income (2,307)
1999 Swap Agreements
Goldman Sachs Capital Markets, L.P. 10/4/01 100,000 11/1/22 ! 5.6179% SIFMA Deferred outflow 386 (22,390
Investment income (2611)
Merrill Lynch Capital Services, Inc. 10/4/01 50,000 11/1/22 ! 5.5529% SIFMA Deferred outflow 194 (11,035)
Investment income (1,277)
2009A Swap Agreements
Loop Financial Products I, LLC 1/12/10 50,000 11/15/22 ! 5.6229% SIFMA Deferred outflow (158) (11,208)
Investment income (957)
Investment Derivatives
2002 Swap Agreements
Goldman Sachs Capital Markets, L.P. 4/15/02 100,000 11/1/22 ! SIFMA 76.33% LIBOR Investment income (794) 665
2005 Swap Agreements
Royal Bank of Canada 11/15/06 54,114 11/15/25 2006A/2007D 3.6560% 70% LIBOR Investment income (751) (7,908)
JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. 11/15/06 54,114 11/15/25 2006A/2007D 3.6874% 70% LIBOR Investment income (766) (8,012)
Jackson Financial Products, LLC 11/15/06 108,228 11/15/25 2006A/2007D 3.6560% 70% LIBOR Investment income (1,501) (15,816)
Piper Jaffray Financial Products, Inc. 11/15/06 54,114 11/15/25 2006A/2007D 3.6560% 70% LIBOR Investment income (751) (7,908)
2006A Swap Agreements
JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. 11/15/07 151,100 11/15/25 2007F-G/2014A 2 4.0085% 70% LIBOR Investment income (3,066) (23,389)
GKB Financial Services Corp. 11/15/07 50,367 11/15/25 2007F-G/2014A * 4.0085% 70% LIBOR Investment income (1,022) (7,796)
2006B Swap Agreements
Royal Bank of Canada 11/15/06 54,114 11/15/25 2006A SIFMA 4.0855% Investment income 207,819 9,123
JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. 11/15/06 54,114 11/15/25 2006A SIFMA 4.0855% Investment income 207,819 9,123
Jackson Financial Products, LLC 11/15/06 108,228 11/15/25 2006A SIFMA 4.0855% Investment income 415,639 18,247
Piper Jaffray Financial Products, Inc. 11/15/06 54,114 11/15/25 2006A SIFMA 4.0855% Investment income 207,819 9,123
2008A Swap Agreements
Royal Bank of Canada 12/18/08 100,733 11/15/25 2007F-G2014A ° 4.0085% 70% LIBOR Investment income (2,044) (15,591)
2008B Swap Agreements
Loop Financial Products |, LLC 1/8/09 100,000 11/15/25 2008C1 ? 4.7600% 70% LIBOR + 0.10% Investment income (1,819) (22,810)
TOTAL (150,479)

" Swaps are currently associated with Series 2009C bonds, Series 2008B, and a portion of the Series 2002C bonds.

2A portion of the Series 2002C bonds are additionally associated with these swaps.

Note: Certain City derivatives have been reported as investment derivatives in accordance with the provisions of GASB 53. Additionally, investment income on these derivatives has also been

recognized in accordance with GASB 53. The City does not enter into derivative transactions for investment purposes, nor does the City Charter allow for the investment in derivative investments.
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Payments by the Airport System to counterparties relating to these swap agreements, including termination payments, are
Subordinate Obligations, subordinate to debt service payments on the Airport System’s Senior Bonds, and on parity with the
Airport System’s Subordinate Bonds. The year-end fair values were calculated using the mid-market LIBOR and BMA swap
curves as of December 31, 2015. Fair values represent the difference between the present value of the fixed payments and
the present value of the floating payments, at forward floating rates as of December 31, 2015. When the present value of
payments to be made by the Airport System exceeds the present value of payments to be received, the swap has a negative
value to the Airport System. When the present value of payments to be received by the Airport System exceeds that of
payments to be made, the swap has a positive value to the Airport System.

The following risks are generally associated with swap agreements:

«  Credit Risk - All of the Airport System’s swap agreements rely upon the performance of swap counterparties. The
Airport System is exposed to the risk of these counterparties being unable to fulfill their financial obligations to the
Airport System. The Airport System measures the extent of this risk based upon the credit ratings of the counterparty
and the fair value of the swap agreement. If the Airport System delivers a surety policy or other credit support
document guaranteeing its obligations under the swap agreement that is rated in the highest rating category of either
Standard & Poor’s, Moody'’s Investors Service or Fitch, for any swap agreement, the counterparty to that agreement is
obligated to either be rated, or provide credit support securing its obligations under the swap agreement rated in the
highest rating category of either Standard & Poor’s, Moody's Investors Service or Fitch; or, under certain circumstances,
provide collateral. The Airport System is obligated, under the swap agreements, to provide such surety policy or credit
support if the unsecured and unenhanced ratings of the Airport System'’s Senior Bonds is below any two of BBB by
Standard & Poor’s, Baa2 by Moody'’s Investors Service or BBB by Fitch. As of December 31, 2015, the ratings of the Airport
System’s Senior Bonds were A+ by Standard & Poor’s (with a stable outlook), A1 by Moody’s Investors Service (with a
stable outlook) and A+ by Fitch (with a stable outlook). Therefore, no surety policy or credit has been provided to the
counterparties by the Airport System. Failure of either the Airport System or the counterparty to provide credit support
or collateral, as described in the swap agreements, is a termination event under the swap agreements (see termination
risk below). The ratings of the counterparties, or their credit support providers, as of December 31, 2015, are shown in

Table 39.
Table 39
Ratings of the Counterparty or
Counterparty (Credit Support Provider) its Credit Support Provider
S&P Moody's Fitch

GKB Financial Services Corporation Il, Inc. A A2 A
(Societe Generale New York Branch)

Goldman Sachs Capital Markets, L.P. BBB+ A3 A
(Goldman Sachs Group, Inc.)

Jackson Financial Products, LLC NR Baal A
(Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.)

JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. A+ Aa3 AA-

Loop Financial Products I, LLC BBB+ Baal A
(Deutsche Bank, AG, New York Branch)

Merrill L'ynch Capital Services, Inc. NR Baal A
(Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.)

Piper Jaffray Financial P.roducts,. Inc. BBB+ A3 A
(Morgan Stanley Capital Services, Inc.)

Royal Bank of Canada AA- Aa3 AA

Societe Generale, New York Branch A A2 A

NR - no rating available.
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As of December 31, 2015, there was no risk of loss for the swap agreements that had negative fair values. For the swap

agreements that had positive fair values, the risk of loss is the amount of the derivative’s fair value.

«  Termination Risk - Any party to the Airport System’s swap agreements may terminate the swap if the other party fails to
perform under the terms of the contract. Additionally, the Airport System may terminate any of its swap agreements at
any time at its sole discretion. Further, certain credit events can lead to a termination event under the swap agreements
(see Credit Risk on preceding page). If, at the time of termination, the swap has a negative fair value, the Airport System
could be liable to the counterparty for a payment equal to the swap’s fair value. If any of the Airport System’s swap
agreements are terminated, the associated variable rate bonds would either no longer be hedged with a synthetic fixed
interest rate or the nature of the basis risk associated with the swap agreement may change. The Airport System is not

aware of any existing event that would lead to a termination event with respect to any of its swap agreements.

« Interest Rate Risk - The Airport System is exposed to interest rate risk in that as the variable rates of the swap
agreements decrease, the Airport System’s net payments on the swap agreements increase.

«  Basis Risk - Each of the Airport System’s swap agreements is associated with certain debt obligations or other swaps.
The Airport System pays interest at variable interest rates on some of the associated debt obligations and associated
swaps. The Airport System receives variable payments under some of its swap agreements. To the extent the variable
rate on the associated debt or the associated swap paid by the Airport System is based on an index different than that
used to determine the variable payments received by the Airport System under the swap agreement, there may be an
increase or decrease in the synthetic interest rate intended under the swap agreement.

8. Synthetic Guaranteed Investment Contracts. An option in the City’s deferred compensation plan includes a custom
stable value fund that includes synthetic guaranteed investment contracts (SGICs). The contracts provide a stable rate of
return to the participants. The value of the underlying investments is $236,673,000 and the wrapper value is $25,427 as of
December 31, 2015.

Note H - Funp BALANCES

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 54, fund balances are classified as nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned or
unassigned. When expenditures are incurred that use funds from more than one classification, the City will generally determine
the order which the funds are used on a case-by-case basis, taking into account any applicable requirements of grant agreements,
contracts, business circumstances, or other constraints. If no restrictions otherwise exist, the order of spending of resources will
be restricted, committed, assigned and lastly, unassigned.

The City has a target of maintaining a General Fund balance reserve that is 15.00% of budgeted expenditures and should not go
below 10.00% of budgeted expenditures, except in response to a severe crisis, economic or otherwise.
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Fund balances by classification are detailed in Table 40 (dollars in thousands).

Table 40
Other Total
Human Governmental Governmental
General Services Funds Funds
Nonspendable $ 2,890 $ - $ 8,218 $ 11,108
Restricted:
General government - - 21,131 21,131
Public safety - administration - - 21,968 21,968
Public safety - fire - - 588 588
Public safety - police - - 3,056 3,056
Public safety - sheriff - - 10,491 10,491
Public works - - 111,715 111,715
Human services - 58,704 751 59,455
Health - - 3,491 3,491
Parks & recreation - - 76,415 76,415
Cultural activities - - 74,433 74,433
Community development - - 8,208 8,208
Assets held for resale - - 730 730
Loans receivable 430 - 61,018 61,448
Long-term debt 19,933 - 75,358 95,291
Emergency use 45,350 - 14 45,364
Total Restricted 65,713 58,704 469,367 593,784
Committed:
General government 13,734 - 1,369 15,103
Public safety - admin 1,930 - 893 2,823
Public safety - fire 848 - - 848
Public safety - police 1,817 - - 1,817
Public safety - sheriff 1,797 - - 1,797
Public works 9,006 - - 9,006
Health 332 - - 332
Parks & recreation 1,806 - - 1,806
Community development 793 - - 793
Economic opportunity 58 - - 58
Total Committed 32,121 - 2,262 34,383
Assigned:
General government - - 11,080 11,080
Public works - - 361 361
Parks & recreation - - 2,722 2,722
Cultural activities - - 15,877 15,877
Total Assigned - - 30,040 30,040
Unassigned 293,476 - (372) 293,104
Total Fund Balances $ 394,200 $ 58,704 $ 509,515 $ 962,419

« Nonspendable Fund Balances - Nonspendable fund balances are amounts that cannot be spent because they are

either not in a spendable form or are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

The City has $8,108,000 in prepaids and $3,000,000 in an endowment. The prepaids are in a nonspendable form and the

endowment is in a permanent fund whose earnings are used for the maintenance of the residence known as Cableland.

«  Restricted Fund Balances - Restricted fund balances represent amounts constrained by external parties, enabling

legislation and/or constitutional provisions.
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General Government has $21,131,000 restricted of which $4,073,000 is restricted for future grant expenditures,
$2,256,000 is restricted for technology projects and $14,802,000 is restricted for capital assets.

Public Safety — Administration has $21,968,000 restricted for future capital projects of which $1,124,000 is in the
nonmajor capital funds and $20,844,000 is in special revenue funds within the special projects funds. The restrictions in
the nonmajor capital funds include $10,432,000 for 911 expenses and $10,412,000 for various assets and maintenance.
Public Safety — Fire has $588,000 restricted of which $546,000 is in the capital projects fund to finish the Alameda Fire
Station and $42,000 is in the special revenue fund. Public Safety - Police has $3,056,000 restricted, $815,000 in special
revenue funds, and $2,241,000 in nonmajor capital project funds for various assets and maintenance. Public Safety

- Sheriff has $10,491,000 restricted which includes $4,000,000 for County Jail building improvements, $522,000 for
camera equipment, and $286,000 for jail essentials, $4,100,000 for technology improvements, and $1,583,000 for various

maintenance projects.

Public Works has a total of $111,715,000 restricted for future projects of which $102,146,000 is restricted in the various
nonmajor bond funds for infrastructure. This includes $25,024,000 for Brighton Boulevard Improvements, $12,585,000
for Traffic Signal Upgrades and Hazard Eliminations, $10,112,000 for the 38th & Blake Bridge and the 38th Avenue
Underpass, $1,009,000 for I-25 & Broadway Access Improvements, $2,002,000 for the Interstate 70 Planning, $4,356,000
for the Peoria Street Project, $7,289,000 for the Federal Boulevard improvements, $2,040,000 for Bridge Maintenance,
$6,000,000 in drainage, and $4,897,000 for the 56th Avenue and East Corridor Improvement, and $26,832,000 for various

building and street projects. The Special Assessment funds have $1,286,000 restricted for Public Works improvements.

In addition to the $102,146,000 discussed above, Public Works has $9,569,000 restricted in various nonmajor funds for

sign, pavement, and bridge and facilities maintenance.

Human Services has $59,455,000 restricted of which $58,704,000 is for grant expenditures. The remaining $751,000 is

restricted in the nonmajor capital project funds for the Denver Rescue Mission facility at 22nd & Lawrence.

Health has $3,491,000 restricted in the nonmajor capital projects fund which includes $135,000 for the Denver Animal
Shelter, and $2,740,000 for maintenance. Additionally, $616,000 is restricted in the special revenue fund for grants.

Parks and Recreation has $76,415,000 restricted of which $75,276,000 is in nonmajor capital projects funds for various
projects and maintenance. This includes $52,000 in the Winter Park fund for assets, $31,262,000 for the Central Denver
Recreation Center, $7,429,000 for River North Park, $16,307,000 for infrastructure including playgrounds and drainage,
$17,459,000 for maintenance, and $2,767,000 for Levitt and Ruby Park Pavilion. In addition, Parks and Recreation has

$798,000 for Cableland maintenance and $341,000 restricted in special revenue funds for grant expenses.

Cultural Activities has $74,433,000 restricted of which $72,444,000 is restricted in the nonmajor capital project funds

for the following: $1,938,000 for a new west Denver Library branch, $21,885,000 for the Boettcher Concert Hall, Denver
Performing Arts Center Studio, the Colorado Convention Center, and the attached garage, $5,811,000 for the McNichols
building improvements, $3,016,000 for the Denver Art Museum building improvements, and $8,002,000 for the National

Western Center improvements. Furthermore, $6,948,000 is restricted for Red Rocks Amphitheatre Improvements,
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and $2,160,000 for energy improvements. There is $7,304,000 restricted for maintenance and $15,380,000 restricted
for various capital assets. Cultural Activities also has $1,989,000 restricted in special revenue funds for future grant

expenditures.

Community Development Activities has $8,208,000 restricted of which $1,843,000 is restricted in the bond projects
fund for a Neighborhood House Alternative project and $6,365,000 is restricted in special revenue funds for grant

expenditures.

The City is also holding $730,000 of foreclosed assets restricted in the Special Revenue Community Development fund to

be used for future loans.

The City has $61,448,000 in restricted loans receivable that originated from grants of which $430,000 is in the General
Fund, $12,516,000 of restricted loans receivable is in the General Government special revenue fund and $48,502,000 is in

the Community Development special revenue fund.

There is $95,291,000 restricted for long-term debt of which $19,933,000 is in the General Fund, $120,000 in the
Community Development special revenue funds, $1,759,000 in the Special Funds special revenue funds, $73,112,000 in
the debt service funds and $367,000 in a General Improvement District. This is restricted cash for payment of principal

and interest.

Additionally, the City has $45,350,000 restricted for Taxpayer’s Bill of Rights (TABOR) and there is $14,000 restricted for

emergency use in the blended component units, for a total amount restricted for emergency use of $45,364,000.

Committed Fund Balances - Committed funds can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed
by City Council, the highest level of decision-making authority in the City. City Council’s formal action to establish
committed funds, and to rescind committed funds, is through passage of an ordinance. General Government has
$1,369,000 in committed fund balance for nonfederal grant expenses and Public Safety has $893,000 in committed fund
balance for grant expenses. The General Fund has $32,121,000 in committed fund balance which includes $3,273,000 for
fleet replacement, $6,392,000 for crime prevention, $851,000 for business incentives, and $21,605,000 for various capital
and community projects.

Assigned Fund Balances - Assigned fund balances are constrained for specific purposes by City Council as authorized
by the City’s charter. The City has $30,040,000 in assigned fund balance of which $11,080,000 is in the General
Government special revenue funds, $361,000 is for Public Works, $2,722,000 is for Parks and Recreation and $15,877,000
is for Cultural Activities.

Unassigned Fund Balance - Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the General Fund. A negative
unassigned fund balance occurs when expenditures exceed amounts that are nonspendable, restricted, committed,
or assigned. The General Fund has $293,476,000 in unassigned fund balance. Economic Opportunity has $372,000 in
negative unassigned fund balance.
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IV. OTHER NOTE DISCLOSURES

NortE A - Risk MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; errors and omissions;
and natural disasters. In addition, the City is party to numerous pending or threatened lawsuits under which it may be required
to pay certain amounts upon final disposition of these matters. The City has historically retained these risks, except where it has
determined that commercial insurance is more cost beneficial or legally required. The City has covered all claim settlements
and judgments out of its General Fund resources, except where specifically identifiable to an enterprise fund. The City currently
reports substantially all of its risk management activities, except workers’compensation (see Note IV-C), in its General Fund.
Claims expenditures and liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be
reasonably estimated. Current liabilities are reported when the liability has matured. These losses include an estimate of claims

that have been incurred but not reported.

The Lowry Landfill, which accepted hazardous waste from the late 1960s to 1980, is listed on the national Superfund list. This
means that the contamination at the site will be mitigated under the auspices of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. Under
federal law, the City, as owner and operator of the facility is one of the parties responsible for cleanup of the site. The City’s share
of the remaining costs for cleanup could be incurred over the next 5 to 30 years. The City’s liability for a portion of the cleanup

costs is probable, but cannot be reasonably estimated.

With respect to matters expecting to be settled subsequent to 2015, the City Attorney estimates the amount of liability
determined as probable and incurred but not reported claims and judgments at December 31, 2015, to be approximately
$5,215,000. The City Attorney also estimates that pending cases having a reasonably possible likelihood of resulting in an

additional liability aggregating approximately $1,500,000 at December 31, 2015.

Changes in the long-term legal liability during the past two years are shown in Table 41 (dollars in thousands).

Table 41

2015 2014
Beginning balance - January 1 S 6,413 $ 3,841
Current year claims and changes in estimates 540 9,272
Claims settled (1,738) (6,700)
Ending Balance - December 31 $ 5,215 S 6,413

Pursuant to Colorado law, if a monetary judgment is rendered against the City, and the City fails to provide for the payment of
such judgment, the Board of County Commissioners must levy a tax (not to exceed 10 mills per annum) upon all of the taxable
property within the City for the purpose of making provision for the payment of the judgment. The City must continue to levy
such tax until the judgment is discharged. Such mill levy is in addition to all other mill levies for other purposes. The Colorado
Governmental Immunity Act establishes limits for claims made against governmental entities. These limits are $350,000 per injury

or $990,000 per occurrence.

See Note IV-E-5 regarding Denver Airport System related litigation.

NotEe B - PoLLuTioN REMEDIATION

The City has four underground storage tanks that leaked and are under remediation. Funds spent on remediation are partially
reimbursed up to 50.00% of the cost by the Colorado Petroleum Storage Tank Trust. As of December 31, 2015, the City accrued
a current liability, measured at its expected amount, using the expected cash flow technique, of $28,000 in the Environmental
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Services fund for its share of remediation costs related to these underground storage tanks. The City determined the liability
amount by estimating a reasonable range of potential outlays, with no amount within the range considered a better estimate than
any other amount.

The Environmental Protection Agency has listed a large area in north Denver on the National Priorities List of Superfund Sites
because of lead, arsenic and cadmium contamination found in soils in residential neighborhoods. EPA has divided the Site into
three operable units. Operable Unit 1 (OU1) consists of the contaminated residential soils in north Denver. Operable Unit 2 (OU2)
is the Grant-Omaha Smelter Site. Operable Unit 3 (OU3) is the Argo Smelter Site.

ASARCO, Inc. finished the remediation of Operable Unit 1 in 2006 and has not claimed that the City is responsible for any of those
costs; therefore management believes the possibility that the City has any liability associated with OU1 is remote.

The EPA has named the City a Potentially Responsible Party (PRP) at OU2 as the current owner of part of the site where the
former Grant-Omaha Smelter was located. Denver has entered into an Administrative Order on Consent to perform a remedial
investigation and feasibility study and has paid $18,000 dollars of EPA’s past costs. Whether this site is contaminated or whether
it will require remediation cannot be determined until completion of the remedial investigation and feasibility study. The City’s
responsibility for some of the investigation and clean up costs is probable; however at this early stage in the process it is not
possible to estimate the costs associated with this site, therefore no liability has been accrued. ASARCO, Inc. is another significant
PRP at the site. ASARCO, Inc. filed bankruptcy and the City filed a contingent claim for environmental remediation costs and
reached a settlement with ASARCO for $640,000, for which payment has been received.

The City has no connection to OU3 and EPA has not asserted that the City has any responsibility for investigation or clean up,
therefore management believes the possibility is remote that the City has any liability associated with OU3.

Note C — WoRrkers’ COMPENSATION

The City has a Workers' Compensation self-insurance trust established in accordance with State Statutes to be held for the benefit

of the City’'s employees. This trust is included in the Workers' Compensation internal service fund.

The Workers’ Compensation internal service fund compensates City employees, or their eligible dependents, for injuries as
authorized by the State Workers’ Compensation law, in addition to maintaining in-house records of claims. The Workers’
Compensation program is part of the City’s Risk Management Office, which also provides safety training and loss prevention for all
City departments and agencies.

The Department of Labor and Employment of the State of Colorado establishes the amount of funding required each year for the
City to maintain its self-insured permit. The requirement is calculated using the average amount of claims paid over the previous
three years plus the outstanding liability for claims as of the end of the previous year. This requirement at December 31, 2015, for
2016, was $29,254,000. The Workers’ Compensation internal service fund has current assets and appropriations set aside in 2015
to satisfy this requirement. These funds may only be used for payment of workers’ compensation benefits and administrative
costs.

The City has purchased reinsurance coverage in order to reduce its risk. For the period from January 1, 2015 through December
31, 2015, the self-retention amount was $2,500,000 for all employees. The City had no settlements in the past three years that
exceeded its self-retention levels.
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Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated,

and includes an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported. Claim liabilities are calculated considering the
effects of inflation, recent claim settlement trends, and other economic and social factors. The liability is reported in the Workers’
Compensation internal service fund and was discounted for investment income. Changes in the liability during the past two years
are shown in Table 42 (dollars in thousands).

Table 42

2015 2014
Beginning balance, undiscounted - January 1 S 31,471 S 30,797
Current year claims and changes in estimates 13,751 17,018
Claims paid (9,592) (8,963)
Ending balance undiscounted 35,630 38,852
Less discount (6,181) (7,381)
Ending Balance - December 31 $ 29,449 S 31,471

NoTte D — SuBseQUENT EVENTS

1. Revenue Bonds. On April 6, 2016, the City issued $397 million in revenue bonds for the National Western Center project.
The bond issuance will deliver $200 million to the National Western Center project for rail consolidation, land acquisition,
zoning and site infrastructure planning, and $6 million to the Colorado Convention Center for project management and
initial design development of an improvement project. The City also refinanced all of its existing excise tax bonds related
to the Colorado Convention Center expansion originally financed in 2001.

NotE E — CONTINGENCIES

1. Legal Debt Margin. Per the City Charter, the City’s indebtedness for general obligation bonds shall not exceed 3.00% of
actual value as determined by the last final assessment of the taxable property within the City. At December 31,2015, the
City’s general obligation debt outstanding was $837,013,000 and the City’s legal debt margin was $2,253,000.

2. PriorYears' Defeased Bonds. At various dates in prior years, the City and certain component units have placed proceeds
from bond issues and cash contributions in irrevocable refunding escrow accounts. The amounts deposited in the
irrevocable escrow accounts are invested in U.S. Treasury obligations that, together with interest earned thereon, would
provide amounts sufficient for payment of all principal and interest of the bond issues on each remaining payment
date. The likelihood of the earnings and principal maturities of the U.S. Treasury obligations not being sufficient to pay
the defeased bond issues appears remote. Accordingly, the escrow accounts and outstanding defeased bonds are not
included in the accompanying financial statements. Defeased bonds principal outstanding at December 31, 2015, for the
City was $128,015,000.

3. Grants and Other. Under the terms of federal and state grants, periodic audits are required and certain costs may
be questioned as not being appropriate expenditures under the terms of the grants. Such audits could lead to
reimbursement to the grantor agencies. City management believes disallowances, if any, will be immaterial to its

financial position and activities.
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The City is responsible for administering certain federal and state social services programs for which the related revenue and
expenditures are not included in the accompanying financial statements since the state now makes the grant disbursements.

Table 43 (dollars in thousands) lists Denver County electronic benefit transfers (EBT) authorizations, warrant expenditures,

and total expenditures associated with the Human Services special revenue fund for the year ended December 31, 2015.

Table 43
City EBT
Authorized Plus

City EBT City Share of Expenditures by Expenditures by Total
Program Authorizations Authorizations City Warrant City Warrant Expenditures
Adult Foster Care $ 9 $ = $ - $ = $ 9
Adult Protective Services - - 2,574 2,574 2,574
Aid to Needy & Disabled 4,047 809 - 809 4,047
Aid to the Blind 1 - - - 1
Child Care 14,783 1,322 1,142 2,464 15,925
Child Support Enforcement’ 53 28 12,880 12,908 12,933
Child Welfare 19,797 4,028 34,355 38,383 54,152
Child Welfare 100 FTE - - 138 138 138
Child Welfare DDS Transition 396 - - - 397
Child Welfare Grants - IV-E Waiver - - 768 768 768
Child Welfare Hotline - - 4 4 4
Child Welfare Pathway to Success - - 2 2 2
Colorado Works 19,451 3,287 11,489 14775 # 30,940
Core Services 5719 898 2,207 3,106 7,926
County Administration - - 20,254 20,254 20,254
County Only Pass Thru - - 5,032 5,032 5,032
Federal Grants - - 6,004 6,004 6,004
Food Assistance Benefits 136,179 - - - 136,179
Food Assistance Fraud - - 443 443 443
Food Assistance Job Search - - 2,829 2,829 2,829
Foster Care Adoption Recruitment - - 2 2 2
Home Care Allowance 850 42 - 42 850
Low Income Energy Assistance 4,855 - 503 503 5,358
Non-allocated Programs2 185 179 290 469 474
Old Age Pension 26,620 - 478 478 27,098
PSSF Caseworker Visitation - - 3 3 3
SSI - Home Care Allowance 953 48 - 48 953
TANF Collections-EBT (337) (67) - (67) (337)
Title IV-B Sub Part 2 - PSSF - - 548 548 548
Title IV-E Independent Living - - 244 244 244
Total $ 233,561 $ 10,574 $ 102,189 $ 112,763 $ 335,750

'The State pays Direct Settled items for EBT administration, IRS fees and Locator fees and then charges the counties for those costs. These are not
true EBT payments, but are amounts settled via CFMS.

’Does not include audit adjustments, TANF Collections - IV-D Retained, Medicaid Collections and programs not settled in CFMS, with the exception
of federal grants, which are also captured in the CAFR. It also excludes County Wide Cost Allocation Pass Thru, as these amounts are not earned
by expenses incurred by Human Services.

4. Conduit Debt Obligations. From time to time, the City issues industrial development revenue bonds, single-family
mortgage revenue bonds, multi-family mortgage revenue bonds, construction loan revenue bonds, and special
obligation revenue bonds to provide financial assistance to private-sector entities for the acquisition and construction
of private, industrial, and commercial facilities deemed to be in the public interest. The bonds are secured by the
property financed and are payable solely from payments received on the underlying mortgage loans. Upon repayment
of the bonds, ownership of the acquired facilities transfers to the private-sector entity served by the bond issuance.

Not the City, the State, nor any political subdivision thereof is obligated in any manner for repayment of the bonds.
Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements. As of December 31,
2015, the aggregate principal amount payable for the bonds, excluding the Airport’s Special Facility Revenue bonds, was
approximately $70,705,000.
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To finance the acquisition and construction of various facilities at Denver International Airport, the City issued three series
of Special Facility Revenue Bonds. These bonds are special limited obligations of the City, payable and secured by a pledge
of certain revenues to be received from lease agreements for these facilities. The bonds do not constitute a debt or pledge
of the full faith and credit of the City or the Airport System, and accordingly, have not been reported in the accompanying
financial statements. As of December 31, 2015, Airport Special Facility Revenue Bonds outstanding totaled $270,025,000.

Denver Airport System. The City and Adams County entered into an intergovernmental agreement for Denver
International, dated April 21, 1988 (the Intergovernmental Agreement). The Intergovernmental Agreement establishes
maximum levels of noise that should not be exceeded on an average annual basis at various grid points surrounding the

Airport. Penalties must be paid to Adams County when these maximums are exceeded.

There is no noise penalty due for 2015.

The Airport System is involved in several other claims and lawsuits and is the subject of certain other investigations. The
Airport System and its legal counsel estimate that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not materially affect the

accompanying financial statements of the Airport System.

Under the terms of the Federal grants, periodic audits are required and certain costs may be questioned as not being
appropriate expenditures under the terms of the grants. Such audits could lead to reimbursement to the grantor agencies.
The Airport System management believes disallowances, if any will be immaterial to its financial position and activities of the
Airport.

Environmental Services. State and federal laws will require the City to close the Denver Arapahoe Disposal Site (DADS)
once its capacity is reached and to monitor and maintain the site for 30 subsequent years. The contracted operator is
responsible for all closure and post-closure costs for the landfill's individual cells while they are under contract to operate
the landfill. However, the ultimate responsibility rests with the City as owner of the facility. The City contractually shifted
this financial responsibility to its operator as described below.

Effective October 1, 1997, the City renegotiated its contract with Waste Management of Colorado, Inc. (WMC), the current
operator of DADS. As a result, the City assigned its responsibility for all closure and post-closure costs to WMC. To cover these
costs, WMC has provided a performance bond of $3,000,000, provided a corporate guarantee from their parent company,
Waste Management, Inc (WMI), and posted a financial assurance plan with the State of Colorado (including an insurance
certificate of $18,528,000 as of April 2016). Due to this assignment of closure and post-closure costs to WMC, the City no
longer recognizes the related closure and post-closure costs liability in its financial statements.

Denver Urban Renewal Authority. In connection with DURA's development of the Denver Dry Building, DURA has
guaranteed certain loans made to the Denver Building Housing, Ltd. by the Bank of Denver with an outstanding balance
of $2,554,000 at December 31, 2015. In addition, DURA has guaranteed all obligations of the Denver Dry Development
Corporation as general partner, under the terms and conditions of the limited partnership agreement of the Denver
Building Housing, Ltd. No amounts have been recorded as a liability in the financial statements, as DURA management

believes the possibility of having to make payments under these guarantees is remote.

TABOR. At the general election held November 3, 1992, the voters of the State approved an amendment to the Colorado
Constitution limiting the ability of the State and local governments, such as the City, to increase revenues, debt and
spending, and restricting property, income and other taxes. In addition, the amendment requires that the State and local
governments obtain voter approval to create any “multiple fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation
whatsoever without adequate present cash reserves pledged irrevocably and held for payments in all future fiscal

years!” The amendment excludes from its restrictions the borrowings and fiscal operations of “enterprises.” Enterprises
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are defined to include government-owned businesses authorized to issue their own revenue bonds and receiving less
than 10.00% of their revenues in grants from all Colorado State and local governments combined. The amendment also
requires the establishment of an “Emergency Reserve” equal to 3.00% of fiscal year spending excluding debt service for
all years subsequent to 1994. The City has established an emergency reserve of $45,364,000. The amendment is also
applicable to several component units, which have established emergency reserves of $281,000.

In November 2005, local voters approved Referred Measure 1B to allow the City to retain revenues collected, with the
exception of property tax revenue, in excess of the limits established by the state amendment to the constitution for ten fiscal
years beginning with fiscal year 2005 and thereafter retain and spend any excess revenues up to the amount of the revenue
cap as defined. For 2015, TABOR revenues exceeded the established limits by $262,107,000.

In November 2012, Denver voters approved Referred Measure 2A to allow the City to retain all revenues collected beginning
in 2013.

There are numerous uncertainties about the interpretation of the amendment and its application to particular governmental
entities and their operations. Itis possible that the constitutionality of the amendment as applied in some situations may be
challenged on various grounds, including the argument that the amendment conflicts with other constitutional provisions

and violates the protections afforded by the federal constitution against impairment of contract.

Note F — DererreD COMPENSATION PLAN

1. Description of the Plan. The Deferred Compensation Plan (Plan) was adopted by the City to provide a means by which
public employees could defer a portion of their current income and related income taxes to future years. Under Section
457 of the Internal Revenue Code, amounts deferred and income earned on those funds are not taxed until made
available to the participant. The Plan’s publicly available financial report can be obtained by contacting the City of Denver
Controller’s Office at 201 West Colfax Avenue, Department 1109, Denver, Colorado, 80202.

2. Administration of the Plan. The Deferred Compensation Governing Committee of the City manages the Plan. The
Committee has designated a third-party administrator for the Plan to account for all deferred compensation, withdrawals,
interest income credited, and the individual balance for each participant. In addition, the administrators execute

individual participant agreements and provide Plan information and counseling to all eligible employees.

3. Investments. Investments are recorded at fair value. In compliance with the City Charter, the Deferred Compensation
Governing Committee has approved certain options for investment. All investments are transferred to a retirement trust
investment fund offered by the Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America-College Retirement Equities Fund

(TIAA-CREF). The Plan provides for self-directed investments by the participants.

4. Contributions. Participation in the Plan is voluntary and is open to all City employees. The City does not make any
contributions. The maximum deferral in any one year is generally limited to 100.00% of a participant’s pre-deferred
taxable income or $18,000 for 2015. Those who are age 50 and older may save an additional $6,000 per year. However,
special provisions, applicable during the last three taxable years before a participant attains normal retirement age under
the Plan, or any year thereafter prior to the participants’ separation from service, may increase the annual maximum up to
$36,000 for 2015. Total contributions by employees were $35,116,000 for 2015.
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5. Withdrawals. Withdrawals from the Plan may be made upon retirement, termination of employment with the City, or
in hardship cases as approved by the Administrator. Upon death, amounts credited to the participant are paid to the
beneficiary designated by the participant.

Eligible participants may elect the Systematic Withdrawal Option, purchase an annuity, or receive a lump-sum distribution.
The Systemic Withdrawal Option allows eligible participants to withdraw specified amounts from their account at regular
intervals. The balance of their account remains in the pool of Plan assets and continues to be invested as directed by

the participant. The annuity option allows eligible participants to purchase a payment stream for a period certain or for
the lifetime of the annuitant. Contracts purchased under this annuity option remain as assets of the Plan. The periodic
distributions are accounted for as withdrawals in the year disbursed.

6. Assets. Allamounts of compensation deferred under the Plan, all property and rights purchased with those amounts,
and all income attributable to those amounts, property, or rights are held in trust by the City for the exclusive benefit of
the participants and their beneficiaries. The assets of the Plan are reported as an other employee benefit trust fund of the
City.

7. Plan Termination and Amendments. The City can at any time elect to amend, modify, or terminate the Plan. However,
notice must be given to all participants at least 45 days prior to the effective date of an amendment. No amendments will
deprive the participants of any benefits they were entitled to prior to the change. If the Plan is terminated, all amounts
then credited to the participants are to be paid out by the administrators under the normal withdrawal requirements and

procedures.

8. Component Units. Several component units offer plans similar to the City’s which are also qualified under Section 457 of

the Internal Revenue Code.

NotEe G - PensioN PLANS

The City has six pension plans covering substantially all employees of the primary government, as follows:
«  Denver Employees Retirement Plan (DERP)
«  Fire and Police Pension Plan - Statewide Defined Benefit Plan (FPPA SWDB)
o Public Employees’ Retirement Association of Colorado Pension Plan - State Division Trust Fund (PERA SDTF)
o Public Employees’ Retirement Association of Colorado Pension Plan - Judicial Division Trust Fund (PERA JDTF)
«  Denver Old Hire Fire Pension Fund (FPPA Old Hire Fire)

¢ Denver Old Hire Police Pension Fund (FPPA Old Hire Police)

The majority of the City’s employees are covered under the Denver Employees Retirement Plan. Full time firemen and policemen
are covered under the Fire and Police Pension Association plans, and county court judges and the District Attorney are covered
under the Public Employees’ Retirement Association of Colorado. In addition to the six plans offered, several component units

offer various types of pension plans, which include deferred annuity plans and defined contribution plans.
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A summary of pension related items as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015, is presented in Table 44 (dollars in

thousands).
Table 44
Deferred Deferred
Net Pension Net Pension Outflows of Inflows of Pension
Plan Liability Asset Resources Resources Expense
DERP:
Governmental Activities S 629,918 S - S 82,037 S - $ 58,006
Business-type Activities 148,544 - 25,469 525 15,714
FPPA SWDB - 44,591 19,664 919 2,445
PERA SDTF 674 - 51 26 38
PERA JDTF 8,854 - 1,785 135 928
Old hire Fire 125,492 - 17,546 - 10,035
Old hire Police 45,031 - 21,964 - 5,142
Total $ 958,513 $ 44,591 $ 168,516 $ 1,605 $ 92,308

1. Cost Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plans.
The Denver Employees Retirement Plan (DERP)

Plan Description. The Denver Employees Retirement Plan (DERP) administers a cost sharing multiple-employer defined
benefit plan to eligible members. The DERP is administered by the DERP Retirement Board in accordance with sections
18-401 through 18-430.7 of the City’s Revised Municipal Code. Amendments to the plan are made by ordinance. These
Code sections establish the plan, provide complete information on the DERP, and vests the authority for the benefit and
contribution provisions with the City Council. The DERP Retirement Board acts as the trustee of the Plan’s assets.

The Plan provides retirement, death and disability benefits for its members and their beneficiaries. Members who were hired
before July 1,2011, and retire at or after age 65 (or at age 55 if the sum of their age and credited service is at least 75) are
entitled to an annual retirement benefit, in an amount equal to 2.00% of their final average salary for each year of credited
service, payable monthly for life. Effective for employees hired after September 1, 2004, the formula multiplier was reduced to
1.50%. Final average salary is based on the member’s highest salary during a 36 consecutive month period of credited service.

Members with 5 years of credited service may retire at or after age 55 and receive a reduced retirement benefit.

For members who were hired after July 1, 2011, they must be age 60 and have combined credited service of at least 85 in
order to receive a normal retirement prior to age 65. Final average salary is based on the member’s highest salary during a 60
consecutive month period of credited service. Five year vesting is required of all employees in order to qualify for a benefit,

regardless of their age at the time of termination of employment.

Annual cost of living adjustments are granted on an ad hoc basis. The estimated cost of benefit and contribution provisions

is determined annually by an independent actuary, recommended by the plan’s Board, and enacted into ordinance by Denver

City Council.

The Plan is accounted for using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. DERP issues

a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that can be obtained at https://www.derp.org/.

Funding Policy. The City contributes 11.50% of covered payroll and employees make a pre-tax contribution of 8.00% in
accordance with Section 18-407 of the Revised Municipal Code of the City. The City’s contributions to DERP for the year
ended December 31, 2015, were $60,181,000, which equaled the required contributions.


https://www.derp.org
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions. At December 31,2015, the City reported a liability of $778,462,000 for its proportionate share of the net pension
liability related to DERP. The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2014, and the total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2013. Standard
update procedures were used to roll forward the total pension liability to December 31, 2014. The City’s proportion of the
net pension liability was based on City contributions to DERP for the calendar year 2014 relative to the total contributions of

participating employers to DERP.

At December 31, 2014, the City’s proportion was 88.88%, which was an increase of 0.98% from its proportion measured as of

December 31, 2013.

The components of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability related to DERP as of December 31, 2015, are

presented in Table 45 (dollars in thousands).

Table 45
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
Total pension liability $ 2,108,079 $ 497,115 $ 2,605,194
Plan fiduciary net positon 1,478,161 348,571 1,826,732
Net pension liability $ 629,918 $ 148,544 $ 778,462

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the governmental activities and the business-type activities recognized pension
expense of $58,006,000 and $15,714,000, respectively. A summary of the City’s deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions for DERP as of December 31, 2015, is presented in Table 46 (dollars in thousands).

Table 46
Gover | Activities Business-type Activities Total
Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows  Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows  Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ = $ =8 =8 =5 =8 =
Changes of assumptions or other inputs - - - -
Net difference between projected 33,240 - 7,839 - 41,079
and actual earnings on pension
plan investments
Changes in proportion 353 5,893 525 6,246 525
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 48,444 - 11,737 - 60,181 -
Total $ 82,037 $ - $ 25,469 $ 525 $ 107,506 $ 525

The $60,181,000 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, resulting from contributions subsequent to
the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended December 31, 2016.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be

recognized as presented in Table 47 (dollars in thousands).

Table 47
Governmental Business-type

Year Activities Activities Total
2016 $ 8,446 $ 4,027 $ 12,473
2017 8,446 4,027 12,473
2018 8,392 3,194 11,586
2019 8,309 1,960 10,269
2020 - - -
Thereafter - - -

Total $ 33,593 $ 13,208 $ 46,801
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The total pension liability in the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation was determined using the actuarial assumptions and
other inputs presented in Table 48.

Table 48

DERP
Investment rate of return 8.00%
Salary increases 3.25% to 7.25%
Inflation 2.75%

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table via scale AA to 2020, with multipliers specific to gender

and payment status of employee.

The latest experience study was conducted in 2013 covering the 5-year period of January 1, 2008 to December 31, 2012.
At the time, the recommended mortality table was expected to produce a margin of 8.00% on the retired male mortality
experience and 7.00% on the retired female experience.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building block method in which
best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and
inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return were adopted by the plan’s trustees after considering input from

the plan’s investment consultant and actuary(s). For each major asset class that is included in the pension plan’s target asset

allocation as of December 31, 2014, these best estimates are summarized in Table 49.

Table 49

Long-Term
Target Expected Rate
Assset Class Allocation of Return
U.S. Equities 22.50% 4.90%
Non - U. S. developed markets 15.50% 7.00%
Emerging markets 8.00% 9.80%

Total Public Equity 46.00%
Core fixed income 11.50% 1.30%
Debt 2.50% 5.80%
Private debt 6.50% 8.40%

Total Fixed Income 20.50%
Real estate 8.00% 6.50%
Absolute return 5.00% 3.90%
Energy MLP's 7.00% 7.30%
Private equity/other 13.50% 8.40%
Cash 0.00% 0.80%

Total Asset Class 100.00%

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 8.00%. This single discount rate was

based on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 8.00%. The projection of cash flows used to determine
this single rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer
contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the
member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make
all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension

plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. Table
50 presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability, calculated using a discount rate of 8.00%, as well as
what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is

1-percentage point lower or 1-percentage point higher (dollars in thousands):

Table 50
Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability 7.00% 8.00% 9.00%
Governmental Activities S 871,143 S 629,918 S 425,549
Business-type activities 205,428 148,544 100,350
Total $ 1,076,571 $ 778,462 $ 525,899

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the
separately issued DERP financial reports found at https://www.derp.org/index.cfm/ID/38.

Fire and Police Pension Plan - Statewide Defined Benefit Plan (FPPA SWDB)

Plan Description. Full-time firefighters and police officers hired on or after April 8, 1978, participate in the Statewide Defined
Benefit Plan - Fire and Police Pension Plan (FPPA SWDB). The plan is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit
pension plan administered by the Fire and Police Pension Association of Colorado (FPPA) that provides normal, early, vested,
or deferred retirement and death benefits. Authority for the plan, including benefit and contribution provisions, is derived
from Title 31, Articles 30, 30.5, and 31 of the Colorado Revised Statutes. The plan is amended by statute and is accounted

for using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. FPPA issues a publicly available
comprehensive annual financial report that can be obtained at http://fppaco.org/toc_frames.html.

Funding Policy. Statute requires the City contribute 8.00% of base salary and employees make a pre-tax contribution of
8.50% for a total contribution rate of 16.50%. In 2014, employees elected to increase the member contribution rate to the
plan beginning in 2015. Employee contribution rates will increase 0.50% annually through 2022 to a total of 12.00% of base
salary. Employer contributions will remain at 8.00% resulting in a combined contribution rate of 20.00% in 2022. The City's
contributions to the New Hire Plan for the year ended December 31, 2015, were $15,299,000.

Pension Assets, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions. At December 31, 2015, the City reported an asset of $44,591,000 for its proportionate share of the net pension
asset related to the FPPA SWDB plan. The net pension asset was measured as of December 31, 2014, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension asset was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2013. Standard
update procedures were used to roll forward the total pension asset to December 31, 2014. The City’s proportion of the

net pension asset was based on City contributions to FPPA SWDB plan for the calendar year 2014 relative to the total
contributions of participating employers to the FPPA SWDB plan.

At December 31, 2014, the City’s proportion was 39.51%, which was a decrease of 0.80% from its proportion measured as of
December 31, 2013.

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the City recognized pension expense of $2,445,000. The components of the City’s
proportionate share of the net pension asset related to FPPA SWDB as of December 31, 2015, are presented in Table 51
(dollars in thousands).

Table 51

FPPA SWDB
Total pension liability $ 653,080
Plan fiduciary net positon 697,671

Net pension liability (asset) $ (44,591)
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A summary of the City’s deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions for FPPA SWDB

as of December 31, 2015, is presented in Table 52 (dollars in thousands).

Table 52
FPPA SWDB

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
Sources of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ - $ 919
Changes of assumptions or other inputs -
Net difference between projected and actual 3,516 -

earnings on pension plan investments

Change in proportion 849 -
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 15,299 -
Total $ 19,664 $ 919

The $15,299,000 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions, resulting from contributions subsequent
to the measurement date, will be recognized as an increase in the net pension asset in the year ended December 31, 2016.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be

recognized as presented in Table 53 (dollars in thousands).

Table 53

Year FPPA SWDB
2016 $ 872
2017 872
2018 872
2019 871

2020 (7)
Thereafter (34)
Total $ 3,446

The total pension asset in the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation was determined using the actuarial assumptions and

other inputs presented in Table 54 (dollars in thousands).

Table 54

FPPA SWDB
Investment rate of return 7.50%
Salary increases 4.005% to 14.00%
Inflation 3.00%

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adjustment, projected with Scale
AA, 40.00% multiplier for off-duty mortality is used in the valuation of off-duty mortality active members. On-duty related

mortality is assumed to be 0.00020 per year for all members.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which
best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and
inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighing the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the Fund'’s target asset

allocation as of December 31, 2014, are summarized in Table 55.
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Table 55
Long-Term
Target Expected Rate
Assset Class Allocation of Return
Global equity 40.00% 8.90%
Equity long/short 10.00% 7.50%
Illiquid alternatives 18.00% 10.50%
Fixed income 15.00% 4.60%
Absolute return 12.00% 6.50%
Managed futures 4.00% 5.50%
Cash 1.00% 2.50%
Total Asset Class 100.00%

Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50%. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from participating employers will be made based on the actuarially
determined rates based on the Board’s funding policy, which establishes the contractually required rates under Colorado
statutes. Based on those assumptions, the SWDB plan fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all the
projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension
plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability (Asset) to Changes in the Discount Rate. Table
56 presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension asset, calculated using a discount rate of 7.50%, as well as what
the City’s proportionate share of plan's net pension asset would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1.00%
lower or 1.00% higher (dollars in thousands):

Table 56
Single Discount
1% Decrease Rate Assumption 1% Increase
6.50% 7.50% 8.50%
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) S 42,041 $ (44,591) $ (116,854)

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the
separately issued FPPA financial reports found at http://fppaco.org/toc_frames.html.

Public Employees’ Retirement Association of Colorado Pension Plans (PERA)

Plan Description. County court judges and the District Attorney of the City are provided with pensions through the State
Division Trust Fund (SDTF) or the Judicial Division Trust Fund (JDTF) —cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit
pension plans administered by PERA. PERA provides retirement, disability, and survivor benefits that are specified in Title 24,
Article 51 of the Colorado Revised Statutes (C.R.S), administrative rules set forth at 8 C.C.R. 1502-1, and applicable provisions
of the federal Internal Revenue Code. Colorado State law provisions may be amended from time to time by the Colorado
General Assembly. Plan benefits are specified in Title 24, Article 51 of the Colorado Revised Statutes (C.R.S.), administrative
rules set forth at 8 C.C.R. 1502-1, and applicable provisions of the federal Internal Revenue Code. Colorado State law provisions
may be amended from time to time by the Colorado General Assembly. The plans are accounted for using the economic
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. PERA issues a publicly available comprehensive annual
financial report that can be obtained at www.copera.org/investments/pera-financial-reports.

Funding Policy. Eligible employees are required to contribute 8.00% of their PERA-includable salary. The City contributes
16.43% of includable salaries to the SDTF and 16.34% of includable salaries to the JDTF. Employer contributions are
recognized by the JDTF and the SDTF in the period in which the compensation becomes payable to the member and the


www.copera.org/investments/pera-financial-reports
http://fppaco.org/toc_frames.html

100 City AND CouNnTY OF DENVER NoTes To BAsic FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

City is statutorily committed to pay the contributions to the plans. The City’s contributions to the JDTF for the year ended
December 31, 2015, were $488,000. The City’s contributions to the SDTF for the years ended December 31, 2015, were
$37,000.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to
Pensions. At December 31, 2015, the City reported a liability of $674,000 and $8,854,000 for the SDTF and JDTF, respectively,
for its proportionate share of the net pension liability related to the PERA plans. The net pension liabilities were measured

as of December 31, 2014, and the total pension liabilities used to calculate the net pension liabilities was determined by

an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2013. Standard update procedures were used to roll forward the total pension
liabilities to December 31, 2014. The City’s proportion of the net pension liabilities were based on City contributions to the
SDTF and JDTF plan for the calendar year 2014 relative to the total contributions of participating employers to the SDTF and
JDTF plans.

At December 31, 2014, the City’s proportion of the SDTF was .007%, which was a decrease of 0.0004% from its proportion
measured as of December 31, 2013.

At December 31, 2014, the City’s proportion of the JDTF was 6.40%, which was a decrease of 0.16% from its proportion
measured as of December 31, 2013.

The components of the City’s net pension liability related to PERA as of December 31, 2015, are presented in Table 57 (dollars
in thousands).

Table 57

SDTF JDTF
Total pension liability $ 1,678 $ 26,740
Plan fiduciary net positon 1,004 17,886
Net pension liability S 674 S 8,854

For the year ended December 31, 2015, the City recognized pension expense for the SDTF and JDFT of $38,000 and $928,000,
respectively. A summary of the City’s deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions for
the SDTF and JDTF plans as of December 31, 2015, is presented in Table 58 (dollars in thousands).

Table 58
SDTF JDTF Total
Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows Deferred Outfl Deferred Infl Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ -8 =5 = & =G = 9
Changes of assumptions or other inputs - - 1,049 - 1,049
Net difference between projected and actual 14 - 247 - 261
earnings on pension plan investments
Change in proportion - 26 - 135 - 161
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 37 - 488 - 525 -
Total $ 51 $ 26 $ 1,784 $ 135 $ 1,835 $ 161

The $37,000 and $488,000 reported by the SDTF and JDTF plans, respectively, as deferred outflows of resources related to
pensions, resulting from contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduction of the net
pension liability in the year ended December 31, 2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and

deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as presented in Table 59 (dollars in thousands).
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Table 59

Year SDTF JDTF
2016 $ (10) $ 335
2017 (8) 335
2018 3 335
2019 3 157
2020 - -
Thereafter - -
Total $ (12) $ 1,162

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation was determined using the actuarial assumptions and

other inputs in Table 60.

Table 60

SDTF JDTF
Price inflation 2.80% 2.80%
Salary increases, including wage inflation 3.90%-9.57% 4.40-5.40%
Investment Rate of Return, net of pension 7.50% 7.50%

plan investment expenses, including price inflation

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table for Males or Females, as appropriate, with adjustments
for mortality improvements based on a projection of Scale AA to 2020 with males set back 1 year, and females set back 2

years.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2013 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience
study for the period January 1, 2008 through December 31, 2011, adopted by PERA’s Board on November 13,2012, and an
economic assumption study, adopted by PERA’s Board on November 15,2013 and January 17, 2014.

The SDTF's and JDTF's long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-normal
distribution analysis in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected return, net of investment
expense and inflation) were developed for each major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce the long-term
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and

then adding expected inflation.

As of the most recent analysis on the long-term expected rate of return presented to the PERA Board on November 15,2013,
the target allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in Table
61.

Table 61
10-Year Expected
Target Geometric
Assset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return
U. S. equity - large cap 26.76% 5.00%
U.S. equity - small cap 4.40% 5.19%
Non U. S. equity - developed 22.06% 5.29%
Non U. S. equity - emerging 6.24% 6.76%
Core fixed income 24.05% 0.98%
High yield 1.53% 2.64%
Long duration government credit 0.53% 1.57%
Emerging market bonds 0.43% 3.04%
Real estate 7.00% 9.00%
Private equity 7.00% 7.15%

Total Asset Class 100.00%
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SDTF Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and
that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the fixed statutory rates specified in law, including current and
future AED and SAED, until the Actuarial Value Funding Ratio reaches 103.00%, at which point, the AED and SAED will each
drop 0.50% every year until they are zero. Based on those assumptions, the SDTF’s fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return
on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
The discount rate determination does not use the Municipal Bond Index Rate. There was no change in the discount rate from
the prior measurement date.

Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. Table 62
presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.50%, as well as
what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is

1-perccentage-point lower (6.50%) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.50%) than the current rate (dollars in thousands).

Table 62
Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
6.50% 7.50% 8.50%
City's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 864 $ 674 S 514

JDTF Discount Rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.14%. The projection of cash flows
used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and
that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the fixed statutory rates specified in law, including current and
future AED and SAED, until the Actuarial Value Funding Ratio reaches 103.00%, at which point, the AED and SAED will each
drop 0.50% every year until they are zero. Based on those assumptions, the projection test indicates the JDTF's fiduciary net
position was projected to be depleted in 2041 and, as a result, the municipal bond index rate was used in the determination
of the discount rate. The long-term expected rate of return of 7.50% on pension plan investments was applied to periods
before 2041 and the municipal bond index rate of 3.70%, the Bond Buyer General Obligation 10-year Municipal Bond Index
published monthly by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, was applied on and after 2041 to develop the
discount rate. The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability from the prior measurement date was 6.66%, a
change of (0.52)% compared to the current measurement date.

Sensitivity of the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate. Table 63
presents the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 6.14%, as well as
what the City’s proportionate share of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is

1-percentage-point lower (5.14%) or 1-percentage-point higher (7.14%) than the current rate (dollars in thousands).

Table 63
Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
5.14% 6.14% 7.14%

City's proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 11,822 S 8,854 S 6,319
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Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the
separately issued PERA financial reports found at https://www.copera.org/investments/pera-financial-reports.

2. Agent Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Plans
Denver Old Hire Fire and Police Pension Funds (FPPA Old Hire Fire and Police)

Plan Description. The Old Hire plans are agent multiple-employer defined benefit pension plans that are administered

by the Fire and Police Pension Association (FPPA). Authority for the plans, including benefit and contribution provisions,

is derived from Title 31, Articles 30, 30.5, and 31 of the Colorado Revised Statutes. The Plans are amended by statute. The
plans provide normal, early, vested, or deferred retirement benefits to plan participants. The Old Hire pension plans are

for fire fighter and police employees hired before April 8, 1978. The plans are accounted for using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting and are closed to new entrants. FPPA issues a publicly available
comprehensive annual financial report that includes the old hire plans and can be obtained at fppaco.org/toc_frames.html.

Funding Policy. The City is required to contribute to the Old Hire plans at an actuarially determined rate. Modification
of the Old Hire plans is regulated by state law and by FPPA Rules and Regulations as authorized by state law. Changes to
contribution requirements require an affirmative vote of 65.00% of active members and City Council ordinance. The City’s
contributions to the FPPA Old Hire Fire and Police plans for the year ended December 31, 2015 were $15,912,000 and
$18,977,000, respectively.

Plan Membership. The plan membership of the Old Hire plans as of December 31, 2014 is presented in Table 64.

Table 64

Old Hire Old Hire
Members Fire Police Total
Retirees and beneficiaries 831 1,098 1,929
Inactive, non-retired beneficiaries - - -
Active members 1 1 2
Total 832 1,099 1,931

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources, and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related
to Pensions. At December 31, 2015, the City reported a liability of $125,492,000 and $45,031,000 for the Old Hire Fire and
Old Hire Police plans, respectively, for the net pension liability related to the FPPA old hire plans. The net pension liabilities
were measured as of December 31, 2014, and the total pension liabilities used to calculate the net pension liabilities was
determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2013. Standard update procedures were used to roll forward the

total pension liabilities to December 31, 2014.

The components of the net pension liability of the City as of December 31, 2015, is presented in Table 65 (dollars in

thousands).
Table 65
Old Hire Old Hire
Members Fire Police
Total pension liability $ 474,369 $ 677,840
Fiduciary net position 348,877 632,809

Total $ 125,492 $ 45,031
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For the year ended December 31, 2015, the City recognized $10,035,000 and $5,142,000 of pension expense for the Old Hire
Fire and Old Hire Police plans, respectively. A summary of the City’s deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of

resources related to pensions for the Old Hire Fire and Old Hire Police plans as of December 31, 2015, is presented in Table 66

(dollars in thousands).

Table 66
Old Hire Fire 0ld Hire Police Total
Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows  Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows  Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ - $ = $ = B S $ S $ 2
Changes of assumptions or other inputs - - - - - -
Net difference between projected and actual 1,634 - 2,987 - 4,621 -
earnings on pension plan investments
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 15,912 - 18,977 - 34,889 -
Total $ 17,546 $ - $ 21,964 $ - $ 39,510 $ -

The $15,912,000 and $18,977,000 reported by the Old Hire Fire and Old Hire Police plans, respectively, as deferred outflows
of resources related to pensions, resulting from contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a
reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended December 31, 2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows

of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized as presented in Table 67 (dollars in

thousands).

Table 67

Old Hire Old Hire
Year Fire Police
2016 $ 409 $ 747
2017 409 747
2018 408 747
2019 408 746
2020 o -
Thereafter - -
Total $ 1,634 $ 2,987

The changes in net pension liability for Old Hire Fire and Old Hire Police plans are presented in Table 68.

Table 68
Old Hire Fire Old Hire Police
Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension
Liability Net Position Liability Liability Net Position Liability
Balances as of January 1, 2015 $ 482,022 $ 354,255 $ 127,767 $ 683,727 $ 630,564 $ 53,163
Changes for the year:
Service cost - - = - - -
Interest 34,596 - 34,596 49,249 - 49,249
Differences between expected - - - - - -
and actual experience
Contributions - employer - 13,944 (13,944) - 16,262 (16,262)
Contributions - employee - 7 (7) - 5 (5)
Net investment income - 23,465 (23,465) - 42,091 (42,091)
Benefit payments (42,249) (42,249) - (55,137) (55,137) -
Administrative expense - (545) 545 - (977) 977
Other changes - - - - - -
Total Net Changes $ (7,653) $ (5378) $ (2,275) $ (5,888) $ 2,244 $ (8,132)

Balances as of December 31,2015 $ 474,369 $ 348,877 $ 125,492 $ 677,839 $ 632,808 $ 45,031
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The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building block method in which
best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and
inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the Plans target asset allocation
as of December 31, 2014 these best estimates are summarized in Table 69.

Table 69
Long-Term
Target Expected Rate
Asset Class Allocation of Return
Global equity 40.00% 8.90%
Equity long/short 10.00% 7.50%
Illiquid alternatives 18.00% 10.50%
Fixed income 15.00% 4.60%
Absolute return 12.00% 6.50%
Managed futures 4.00% 5.50%
Cash 1.00% 2.50%

Total 100.00%

The total pension liability in the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation was determined using the actuarial assumptions and
other inputs reflected in Table 70.

Table 70

Old Hire Fire Old Hire Police
Investment rate of return 7.50% 7.50%
Salary increases n/a n/a
Inflation 3.00% 3.00%

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adjustment, projected with Scale AA.

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.50%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the
discount rate assumed that contributions from participating employers will be made based on the actuarially determined
rates based on the Board’s funding policy, which establishes the contractually required rates under Colorado statutes. Based
on those assumptions, the plan fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all the projected future benefit
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return of pension plan investments was

applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity of the City’s Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate. Table 71 presents the City’s net pension
liability/(asset), calculated using a discount rate of 7.50%, as well as what the City’s net pension liability/( asset) would be if it

were calculated using a discount rate that is 1.00% lower or 1.00% higher (dollars in thousands):

Table 71
1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase
6.50% 7.50% 8.50%
Old Hire Fire net pension liability $ 167,163 S 125,492 S 89,507
Old Police Fire net pension liability/asset 109,065 45,031 (9,755)

Total $ 276,228 $ 170,523 $ 79,752
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Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the
separately issued FPPA financial reports found at http://fppaco.org/toc_frames.html.

Each retirement system issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required

supplementary information of that plan. Those reports are available by contacting:

Colorado PERA Denver Employees Retirement Plan
P. 0. Box 5800 777 Pearl Street
Denver, Colorado 80217-5800 Denver, Colorado 80203

Fire and Police Pension Association
5290 DTC Parkway, Suite 100
Greenwood Village, Colorado 80111

Note H — OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

In addition to the pension benefits described in Note IV-G, the City provides health insurance to eligible retirees and their

qualifying dependents. Current and retired employees participate in the same group plans with blended premium rates creating

an implicit rate subsidy for the retirees in the plans.

1.

DERP Participants’ Plan Description. The City acts in a cost-sharing multiple-employer capacity by providing health
insurance to eligible DERP retirees and their qualified dependents through the City’s group insurance plans. As
authorized by section 18-412 of the City’s Revised Municipal Code, DERP retirees are allowed to participate in the health
insurance programs offered to active employees. To be eligible, a retiree must be a minimum of 55 years of age if hired
prior to July 1,2011, and a minimum of 60 years of age if hired after July 1, 2011, with 5 years of service and have begun
receiving their pension benefit. Coverage ceases when one reaches Medicare age. As of the December 31, 2014 actuarial
valuation, there are 7,464 active employees under age 65 covered under the health insurance plans. In addition, there
are 1,210 retired employees not yet covered by Medicare who are covered by the plans. There is no stand-alone financial
report for this medical coverage benefit and it is not included in the DERP report.

Funding Policy for DERP Participants’ Plan. DERP retirees are responsible for 100.00% of the blended premium
rate. They may choose to use their health benefit toward the premium costs. The health benefit associated with the
DERP pension (see Note IV-H) provides monthly health insurance premium reduction of $12.50 per year of service for
retired participants under the age of 65 and $6.25 per year of service for retirees age 65 and older. The City's required
contribution toward the implicit rate subsidy is based on pay-as-you-go financing.

Contributions made by the City toward the implicit rate subsidy for DERP participants were $5,685,000, $5,240,000, and
$5,485,000, for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively, based on pay-as-you-go financing.

The Schedule of Funding Progress, presented as Required Supplementary Information following the notes to the financial
statements, presents multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing

over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

PERA Participants’ Plan Description. The City acts in cost sharing multiple employer capacity by providing county
judges and the District Attorney access to the Health Care Trust Fund ("HCTF"), a healthcare trust administered by

PERA. The HCTF benefit provides a health care premium subsidy and health care programs (known as PERACare)

to PERA participating benefit recipients and their eligible beneficiaries. Title 24, Article 51, Part 12 of the C.R.S., as
amended, establishes the HCTF and sets forth a framework that grants authority to the PERA Board to contract, self-
insure and authorize disbursements necessary in order to carry out the purposes of the PERACare program, including

the administration of health care subsidies. PERA issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that
includes financial statements and required supplementary information for the HCTF. The report can be obtained at www.

copera.org/investments/pera-financial-reports.
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4. Funding Policy for PERA Participants’ Plan. The City is required to contribute at a rate of 1.02% of PERA-includable
salary for all PERA members as set by statute. No member contributions are required. The contribution requirements
for the City are established under Title 24, Article 51, Part 4 of the C.R.S., as amended. The apportionment of the
contributions to the HCTF is established under Title 24, Article 51, Section 208(1)(f) of the C.R.S., as amended. For the
years ending December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively the City contributions to the HCTF were $6,000, $5,000 and
$5,000, respectively, equal to their required contributions for each year.

5. FPPA Participants’ Plan Description. The City acts in a single-employer capacity by providing access to health
insurance to eligible FPPA retirees and their qualified dependents through the respective groups’insurance plans. Based
on City practice, fire fighter retirees and police officer retirees are allowed to participate in the health insurance programs
offered to active employees. Fire fighters and police officers hired prior to April 8, 1978, are eligible for this coverage
with a minimum of 25 years of service; however, police officers are also eligible when they begin collecting their pension
benefit should they not obtain 25 years of service. For FPPA employees hired after April 7, 1978, they must have elected
to begin collecting their pension and be a minimum of 55 years of age with 5 years of service or attained age 50 with
30 years of service. Coverage ceases when one reaches Medicare age. As of the December 31, 2014 actuarial valuation,
there are 2,393 active employees under age 65 covered under the health insurance plans. In addition, there are 230
retired employees not yet covered by Medicare who are covered by the plans. There is no stand-alone financial report for

this medical coverage benefit and it is not included in the FPPA report.

6. Funding Policy for FPPA Participants’ Plan. FPPA retirees are responsible for 100.00% of the blended premium rate.

The City’s required contribution toward the implicit rate subsidy is based on pay-as-you-go financing.

7. Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation for FPPA Participants Plan. The City’s annual other
postemployment benefit (OPEB) cost is calculated based on the Annual Required Contributions (ARC), an amount
actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid
on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liabilities
(AAL) over a period of 30 years. Table 72 (dollars in thousands) details the components of the City’s annual OPEB cost for
the year, the amount contributed, and changes in the City’s net OPEB obligation.

Table 72

Employer's normal cost $ 2,499
Amortization of unfunded AAL 1,928
Interest on net OPEB obligation 526
Adjustment to ARC (522)
Annual OPEB Cost 4,431

Employer contribution 1,940
Increase in net OPEB obligation 2,491

Net OPEB obligation - January 1 13,148
Net OPEB Obligation - December 31 S 15,639

The annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB Obligation for the year

ended December 31, 2015, and the two preceding years are detailed in Table 73 (dollars in thousands).

Table 73
% of Annual
Annual Cost OPEB Net OPEB
Fiscal Year Ended OPEB Cost Contributions Contributions Obligations
December 31,2013 $ 3,320 $ 1,665 50.2% $ 10,712
December 31,2014 4,236 1,800 42.5% 13,148

December 31, 2015 4,431 1,940 43.8% 15,639
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8.

Funded Status and Funding Progress for FPPA Participants Plan. The funded status for the year ended December 31,
2015, is presented in Table 74 (dollars in thousands).

Table 74
OPEB
Actuarial accrued liability (AAL) $ 50,461
Actuarial value of plan assets -
Unfunded AAL (UAAL) $ 50,461
Funded ratio 0.00%
Covered payroll $ 209,826
UAAL as a % of covered payroll 24.0%

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve the estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the
probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality,
and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required
contributions of the employer are subject to continual revisions as actual results are compared with past expectations

and new estimates are made about the future. The Schedule of Funding Progress, presented as Required Supplementary
Information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multi-year trend information about whether the
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions. Projections and benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the
substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and included in the types of benefits
provided at the time of each valuation and the historic pattern of benefit costs between the employer and the plan
members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the
effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with long-term
perspective of calculations. Table 75 details the actuarial methods and assumptions used.

Table 75

OPEB
Actuarial valuation date 12/31/14
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Amortization method Level % of pay
Remaining amortization period 30 years, open

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 4.00%
Heathcare cost trend Grading from 8.5%
decreasing by .5%
per year to 5%
thereafter
General inflation 3% annually
Projected salary increases 3.25%
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Required Supplementary Information Budgetary Comparison Schedule -

General Fund and Human Services Special Revenue Fund
Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

General Fund

Budget Variance with
Original Final Actual Final Budget
Revenues
Taxes $ 785,495 $ 792,745 $ 789,824 $ (2,921)
Licenses and permits 38,341 45,977 59,909 13,932
Intergovernmental revenues 30,407 32,385 33,240 855
Charges for services 187,099 195,369 189,573 (5,796)
Investment and interest income 4,914 6,570 7,388 818
Fines and forfeitures 57,788 56,605 52,989 (3,616)
Contributions - - 107 107
Other revenue 9,772 12,969 16,336 3,367
Total Revenues 1,113,816 1,142,620 1,149,366 6,746
Budget Basis Expenditures
General government 299,116 274,481 225,901 48,580
Public safety 520,385 523,834 523,738 96
Public works 128,311 129,660 126,383 3,277
Human services - - - -
Health 49,862 49,863 49,376 487
Parks and recreation 60,212 59,602 58,684 918
Cultural activities 43,773 43,950 44,381 (431)
Community development 22,934 23,329 21,650 1,679
Total Budget Basis Expenditures 1,124,593 1,104,719 1,050,113 54,606
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
budget basis expenditures (10,777) 37,901 99,253 61,352
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of capital assets - - 2 2
Issuance of capital leases - - 485 485
Insurance recoveries - - 285 285
Transfers in 49,755 52,728 56,366 3,638
Transfers out 140,879 (154,232) (126,207) 28,025
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 190,634 (101,504) (69,069) 32,435
Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other financing
sources over budget basis expenditures and
other financing uses $ 179,857 $ (63,603) 30,184 $ 93,787
Fund balances - January 1 364,016
Fund Balance - December 31 $ 394,200

See accompanying notes to required supplementary information.



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION FINANCIAL 111

Human Services Special Revenue Fund

Budget Variance with
Original Final Actual Final Budget
$ 58,068 $ 57,941 $ 58,057 $ 116
88,886 87,675 83,766 (3,909)
376 - 502 502
- - 276 276
8,439 8,185 574 (7,611)
155,769 153,801 143,175 (10,626)
147,195 155,931 138,170 17,761
147,195 155,931 138,170 17,761
8,574 (2,130) 5,005 7,135
- - 6 6
75 75 75 -
(75) (75) (1,575) (1,500)
- - (1,494) (1,494)
$ 8,574 $ (2,130) 3,51 $ 5,641
55,193
$ 58,704
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Notes To REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

The City adheres to the following procedures in establishing the budgetary data for governmental fund types reflected in the
financial statements:

1. Formal budgetary integration for expenditures is employed during the year for the general, special revenue, and capital
projects funds except for certain special assessment projects and general improvement district funds. Formal budgetary
integration is not employed for debt service funds, and certain special assessment projects and general improvement
district funds included in capital projects and debt service funds, because effective budgetary control is alternatively
achieved through bond and general obligation bond indenture provisions.

2. Budgets for appropriation in the General, Human Services special revenue, and capital projects funds are adopted on a
basis consistent with GAAP. The General Fund and Human Services special revenue fund legally adopt budgets on an
annual basis for expenditures. All other special revenue funds and the capital projects funds adopt budgets on a project

length basis.

3. Onor before July 1, heads of all City departments and agencies submit requests for appropriations to the budget officer
who compiles the requests and submits a comprehensive budget request document to the Mayor. Thereafter, on or
before September 15 of each year, the Mayor briefs the City Council on the tentative revenue and expenditure plans for
the ensuing year. After receiving and considering City Council’s recommendations, the Mayor prepares and submits to
the City Council, on or before the third Monday in October of each year, a proposed budgetary report which includes all
projected revenues and expenditures, the amount to be raised by taxation to pay interest on general obligation bonded
indebtedness, and the amounts to be expended during the ensuing year for capital improvement projects identifying the
sources of revenue for financing such projects. Upon receipt of the proposed budget, the City Council publishes a notice
that the budget is open for inspection by the public and that a public hearing on the proposed budget will be held by no
later than the fourth Monday in October. After the public hearing and consideration is given to the input by the public,

the City Council, not later than the second Monday in November, adopts the budget by passage of an ordinance.

4. Authorization to transfer budgeted amounts between departments (appropriations) within any fund or revisions that
alter the total expenditures of any fund must be approved by the City Council. Management can transfer budgeted
amounts between line items within departments (appropriations). The legal level of budgetary control is established and
maintained at the funded project level for special revenue and capital projects funds and at the department level for all

other funds. Budgeted amounts are as originally adopted and as amended by the City Council throughout the year.

5. Unencumbered appropriations in the General Fund and Human Services special revenue fund lapse at year end. The
unencumbered appropriations in the remaining special revenue funds and capital projects funds do not lapse at year

end, but terminate upon expiration of the grant or project fiscal year or term.
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Required Supplementary Information Other Postemployment Benefits -

Implicit Rate Subsidy

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Schedule of Funding Progress

Unfunded
Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Unfunded Actuarial Accrued
Valuation Value Accrued Liability Actuarial Funded Covered Liability as a % of
Date of Assets -Entry Age  Accrued Liability Ratio Payroll Covered Payroll
DERP
December 31,2013 $ - 5 89,879 § 89,879 0.0% $ 464,092 19.4%
December 31,2014 - 73,738 73,738 0.0% 487,408 15.1%
December 31,2015 = 73,495 73,495 0.0% 503,249 14.6%
FPPA
December 31,2013 % - S 40,931 40,931 00% § 203,699 20.1%
December 31,2014 - 47,906 47,906 0.0% 201,756 23.7%
December 31, 2015 - 50,461 50,461 0.0% 209,829 24.0%
Schedule of Employer Contributions
Employer Contributions
DERP FPPA
Annual Annual
Required Percentage Required Percentage
Year Ended Contribution Contributed Contribution Contributed
December 31,2013 $ 6,421 85.4% $ 3,198 49.4%
December 31,2014 4,987 105.1% 4,234 42.2%
December 31, 2015 5,048 112.5% 4,431 43.8%
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - DERP
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)
City's
Proportionate
Share of the Plan
City's Net Pension Fiduciary Net
City's Proportionate City's Liability (Asset) Position as a
Proportion of Share of the Covered as a Percentage Percentage
the Net Pension Net Pension - Employee of its Covered of the Total
Liability (Asset) Liability (Asset) Payroll - Employee Payroll Pension Liability
DERP
December 31,2015 88.88% $ 778,462 $ 511,922 152.07% 70.12%

Note: Information is not available prior to 2015. In future reports, additional years will be added until 10 years of historical data are presented.

Note: Information presented in this schedule has been determined as of the City's measurement date (December 31 of the year prior to the most
recent fiscal year) of the collective net pension liability in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68.
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of City Contributions - DERP

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Contributions in

Relation to City's Contributions as
Statutorily Statutorily Contribution Covered a % of Covered
Required Required Deficiency Employee Employee
Contributions Contribution (Excess Payroll Payroll
DERP
December 31, 2015 $ 64,443 $ 60,181 S 4262 $ 560,378 10.74%

Note: Information is not available prior to 2015. In future reports, additional years will be added until 10 years of historical data are presented.

Note: Information presented in this schedule has been determined as of the City's most recent fiscal year end (December 31) in accordance
with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68.

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - FPPA SWDB

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

City's

Proportionate
Share of the Plan
City's Net Pension Fiduciary Net
City's Proportionate City's Liability (Asset) Positionasa
Proportion of Share of the Covered as a Percentage Percentage
the Net Pension Net Pension - Employee of its Covered of the Total
Liability (Asset) Liability (Asset) Payroll - Employee Payroll Pension Liability

FPPA SWDB

December 31,2015 39.51% $ (44,591) $ 230,820 19.32% 106.80%

Note: Information is not available prior to 2015. In future reports, additional years will be added until 10 years of historical data are presented.

Note: Information presented in this schedule has been determined as of the City's measurement date (December 31 of the year prior to the most
recent fiscal year) of the collective net pension liability in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68.

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of City Contributions - FPPA SWDB

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Contributions in

Relation to City's Contributions as

Statutorily Statutorily Contribution Covered a % of Covered

Required Required Deficiency Employee Employee

FPPA Contributions Contribution (Excess Payroll Payroll
SWDB

December 31, 2015 $ 20,121 $ 15299 $ 4,822 $ 251,518 6.08%

Note: Information is not available prior to 2015. In future reports, additional years will be added until 10 years of historical data are presented.

Note: Information presented in this schedule has been determined as of the City's most recent fiscal year end (December 31) in accordance
with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68.
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of City Contributions - FPPA Old Hire Fire and Police

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Contributions in

Relation to Employer's Contributions as

Statutorily Actuarially Contribution Covered a % of Covered

Required Required Deficiency Employee Employee

FPPA Contributions Contribution (Excess Payroll Payroll

Old Hire Fire

December 31, 2015 13,061 S 15912 $ (2,851) $ 139 11447.48%
Old Hire Police

December 31,2015 16,262 § 18977 $ (2,715) $ 102 18604.90%

Note: Information is not available prior to 2015. In future reports, additional years will be added until 10 years of historical data are presented.

Note: Information presented in this schedule has been determined as of the City's most recent fiscal year end (December 31) in accordance

with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68.

Notes to Schedule

Valuation date: Actuarially determined contributions rates are calculated as of January 1 of even numbered years.
The contribution rates have a one-year lag, so the actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2012, determines the contribution amounts for 2013 and 2014.

Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates:

Actuarial cost method
Amortization method

Remaining amortization period

Asset valuation method
Inflation

Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Retirement age

Mortality

Old Hire Fire

0Old Hire Police

Entry Age Normal

Level Dollar, Open

18 Years

5-Year smoothed market
3.00%

N/A

7.50%

Any remaining actives are
assumed to retire
immediately.

Post-retirement: RP-2000
Combined Mortality Table,
with Blue Collar Adjustment
Disabled: RP-2000 Disabled
Mortality Table

All tables projected with
Scale AA.

Entry Age Normal
Level Dollar, Open
20 Years

3.00%

N/A

7.50%

Any remaining actives are
assumed to retire
immediately.

Post-retirement: RP-2000
Combined Mortality Table,
with Blue Collar Adjustment
Disabled: RP-2000 Disabled
Mortality Table

All tables projected with
Scale AA.


https://18604.90
https://11447.48
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of City's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - PERA

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

City's
Proportionate
Share of the Plan
City's Net Pension Fiduciary Net
City's Proportionate City's Liability (Asset) Position as a
Proportion of Share of the Covered as a Percentage Percentage
the Net Pension Net Pension - Employee of its Covered of the Total
Liability (Asset) Liability (Asset) Payroll - Employee Payroll Pension Liability
PERA SDTF
December 31, 2015 0.007% $ 674 $ 207 325.60% 59.80%
PERA JDTF
December 31, 2015 6.400% $ 8,854 $ 2,800 316.21% 66.90%

Note: Information is not available prior to 2015. In future reports, additional years will be added until 10 years of historical data are presented.

Note: Information presented in this schedule has been determined as of the City's measurement date (December 31 of the year prior to the most
recent fiscal year) of the collective net pension liability in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68.

Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of City's Contributions - PERA

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Contributions in

Relation to City's Contributions as

Statutorilly Statutorily Contribution Covered a % of Covered

Required Required Deficiency Employee Employee

PERA Contributions Contribution (Excess) Payroll Payroll
SDTF

December 31, 2015 $ 36 $ 37§ m s 221 16.43%
JDTF

December 31, 2015 $ 488 S 488 $ = 5 2,986 16.34%

Note: Information is not available prior to 2015. In future reports, additional years will be added until 10 years of historical data are presented.

Note: Information presented in this schedule has been determined as of the City's most recent fiscal year end (December 31) in accordance
with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68.
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the City's Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios - FPPA Old Hire Fire

(dollars in thousands)

FPPA Old Hire Fire 2015
Total pension liability
Service Cost $ B

Interest 34,596
Changes of benefit terms o
Differences between actual and expected experience -
Changes of assumptions -

Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (42,249)
Net change in total pension liability (7,653)
Total pension liability - beginning 482,022
Total pension liability - ending $ 474,369

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - employer $ 13,944
Contributions - employee 7
Net investment income 23,465
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (42,249)
Administrative expense (545)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position (5,378)
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 354,255
Plan fiduciary net position - ending $ 348,877
Net Pension Liability S 125,492
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 73.55%
Covered employee payroll 87
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll 143734.99%

Note: Information is not available prior to 2015. In future reports, additional years will be added until 10 years of historical data are presented.

Note: Information presented in this schedule has been determined as of the City's measurement date (December 31 of the year prior to the most
recent fiscal year) of the collective net pension liability in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68.
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Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the City's Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios - FPPA Old Hire Police

(dollars in thousands)

FPPA Old Hire Police 2015
Total pension liability
Service Cost $ -
Interest 49,249

Changes of benefit terms -
Differences between actual and expected experience -

Changes of assumptions -

Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (55,137)
Net change in total pension liability (5,888)
Total pension liability - beginning 683,727
Total pension liability - ending $ 677,839

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - employer $ 16,262
Contributions - employee 5
Net investment income 42,091
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (55,137)
Administrative expense (977)
Net change in plan fiduciary net position 2,244
Plan fiduciary net position - beginning 630,564
Plan fiduciary net position - ending $ 632,808
Net Pension Liability S 45,031
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 93.36%
Covered employee payroll 90
Net pension liability as a percentage of covered employee payroll 50070.05%

Note: Information is not available prior to 2015. In future reports, additional years will be added until 10 years of historical data are presented.

Note: Information presented in this schedule has been determined as of the City's measurement date (December 31 of the year prior to the most
recent fiscal year) of the collective net pension liability in accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 68.
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NonMaJsor GovERNMENTAL FuNDs

SPeciAL REVENUE FuNDs

Special revenue funds are operating funds used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are intended for specific purposes
other than special assessments or major capital projects.

General Government - to account for the proceeds of revenue not specifically accounted for in another special revenue fund.

Public Safety - to account for the proceeds of revenue to be used for public safety purposes.

Health - to account for the proceeds of revenue to be used for expenditures in connection with health related purposes and activities.

Culture and Recreation - to account for the proceeds of revenue to be used in providing culture and recreation services.

Community Development - to account for the proceeds of revenue to be used for community development purposes and

activities.

Economic Opportunity - to account for the proceeds of revenue to be used in providing economic opportunity services.

Special Funds - to account for resources by agreement for various purposes.

General Improvement Districts - to account for the financial resources segregated for the financing of improvements of properties within
the general improvement districts.

DesT SERVICE FUNDS

Debt service funds are used to account for the payment of principal and interest on long-term debt. Debt Service revenues are from taxes and
other operating revenues, some of which are pledged specifically to repay certain outstanding bond issues.

Bond Principal - to account for resources used for the payment of principal on governmental long-term debt.

Bond Interest - to account for resources used for the payment of interest on governmental long-term debt.

Excise Tax Revenue Bond - to account for the accumulation of funds for the payment of principal and interest on the Excise Tax Revenue
bonds.

General Improvement Districts - to account for the financial activities associated with the payment of principal and interest on General
Improvement District general obligation bonds.

CaPITAL ProJECTS FuNDs

Capital projects funds are used to account for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities other than those financed by proprietary
funds and trust funds.

«  Winter Park Capital Fund - to account for financial resources from the Winter Park Trust.

«  Capital Improvements - to account for financial resources segregated for the acquisition of major capital projects of the City other than

those financed by bond projects, other capital projects, enterprise funds, and internal service funds.

Conservation Trusts - to account for the proceeds from State Lottery Funds, investment earnings, and refunds; all used for parks and

recreation capital improvements.

Bond Projects Capital Fund - to account for the proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt to be used for paying the cost of projects as
set forth in bond issuing ordinances.

Other Capital Projects - to account for financial resources segregated for the financing of major capital projects for which grant or other

funds will be used.

Entertainment and Culture - to account for surplus seat tax used for capital improvements to entertainment and cultural facilities owned
by the City that generate seat taxes.

Special Assessments - to account for the financing of improvements and maintenance deemed to benefit properties against which special
assessments are levied.

PERMANENT FUND

« Cableland Trust - to account for resources by ordinance to be used to maintain the residence known as Cableland.
GOVERNMENTAL INDIVIDUAL FUND SCHEDULES AND STATEMENTS

«  General Fund and Human Services Special Revenue Fund - Schedules of Expenditures Compared with Authorizations.

«  General Fund - Comparative Balance Sheets and Comparative Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance.
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Funds

December 31,2015 (dollars in thousands)

Special Debt Capital Cableland
Revenue Service Projects Trust Total
Assets
Cash on hand $ 8,266 $ - $ - $ - $ 8,266
Cash and cash equivalents 69,848 68,635 311,981 774 451,238
Receivables (net of allowances

for uncollectibles of $85,948):

Taxes 42,974 116,164 66,267 - 225,405

Notes 61,018 - - - 61,018

Accounts 38,146 - 7,230 - 45,376

Accrued interest 244 269 1,307 24 1,844
Interfund receivable 1,330 - - - 1,330
Due from other governments 13,531 - 15,657 - 29,188
Prepaid items and other assets 218 - 5,000 - 5,218
Restricted assets: - -

Cash and cash equivalents 1,894 - - 3,000 4,894
Assets held for disposition 730 - - - 730
Total Assets $ 238,199 $ 185,068 $ 407,442 $ 3,798 $ 834,507
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows

of Resources, and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Vouchers payable $ 19,388 $ - $ 29,541 $ - $ 48,929

Accrued liabilities 472 - 3 - 475

Due to taxing units 75 - - - 75

Interfund payable 5,472 - - - 5,472

Unearned revenue 3,346 - 6,977 - 10,323

Advances 7,989 - - - 7,989

Compensated absences 53 - - - 53
Total Liabilities 36,795 - 36,521 - 73,316
Deferred Inflows of Resources:

Unavailable revenues - property tax 39,487 111,589 64,389 - 215,465

Unavailable revenues - long-term receivables 30,757 - 5,454 - 36,211
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 70,244 111,589 69,843 - 251,676
Fund Balances:

Nonspendable 218 - 5,000 3,000 8,218

Restricted 99,012 73,479 296,078 798 469,367

Committed 2,262 - - 2,262

Assigned 30,040 - - 30,040

Unassigned (372) - - - (372)
Total Fund Balances 131,160 73,479 301,078 3,798 509,515
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows

of Resources, and Fund Balances $ 238,199 $ 185,068 $ 407,442 $ 3,798 $ 834,507
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -

Nonmajor Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Special Debt Capital Cableland
Revenue Service Projects Trust Total
Revenues
Taxes:
Facilities development admission $ - $ 2,290 $ 10,279 $ - S 12,569
Lodgers 22,905 36,399 - - 59,304
Property 40,362 88,690 54,869 - 183,921
Sales and use 19,504 38,128 697 - 58,329
Specific ownership 232 - - - 232
Telephone 7,936 - - - 7,936
Special assessments - - 1,575 - 1,575
Licenses and permits 1,621 - - - 1,621
Intergovernmental revenues 67,832 - 39,079 - 106,911
Charges for services 74,611 - 419 - 75,030
Investment and interest income 2,078 1,146 4,226 160 7,610
Fines and forfeitures 551 - - - 551
Contributions 3,662 - 612 - 4,274
Other revenue 42,489 5,524 180 - 48,193
Total Revenues 283,783 172,177 111,936 160 568,056
Expenditures
Current:
General government 72,665 - 29,101 - 101,766
Public safety 86,117 - 2,160 - 88,277
Public works 1,612 - 69,334 - 70,946
Health 10,702 - 4,033 - 14,735
Parks and recreation 2,595 - 12,713 - 15,308
Cultural activities 61,565 - 4,649 - 66,214
Community development 23,276 - - - 23,276
Economic opportunity 19,212 - - - 19,212
Debt service: -
Principal retirement 21,195 72,162 2,261 - 95,618
Interest 11,398 49,784 1,693 - 62,875
Bond issuance costs - - 491 - 491
Capital outlay - - 35,194 - 35,194
Total Expenditures 310,337 121,946 161,629 - 593,912
Excess (deficiency) of revenues (26,554) 50,231 (49,693) 160 (25,856)
over (under) expenditures
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of capital assets 261 - 33 - 294
Issuance of certificate of participation - - 22,470 - 22,470
Issuance of capital leases - - - - -
Bond premium - - 1,422 - 1,422
Issuance of bonds - - - - -
Insurance recoveries 968 - 7 - 975
Transfers in 34,393 - 115,593 - 149,986
Transfers out (16,950) (46,426) (11,207) (190) (74,773)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 18,672 (46,426) 128,318 (190) 100,374
Net change in fund balances (7,882) 3,805 78,625 (30) 74,518
Fund balances - January 1 139,042 69,674 222,453 3,828 434,997

Fund Balances - December 31 $ 131,160 $ 73,479 $ 301,078 S 3,798 $ 509,515
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

General Public
Government Safety Health
Assets
Cash on hand S 2,303 S 2 -
Cash and cash equivalents 15,135 10,887 -
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles of $81,147)

Taxes 3,487 39,138 -

Notes 12,516 - -

Accounts 1,412 2,728 1

Accrued interest 47 9 -
Interfund receivable 26 - -
Due from other governments 2,897 2,358 3,287
Prepaid items and other assets - - -
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents - - -
Assets held for disposition - - -
Total Assets $ 37,823 $ 55,122 3,288
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows

of Resources, and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Vouchers payable S 4,829 S 2,837 1,130

Accrued liabilities 18 102 18

Due to taxing units - 75 -

Interfund payable 70 2 1,344

Unearned revenue 1,182 931 180

Advances 2,000 193 -

Compensated absences 53 - -
Total Liabilities 8,152 4,140 2,672
Deferred Inflows of Resources:

Unavailable revenues - property tax - 39,138 -

Unavailable revenues - long-term receivables 633 289 -
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 633 39,427 -
Fund Balances:

Nonspendable - - -

Restricted 16,589 11,555 616

Committed 1,369 -

Assigned 11,080 - -

Unassigned - - -
Total Fund Balances 29,038 11,555 616
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows

of Resources, and Fund Balances $ 37,823 $ 55,122 3,288
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General
Culture and Community Economic Special Improvement
Recreation Development Opportunity Funds Districts Total
5,953 $ - 8 $ - - $ 8,266
24,548 7,871 - 11,101 306 69,848
- - N - 349 42,974
- 48,502 - - - 61,018
3,466 - - 30,471 68 38,146
10 23 - 155 - 244
- 1 1,303 - - 1,330
379 1,672 2,934 - 4 13,531
218 - - - - 218
- 120 - 1,759 15 1,894
- 730 - - - 730
34,574 $ 58,919 4,245 $ 43,486 742 $ 238,199
7,228 $ 2,229 771 $ 346 18 $ 19,388
91 39 142 62 - 472
- - - - - 75
28 136 3,704 188 - 5,472
255 798 - - - 3,346
5,796 - - - - 7,989
- - - - - 53
13,398 3,202 4,617 596 18 36,795
- - - - 349 39,487
29 - - 29,806 - 30,757
29 - - 29,806 349 70,244
218 - - - - 218
2,330 55,717 - 12,191 14 99,012
- - - 893 - 2,262
18,599 - - - 361 30,040
- - (372) - - (372)
21,147 55,717 (372) 13,084 375 131,160
34,574 $ 58,919 4,245 $ 43,486 742 $ 238,199
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -

Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

General Public
Government Safety Health

Revenues
Taxes:

Lodgers S 22,905 S - -

Property 4,249 35,890 -

Sales and use 19,504 - -

Specific ownership - - -

Telephone - - -
Licenses and permits 1,621 - -
Intergovernmental revenues 10,808 25,954 10,482
Charges for services 6,169 7,789 2
Investment and interest income 337 1 -
Fines and forfeitures - 551 -
Contributions 1,233 55 366
Other revenue 9,478 660 -
Total Revenues 76,304 70,910 10,850
Expenditures
Current:

General government 72,630 - -

Public safety 125 69,952 -

Public works 1,612 - -

Health 30 - 10,672

Parks and recreation - - -

Cultural activities 22 - -

Community development 590 - -

Economic opportunity - - -
Debt service:

Principal retirement - 69 -

Interest - 7 -
Total Expenditures 75,009 70,028 10,672
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures 1,295 882 178
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of capital asset - - -
Insurance recoveries 949 - -
Transfers in 784 97 -
Transfers out (5,450) (542) -
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (3,717) (445) -
Net change in fund balances (2,422) 437 178
Fund balances - January 1 31,460 11,118 438
Fund Balances - December 31 $ 29,038 $ 11,555 616
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General
Cultural and Community Economic Special Improvement

Recreation Development Opportunity Funds District Total
- $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 22,905

- - - - 223 40,362

- - - - - 19,504

- - - - 232 232

- - - 7,936 - 7,936

- = - - = 1,621

591 11,578 8,419 - - 67,832

43,825 5,896 10,303 627 - 74,611
27 1,338 - 363 2 2,078

- - - - - 551

2,008 - - - - 3,662
25,469 1,113 38 5,700 31 42,489
71,920 19,925 18,760 14,626 488 283,783
32 - - 3 - 72,665

- - - 15,360 680 86,117

- - - - - 1,612

- - - - - 10,702

2,569 - - 26 - 2,595
61,543 - - - - 61,565
- 22,686 - - - 23,276

- - 19,212 - - 19,212

- 6,025 - 15,101 - 21,195

- - - 11,391 - 11,398
64,144 28,711 19,212 41,881 680 310,337
7,776 (8,786) (452) (27,255) (192) (26,554)

- - - 261 - 261

19 - - - - 968
2,700 - - 30,812 - 34,393
(6,938) - - (4,020) - (16,950)
(4,219) - - 27,053 - 18,672
3,557 (8,786) (452) (202) (192) (7,882)
17,590 64,503 80 13,286 567 139,042

21,147 $ 55,717 $ (372) $ 13,084 $ 375 $ 131,160




126 City AND COUNTY OF DENVER

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Debt Service Funds

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Excise General
Bond Bond Tax Revenue Improvement
Principal Interest Bond Districts Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12,834 35,205 S 20,229 S 367 S 68,635
Receivables (net of allowances

for uncollectibles of $578):

Taxes 71,405 39,444 5,086 229 116,164

Accrued interest - 204 65 - 269
Total Assets 84,239 74,853 S 25,380 $ 596 S 185,068
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows

of Resources, and Fund Balances
Liabilities - - - -

Total Liabilities Balance - - - - -
Deferred Inflows of Resources:

Unavailable revenues - property tax 71,744 39,616 - 229 111,589
Total of Deferred Inflows of Resources 71,744 39,616 - 229 111,589
Fund Balances:

Restricted 12,495 35,237 25,380 367 73,479
Total Fund Balances 12,495 35,237 25,380 367 73,479
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows

of Resources, and Fund Balances 84,239 74,853 $ 25,380 $ 596 $ 185,068
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -

Nonmajor Debt Service Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

General
Bond Bond Excise Tax Improvement
Principal Interest Revenue Bond Districts Total

Revenues
Taxes:

Facilities development admission - $ - $ 2,290 $ - $ 2,290

Lodgers - - 36,399 - 36,399

Property 42,775 45,207 - 708 88,690

Sales and use - - 38,128 - 38,128
Investment and interest income - 752 394 - 1,146
Other revenue - 5,524 - - 5,524
Total Revenues 42,775 51,483 77,211 708 172,177
Expenditures
Principal retirement 51,972 - 19,785 405 72,162
Interest - 39,055 10,434 295 49,784
Total Expenditures 51,972 39,055 30,219 700 121,946
Excess (deficiency) of revenues (9,197) 12,428 46,992 8 50,231

over (under) expenditures
Other Financing Uses
Transfers out - - (46,426) - (46,426)
Total Other Financing Uses - - (46,426) - (46,426)
Net change in fund balances (9,197) 12,428 566 8 3,805
Fund balances - January 1 21,692 22,809 24,814 359 69,674
Fund Balances - December 31 12,495 S 35,237 S 25,380 S 367 S 73,479
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Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Winter Park Capital Conservation
Capital Fund Improvements Trusts
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents S 6,231 S 184,146 S 10,300
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles of $4,223):
Taxes - 64,099 -
Accounts - 1,776 -
Accrued interest 13 661 153
Interfund receiviable - - -
Due from other governments - - -
Prepaid items and other assets - 1,000 -
Total Assets $ 6,244 $ 251,682 $ 10,453
Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources, and Fund Balances
Liabilities:
Vouchers payable $ 579 $ 12,731 $ 227
Accrued liabilities - - -
Interfund payable - - -
Unearned revenue - - -
Total Liabilities 579 12,731 227
Deferred Inflow of Resources:
Unavailable revenues - property tax - 64,389 -
Unavailable revenues - long-term receivables - - -
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - 64,389 -
Fund Balances:
Nonspendable - 1,000 -
Restricted 5,665 173,562 10,226
Committed - - -
Total Fund Balances 5,665 174,562 10,226

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Fund Balances $ 6,244 $ 251,682 $ 10,453
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Bond Other Capital Entertainment Special
Projects Projects and Culture Assessments Total
$ 68,191 $ 27,462 $ 14,359 $ 1,292 $ 311,981
- 184 878 1,106 66,267
- 5,454 - - 7,230
297 128 50 5 1,307
- 15,657 - - 15,657
- 4,000 - - 5,000
$ 68,488 $ 52,885 $ 15,287 $ 2,403 $ 407,442
$ 4,600 $ 10,978 $ 415 S 1 S 29,541
3 - - - 3
- 5,871 - 1,106 6,977
4,603 16,849 415 1,117 36,521
- - - - 64,389
- 5,454 - - 5,454
- 5,454 - - 69,843
- 4,000 - - 5,000
63,885 26,582 14,872 1,286 296,078
63,885 30,582 14,872 1,286 301,078
$ 68,488 $ 52,885 $ 15,287 $ 2,403 $ 407,442
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -

Nonmajor Capital Projects Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Winter Park Capital Conservation
Capital Fund Improvements Trusts
Revenues
Taxes:
Facilities development admission - $ - -
Property - 54,869 -
Sales and use - - -
Special assessments - - -
Intergovernmental revenues - 8,491 6,114
Charges for services - 166 -
Investment and interest income 58 2,016 401
Contributions - - -
Other revenue - 5 1
Total Revenues 58 65,547 6,516
Expenditures
Current:
General government - 25,708 -
Public safety - - -
Public works - 50,856 -
Health - 4,033 -
Parks and recreation 1,359 2,002 4,090
Cultural activities - 1,488 -
Community development - - -
Debt service:
Principal retirement - 2,261 -
Interest - 1,693 -
Bond issuance costs - - -
Capital outlay 1,300 9,173 1,045
Total Expenditures 2,659 97,214 5,135
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (2,601) (31,667) 1,381
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of capital assets - 33 -
Issuance of certificate of participation - - -
Issuance of capital leases - - -
Bond premium - - -
Issuance of bonds - - -
Issuance recoveries - 1 -
Transfers in 3,296 105,372 -
Transfers out - (2,292) (643)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 3,296 103,114 (643)
Net change in fund balances 695 71,447 738
Fund balances - January 1 4,970 103,115 9,488
Fund Balances - December 31 5,665 $ 174,562 10,226
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Bond Other Capital Entertainment Special

Projects Projects and Culture Assessments Total
- $ - 10,279 - $ 10,279

- - - - 54,869

- 697 - - 697

- 495 - 1,080 1,575

- 24,474 - - 39,079

7 246 - - 419

1,252 364 118 17 4,226

- 612 - - 612

19 155 - B 180
1,278 27,043 10,397 1,097 111,936

322 3,071 - - 29,101

- 2,160 - - 2,160

7,847 9,710 - 921 69,334

N — - N 4,033

122 5,024 116 - 12,713
232 80 2,849 - 4,649

- - - - 2,261

- - - - 1,693

- 491 - - 491

9,811 13,707 158 B 35,194
18,334 34,243 3,123 921 161,629
(17,056) (7,200) 7,274 176 (49,693)
- - - - 33

- 22,470 - - 22,470

- 1,422 - - 1,422

- 6 - - 7

- 6,925 - - 115,593
- (7,572) (700) - (11,207)

- 23,251 (700) - 128,318
(17,056) 16,051 6,574 176 78,625
80,941 14,531 8,298 1,110 222,453
63,885 $ 30,582 14,872 1,286 $ 301,078
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Schedule of Expenditures Compared with Authorizations - General Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

2015 Annual
Authorizations Budget Basis Authorized
After Revisions Expenditures Balance
General Government
Mayor's Office $ 1,792 $ 1,761 $ 31
Civic Events 811 811 -
Office of Special Events 356 345 1
Education/Advocacy Initiatives 2,632 2,070 562
Workforce Development 1,109 1,105 4
Public Defenders Office 884 881 3
City Council 4,752 4,486 266
Board of Ethics 125 125 -
Office of Human Resources 11,948 11,859 89
Career Service Authority Hearing Office 502 491 1
City Attorney 29,489 28,073 1,416
Clerk and Recorder 9,065 6,845 2,220
Board of Adjustment 314 307 7
Human Rights and Community Partnerships 1,373 1,346 27
General Services 51,145 46,828 4317
Auditor 6,863 6,206 657
Department of Finance 59,363 43,770 15,593
Contingency 21,251 - 21,251
Unemployment Insurance 700 700 -
Adams Mark Tax Increment 2,151 2,742 (591)
Annual Rental Payments 2,031 1,467 564
Payments to Elderly and Disabled 2,525 1,595 930
Historic Tax Rebates 300 300 -
Excise and Licenses 4,205 3,385 820
Technology Services 53,757 51,173 2,584
Office of Economic Development 5,038 7,230 (2,192)
Total General Government S 274,481 $ 225,901 S 48,580
Public Safety
Safety Administration $ 19,222 $ 19,115 $ 107
Civil Service Commission 1,635 1,421 214
County Court 22,191 22,063 128
District Attorney 22,123 21,645 478
Emergency Management 697 587 110
Fire 126,286 126,475 (189)
Independent Monitor 1,401 1,353 48
Police 211,598 211,770 (172)
Undersheriff 118,681 119,309 (628)
Total Public Safety $ 523,834 $ 523,738 $ 96

continued
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Schedule of Expenditures Compared with Authorizations - General Fund -

continued

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

2015 Annual
Authorizations Budget Basis Authorized
After Revisions Expenditures Balance

Public Works 129,660 126,383 $3,277
Total Public Works 129,660 126,383 3,277
Health
Environmental Health 12,159 11,723 436
City Payments to Health Authority 30,900 30,849 51

Clinic 2,631 2,631 -

Denver CARE.S. 4,076 4,076 B

Poison Center 97 97 -
Total Health 49,863 49,376 487
Parks and Recreation 59,602 58,684 918
Total Parks and Recreation 59,602 58,684 918
Cultural Activities
Arts and Venues 2,423 2,423 -
Denver Public Library 41,527 41,958 (431)
Total Cultural Activities 43,950 44,381 (431)
Community Development 23,329 21,650 1,679
Total Community Development 23,329 21,650 1,679
Total 1,104,719 1,050,113 54,606
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Schedule of Expenditures Compared with Authorizations -

Human Services Special Revenue Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

2015 Annual

Authorizations Budget Basis Authorized

After Revisions Expenditures Balance
Grants - Currently Active
13001 Federal $ 1,084 $ 1,084 $ -
13007 Community Service 834 834 -
13009 Emergency Shelter 589 589 -
13012 Emergency Shelter Plus Care 3,501 3,501 -
13017 Child Care 3,564 2,227 1,337
13019 Homeless Vets Reintegration and Training 80 80 -
13601 Human Services Privately Funded 263 263 -
State/County Welfare
13005 Child Welfare 38,253 34,258 3,995
13008 County Public Welfare 84,846 73,374 11,472
13301 Prenatal Fees Incentive 74 74 -
13303 Aid to the Needy Disabled 1,000 831 169
13304 Board for Developmentally Disabled 11,466 11,330 136
13305 General Assistance 1,578 1,452 126
13306 Local Funded Community Service 6,487 5,961 526
13501 Human Services State Funded 318 318 -
City and Other Projects
13502 Integrated Care Management Incentive 203 203 -
13701 Americorps Donations 120 120 -
13703 Drug Strategy Donations 5 5 -
13704 Homeless Services Donations 1,391 1,391 -
13706 DHS Volunteer Services 18 18 -
13802 Family Crisis Project 1" 1 -
13806 Youth Transitional Housing - - -
13808 Energy Assistance 130 130 -
13811 Assistance Incentive Program 116 116 -
Total $ 155,931 $ 138,170 ' $ 17,761

"Includes grantor expenditures of $10,274 reported in the Economic Opportunity Special Revenue Fund.
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Comparative Balance Sheets - General Fund
December 31,2015 and 2014 (dollars in thousands)

Totals
December 31,
2015 2014
Assets
Cash on hand $ 117 $ 140
Cash and cash equivalents 273,039 270,048
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles of $61,519 and $53,012)

Taxes 185,474 180,913

Notes 430 2,785

Accounts 21,999 19,541

Accrued interest 1,973 1,876
Interfund receivable 12,436 9,077
Prepaid items and other assets 2,890 425
Restricted assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 65,283 51,218
Assets held for disposition - 11,436
Total Assets $ 563,641 $ 547,459
Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Vouchers payable $ 19,240 $ 19,921

Accrued liabilities 15,882 35,582

Due to taxing units 556 266

Interfund payable 36 3,548

Unearned revenue 1,133 656

Advances 25 -
Total Liabilities 36,872 59,973
Deferred Inflows of Resources:

Unavailable revenues - property tax 118,702 109,534

Unavailable revenues - long-term receivables 13,867 13,936
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 132,569 123,470
Fund Balance:

Nonspendable 2,890 425

Restricted 65,713 65,439

Committed 32,121 30,388

Unassigned 293,476 267,764
Total Fund Balance 394,200 364,016

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, and Fund Balances S 563,641 S 547,459
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Comparative Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance -

General Fund
For the Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 (dollars in thousands)

Totals
Year ended December 31,
2015 2014

Revenues
Taxes:

Lodgers $ 23,072 $ 21,062

Motor vehicle ownership 26,647 23,944

Occupational privilege 48,293 46,438

Property 107,198 112,120

Sales and use 581,922 555,428

Telephone 2,692 2,680
Licenses and permits 59,909 48,425
Intergovernmental revenues 33,240 31,647
Charges for services 189,573 169,047
Investment and interest income 7,388 7,499
Fines and forfeitures 52,989 51,954
Contributions 107 -
Other revenue 16,336 8,233
Total Revenues 1,149,366 1,078,477
Expenditures
Current:

General government 230,258 211,460

Public safety 518,800 500,627

Public works 121,516 129,111

Health 49,301 48,957

Parks and recreation 57,914 57,476

Cultural activities 44,213 41,064

Community development 21,515 18,152

Economic opportunity 601 527
Principal retirement 4,998 6,434
Interest 997 1,072
Total Expenditures 1,050,113 1,014,880
Excess of revenues over expenditures 99,253 63,597
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of capital assets 2 99
Issuance of capital leases 485 18,763
Insurance recoveries 285 177
Transfers in 56,366 46,045
Transfers out (126,207) (52,000)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (69,069) 13,084
Net change in fund balance 30,184 76,681
Fund balances - January 1 364,016 287,335

Fund Balance - December 31 S 394,200 S 364,016




Proprietary Funds




PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Proprietary funds are a group of funds that account for activities that are often seen in the private sector and are operated in a similar manner as
in the private sector.

ENTERPRISE FUNDS

«  Environmental Services - to account for the operation and activity of the City’s chemical waste disposal, phase out of hazardous materials

disposal sites, and litter prevention.

«  Golf Course - to account for the administration, operation, maintenance and improvement of City-owned golf facilities.

INTERNAL SERVICE FUNDS

«  Fleet Maintenance - to account for the financing of automotive repairs and services provided to departments of the City or to other

governmental units on a cost reimbursement basis.

Asphalt Plant - to account for the expenditures and revenues of the City’s Asphalt Plant that provides a service to the metropolitan Denver

area and is an essential element in the street resurfacing program of the City’s Street Maintenance division.

Workers’ Compensation - to account for the City’s workers compensation self insurance activities.
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Combining Statement of Net Position - Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Environmental Golf
Services Course Total
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,375 3,054 21,429
Receivables:
Accounts 2,217 3 2,220
Accrued interest 116 16 132
Inventories - 173 173
Interfund receivable 3 - 3
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 6,330 - 6,330
Accounts receivable 501 - 501
Accrued interest receivable 23 - 23
Total Current Assets 27,565 3,246 30,811
Capital assets:
Land and construction in progress 3,168 1,131 4,299
Buildings and improvements 691 12,788 13,479
Improvements other than buildings - 15,835 15,835
Machinery and equipment 198 5,672 5,870
Accumulated depreciation (799) (20,183) (20,982)
Net capital assets 3,258 15,243 18,501
Long-term receivables 2,000 - 2,000
Total Noncurrent Assets 5,258 15,243 20,501
Total Assets 32,823 18,489 51,312
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows on pensions 735 646 1,381
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 735 646 1,381
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Vouchers payable 796 90 886
Revenue bonds payable - 540 540
Accrued liabilities 91 149 240
Unearned revenue - 431 431
Interfund payable 61 12 73
Capital lease obligations - 614 614
Compensated absences 210 196 406
Total Current Liabilities 1,158 2,032 3,190
Noncurrent liabilities:
Revenue bonds payable, net - 2,433 2,433
Net pension liability 4,765 3,700 8,465
Capital lease obligations - 708 708
Compensated absences 348 471 819
Total Noncurrent Liabilities 5113 7,312 12,425
Total Liabilities 6,271 9,344 15,615
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 3,258 10,948 14,206
Restricted for capital projects 6,854 - 6,854
Unrestricted 17,175 (1,157) 16,018
Total Net Position $ 27,287 9,791 37,078
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position -

Nonmajor Enterprise Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Environmental Golf
Services Course Total

Operating Revenues
Charges for services 10,530 S 10,539 21,069
Other revenue 5,266 4 5,270
Total Operating Revenues 15,796 10,543 26,339
Operating Expenses
Personnel services 4,617 5,355 9,972
Contractual services 3,914 1,010 4,924
Supplies and materials 174 1,109 1,283
Depreciation 12 1,133 1,145
Other operating expenses 1,254 1,977 3,231
Total Operating Expenses 9,971 10,584 20,555
Operating income (loss) 5,825 (41) 5,784
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment and interest income 211 28 239
Interest expense - (185) (185)
Net Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 211 (157) 54
Income (loss) before transfers 6,036 (198) 5,838
Transfers out (2,250) - (2,250)
Change in Net Position 3,786 (198) 3,588
Net position - January 1, as previously reported 27,432 12,933 40,365

Change in accounting position - GASB 68 (3,931) (2,944) (6,875)
Net position - January 1, as restated 23,501 9,989 33,490
Net Position - December 31 27,287 S 9,791 37,078
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Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Nonmajor Enterprise Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Environmental Golf

Services Course Total
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from customers $ 12,460 $ 10,634 $ 23,094
Payments to suppliers (5,697) (4,246) (9,943)
Payments to employees (4,800) (5,276) (10,076)
Other receipts 5,266 4 5,270
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 7,229 1,116 8,345
Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Transfers out (2,250) - (2,250)
Net Cash Used by Noncapital Financing Activities (2,250) - (2,250)
Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities
Gain/Loss on asset disposal - 152 152
Principal payments - (1,119) (1,119)
Interest paid on capital debt - (182) (182)
Acquisition of capital assets 36 (581) (545)
Net Cash Used by Capital and Related Financing Activities 36 (1,730) (1,694)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received 178 34 212
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 5,193 (580) 4,613
Cash and cash equivalents - January 1 19,512 3,634 23,146
Cash and Cash Equivalents - December 31 $ 24,705 $ 3,054 $ 27,759

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash

Provided by Operating Activities
Operating income (loss) $ 5,825 $ (41) $ 5,784
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 12 1,133 1,145
Accounts receivable (219) 12 (207)
Inventories - (7) (7)
Vouchers payable 9) (139) (148)
Unearned revenue - 83 83
Accrued liabilities (282) (30) (312)
Interfund payable 1,803 (4) 1,799
Items related to pension plans 99 109 208
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 7,229 $ 1,116 $ 8,345

Noncash Activities
Amortization of bond premiums - 5 5
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Combining Statement of Net Position - Internal Service Funds

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Fleet Asphalt Workers'
Maintenance Plant Compensation Total
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ - 4,830 36,678 41,508
Receivables:
Accounts - 1 1,346 1,347
Accrued interest - - 396 396
Inventories - 81 - 81
Interfund receivable - 32 - 32
Total Current Assets - 4,944 38,420 43,364
Capital Assets:
Land - - - -
Buildings and improvements - 3,627 - 3,627
Machinery and equipment - 1,642 - 1,642
Accumulated depreciation - (5,054) - (5,054)
Net capital assets - 215 - 215
Total Assets - 5,159 38,420 43,579
Liabilities
Current Liabilities:
Vouchers payable - 108 882 990
Accrued liabilities - 7 21 28
Interfund payable - 2 131 133
Compensated absences - 11 114 225
Claims reserve - - 9,808 9,808
Total Current Liabilities - 228 10,956 11,184
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Compensated absences - - 101 101
Claims reserve - - 19,641 19,641
Total noncurrent liabilities - - 19,742 19,742
Total Liabilities - 228 30,698 30,926
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets - 215 - 215
Unrestricted - 4,716 7,722 12,438
Total Net Position $ - 4,931 $ 7,722 12,653
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Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position -

Internal Service Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Fleet Asphalt Workers'
Maintenance Plant Compensation Total

Operating Revenues
Charges for services $ - 9,013 7,991 17,004
Other revenue - 29 2,617 2,646
Change in claims reserve - - 2,022 2,022
Total Operating Revenues - 9,042 12,630 21,672
Operating Expenses
Personnel services - 593 1,546 2,139
Contractual services - 61 556 617
Supplies and materials - 7,600 474 8,074
Depreciation - 167 - 167
Claims payments - - 9,592 9,592
Other operating expenses 6,212 371 1,423 8,006
Total Operating Expenses 6,212 8,792 13,591 28,595
Operating income (loss) (6,212) 250 (961) (6,923)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Investment and interest income - — 415 415
Interest expense - - - -
Net Nonoperating

Revenues (Expenses) - - 415 415
Income (loss) before transfers (6,212) 250 (546) (6,508)
Capital contributions -
Transfers out (1,597) - - (1,597)
Change in net position (7,809) 250 (546) (8,105)
Net position - January 1 7,809 4,681 8,268 20,758
Net Position - December 31 S - 4,931 7,722 12,653
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Combining Statement of Cash Flows - Internal Service Funds
For the Year Ended December 31,2015 (dollars in thousands)

Fleet Asphalt Workers'
Maintenance Plant Compensation Total
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Receipts from customers $ 3,878 9,030 $ 7,478 $ 20,386
Payments to suppliers (6,609) (7,871) (2,457) (16,937)
Payments to employees (1,169) (602) (1,566) (3,337)
Other receipts - 29 2,617 2,646
Claims paid - - (9,592) (9,592)
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities (3,900) 586 (3,520) (6,834)
Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities
Transfers out (1,597) - - (1,597)
Net Cash Provided By Noncapital Financing Activities (1,597) - - (1,597)
Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Principal payments - - - -
Interest payments - - - -
Other receipts 4,368 - - 4,368
Net Cash Used by Capital and Related Financing Activities 4,368 - - 4,368
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received - - 392 392
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,129) 586 (3,128) (3,671)
Cash and cash equivalents - January 1 1,129 4,244 39,806 45,179
Cash and Cash Equivalents - December 31 $ - 4,830 $ 36,678 $ 41,508
Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash
Provided (Used) by Operating Activities
Operating income (loss) $ (6,212) 250 $ (961) $ (6,923)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation - 167 - 167
Accounts receivable 126 (1) (513) (388)
Interfund receivable 3,752 18 - 3,770
Inventories 2,556 29 - 2,655
Vouchers payable (499) 68 (78) (509)
Accrued liabilities (1,169) 9) (20) (1,198)
Interfund payable (304) (6) 74 (236)
Advances (2,150) - - (2,150)
Claims reserved - - (2,022) (2,022)
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities $ (3,900) 586 $ (3,520) $ (6,834)

Noncash Activities
Assets acquired through capital contributions $ -



Fiduciary Funds




FibuciArY FunDs

Fiduciary funds are trust and agency funds which account for assets held by a governmental unit in a trustee capacity or as an agent for
individuals, private organizations, other governmental units, or other funds. These include expendable trust funds,
non-expendable trust funds, pension trust funds, and agency funds.

PensioN, HEALTH, AND OTHER EmPLOYEE BENEFITS TRUST FUNDS

Pension Benefits Trust Funds - Denver Employees Retirement Plan - to account for the pension assets of the Denver Employees
Retirement Plan.

Health Benefits Trust Funds - Denver Employees Retirement Plan - to account for the health benefits assets of the Denver Employees
Retirement Plan.

Deferred Compensation - to account for City employees’ voluntary deferrals of current income to future years and the investment income

earned.

AGENCY FunDs

Employee Salary Redirect Plan - to account for employees’income tax-exempt voluntary salary deductions used to pay for dependent
childcare, medical expense reimbursement, and medical insurance premium payments.

Agency - to account for the consolidation of payroll activity in one fund after the recording of expenditures in the appropriate funds. Also,
collected receipts are temporarily held here in unapportioned accounts until a proper allocation is determined. Additionally, property taxes

collected for all the taxing entities in the County of Denver are transferred here from the trust fund where they are initially recorded.
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Combining Statement of Fiduciary Net Position -
Pension, Health, and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Pension Benefits Health Benefits Other Employee
Trust Fund Trust Fund  Benefit Trust Fund
Denver Denver Deferred
Employees Employees Compensation
Retirement Plan Retirement Plan Plan Total
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 42,023 $ 1,560 S - 43,583
Securities lending collateral 224,498 8,169 - 232,667
Receivables:
Accounts 2,851 104 - 2,955
Accrued interest 1,752 64 - 1,816
Investments:
U.S. Government obligations 146,888 5,345 - 152,233
Domestic stocks and bonds 670,778 24,406 - 695,184
International stocks 464,643 16,906 - 481,549
Mutual funds - - 353,704 353,704
Real estate 177,140 6,445 - 183,585
Other 441,200 16,054 244,750 702,004
Total Investments 1,900,649 69,156 598,454 2,568,259
Total Current Assets 2,171,773 79,053 598,454 2,849,280
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 4,600 167 - 4,767
Total Assets 2,176,373 79,220 598,454 2,854,047
Liabilities
Vouchers payable 2,498 91 - 2,589
Securities lending obligations 228,202 8,303 - 236,505
Total Liabilities 230,700 8,394 - 239,094
Net Position Held in Trust for Pension and
Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds $ 1,945,673 $ 598,454
Net Position Held in Trust for OPEB Benefits $ 70,826
Net Position Held in Trust for Benefits 2,614,953
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Combining Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position -

Pension, Health, and Other Employee Benefit Trust Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Pension Benefits Health Benefits Other Employee
Trust Fund Trust Fund Benefit Trust Fund
Denver Denver Deferred
Employees Employees Compensation
Retirement Plan Retirement Plan Plan Total
Additions
Contributions:
City and County of Denver S 60,398 S 4,045 S - S 64,443
Denver Health and Hospital Authority 6,836 335 - 7,171
Plan members 46,690 3,026 35,116 84,832
Total Contributions 113,924 7,406 35,116 156,446
Investment earnings:
Net appreciation in fair value of investments (53,787) (1,983) - (55,770)
Interest and dividends 31,962 1,190 5,914 39,066
Total Investment Earnings (21,825) (793) 5,914 (16,704)
Less investment expense (14,875) (551) - (15,426)
Net Investment Earnings (36,700) (1,344) 5,914 (32,130)
Securities lending earnings 770 29 - 799
Securities lending expenses:
Borrower rebates 502 19 - 521
Agent fees (318) (12) - (330)
Net Earnings from Securities Lending 954 36 - 990
Total Net Investment Earnings (35,746) (1,308) 5,914 (31,140)
Total Additions 78,178 6,098 41,030 125,306
Deductions
Benefits 181,828 12,905 36,022 230,755
Refunds of contributions 2,164 81 - 2,245
Administrative expenses 3,786 142 445 4,373
Total Deductions 187,778 13,128 36,467 237,373
Change in net position (109,600) (7,030) 4,563 (112,067)
Net Position - January 1 2,055,273 77,856 593,891 2,727,020
Net Position - December 31 $ 1,945,673 S 70,826 S 598,454 $ 2,614,953
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Combining Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities - Agency Funds

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Balance Balance
January 1 Additions Deductions December 31
Employee Salary Redirect Plan
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ - 5,170 5,170 -
Accounts receivable 352 - 351 1
Total Assets S 352 5,170 5,521 1
Liabilities
Other accrued liabilities 352 4,518 4,869 1
Total Liabilities $ 352 4,518 4,869 1
Agency
Assets
Cash on hand $ 1,880 1,365 - 3,245
Cash and cash equivalents 20,310 537,179 513,748 43,741
Receivables (net of allowances for
uncollectibles of $4,412):
Taxes 683,581 826,635 682,486 827,730
Accounts 6,247 20 6,252 15
Total Assets $ 712,018 1,365,199 1,202,486 874,731
Liabilities
Vouchers payable $ 11,012 334,728 332,902 12,838
Other accrued liabilities 135 526,716 512,954 13,897
Due to taxing units 700,871 859,562 712,437 847,996
Total Liabilities $ 712,018 1,721,006 1,558,293 874,731
Total - All Agency Funds
Assets
Cash on hand $ 1,880 1,365 - 3,245
Cash and cash equivalents 20,310 542,349 518,918 43,741
Receivables (net of allowances for
uncollectibles of $ )
Taxes 683,581 826,635 682,486 827,730
Accounts 6,599 20 6,603 16
Total Assets $ 712,370 1,370,369 1,208,007 874,732
Liabilities
Vouchers payable $ 11,012 334,728 332,902 12,838
Other accrued liabilities 487 531,234 517,823 13,898
Due to taxing units 700,871 859,562 712,437 847,996
Total Liabilities $ 712,370 1,725,524 1,563,162 874,732
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Combining Statement of Net Position - Nonmajor Component Units
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Bluebird Cherry Creek Cherry Creek Colfax Colfax
BID North BID  Subarea BID BID  Mayfair BID
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 48 $ 1,151 $ 64 $ 376 $ 77
Receivables:
Taxes 86 3,518 - 440 -
Accounts - 38 - - -
Other - - - - 10
Prepaid items and other assets - 9 - 1 -
Restricted Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents - 79 - - -
Capital Assets:
Buildings and improvements - 17,017 - 3,106 -
Machinery and equipment - 283 - - -
Accumulated depreciation - (3,658) - (541) -
Net Capital Assets - 13,642 - 2,565 -
Total Assets 134 18,437 64 3,382 87
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred amount on refundings - 1,916 - - -
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources - 1,916 - - -
Liabilities
Vouchers payable 3 70 - 17 7
Accrued liabilities - 125 - - -
Unearned revenue - - - - -
Due to other governments - - - 1 -
Noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year - 700 - - -
Due in more than one year - 15,760 - - -
Total Liabilities 3 16,655 - 18 7
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property tax 86 3,518 - 440 -
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 86 3,518 - 440 -
Net Position
Net investment in capital assets - (903) - 2,565 -
Restricted for:
Emergency use 4 69 - 13 -
Debt service - 1 - - -
Unrestricted 41 1,003 64 346 80

Total Net Position $ 45 $ 180 $ 64 $ 2,924 S 80
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Downtown
Denver Denver
Preschool Downtown Development Federal Old South Santa Fe West

Program, Inc. Denver BID Authority BID Gaylord BID BID Colfax BID Total
$ 17,220 $ 1,309 $ - $ 19 $ 27 $ 62 $ 120 $ 20473
- 5,522 16,076 - - - 160 25,802

4 398 - - - - - 440

- - - 2 - - - 12

65 22 - - - - - 97

- - - - - - - 79

- - - - - - 652 20,775

49 1,621 - - 19 - - 1,972
(47) (1,009) - - (19) - (86) (5,360)

2 612 - - - - 566 17,387

17,291 7,863 16,076 21 27 62 846 64,290

- - - - - - - 1,916

- - - - - - - 1,916

3,903 486 - - 5 27 10 4,528
7,295 - - - 10 - - 7,430

- 6 - - - - - 6

- - 16,076 - - - - 16,077

- - - - - - - 700

- - - - - - - 15,760

11,198 492 16,076 - 15 27 10 44,501

- 5,522 - - - - 160 9,726

- 5,522 - - - - 160 9,726

2 612 - - - - 566 2,842

- 190 - - - - 5 281

- - - - - - - 11

6,091 1,047 - 21 12 35 105 8,845

$ 6,093 $ 1,849 $ - $ 21 $ 12 $ 35 $ 676 $ 11,979
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Combining Statement of Activities - Nonmajor Component Units

For the Year Ended December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Bluebird Cherry Creek Cherry Creek Colfax
BID North BID  Subarea BID Colfax BID  Mayfair BID
Expenses $ 44 $ 4,214 $ 11 $ 502 $ 186
Program Revenues
Charges for services - 374 - - -
Operating grants and contributions 3 - - 621 148
Total Program Revenues 3 374 - 621 148
Net expenses (41) (3,840) (11) 119 (38)
General Revenues
Taxes:
Property 73 2,735 16 360 118
Specific ownership 5 212 - 27 -
Investment and interest income - 7 - 1 -
Other revenues - - - 2 -
Total General Revenues 78 2,954 16 390 118
Change in net position 37 (886) 5 509 80
Net position (deficit) - January 1, as previously reported 8 1,066 59 2,415 -
Correction of error - - - -
Net position (deficit) - January 1, as restated 8 1,066 59 2,415 -
Net Position (Deficit) - December 31 S 45 $ 180 S 64 $ 2,924 $ 80
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Downtown
Denver Denver
Preschool Downtown Development Federal Old South Santa Fe West

Program, Inc. Denver BID Authority BID Gaylord BID BID Colfax BID Total

$ 16,508 $ 7177 $ - 63 $ 67 115 $ 184 29,071
- - - - - - 374

26 417 - - - - 9 1,224

26 417 - - - - 9 1,598
(16,482) (6,760) - (63) (67) (115) (175) (27,473)

- 5,288 - 66 50 137 148 8,991

- - - - - - - 244

6 - - - - - - 14

20,761 1,284 - - - 13 12 22,072
20,767 6,572 - 66 50 150 160 31,321
4,285 (188) - 3 (17) 35 (15) 3,848

1,808 2,037 - 18 29 - 691 8,131

1,808 2,037 - 18 29 - 691 8,131

$ 6,093 $ 1,849 $ - 21 $ 12 35 $ 676 $ 11,979
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City AND CounTyY oF DENVER

Combined Schedule of Bonds Payable and Escrows

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Amount Interest ° Amount 1st Optional
Issued Maturity Rate Outstanding Call Date
Denver Airport System
1992F-G Credit Facility Bonds $ 36,900 2031 0.721% S 34,900 9/25/2017
Escrow - LOI n/a 2024-2025 6.125% 40,080 5/15/2016
2002C Credit Facility Bonds 30,300 2031 0.721% 28,200 9/25/2017
2006A Airport System Revenue 279,585 2016-2025 4.00-5.00% 259,345 11/15/2016
2007A Airport System Revenue 188,350 2023-2030 5.00% 188,350 11/15/2017
2007B Airport System Revenue 24,250 2032 5.00% 24,250 11/15/2017
2007C Airport System Revenue 34,635 2016-2033 5.00% 34,635 11/15/2017
2007D Airport System Revenue 147,815 2016-2023 5.25-5.50% 147,815 11/15/2017
2007E Airport System Revenue 47,400 2032 5.00% 47,400 11/15/2017
2007F1-F2 Airport System Revenue? 104,000 2025 0.37-0.42% 75,550 1/2/2016
2007G1-G2 Credit Facility Bonds® 135,600 2031 1.071% 131,500 12/1/2023
2008A1 Airport System Revenue 221,215 2016-2017 5.00-5.50% 20,900 Not callable
2008B Airport System Revenue' 81,800 2031 0.914% 61,700 1/2/2016
2008C1-C3 Airport System Revenue' 292,600 2031 0.914-0.918% 292,600 1/2/2016
2009A Airport System Revenue 170,190 2016-2036 5.00-5.25% 164,850 11/15/2019
2009B Credit Facility Bonds 65,290 2039 6.414% 65,290 1/2/2016
2009C Airport System Revenue' 104,655 2031 1.071% 104,655 1/2/2016
2010A Airport System Revenue 171,360 2016-2032 4.00-5.00% 171,360 11/15/2020
2011A Airport System Revenue 349,730 2016-2023 4.00-5.25% 285,695 11/15/2021
2011B Airport System Revenue 198,370 2016-2024 4.00-5.00% 82,765 11/15/2021
2011C Airport System Revenue 15,310 2016 4.00-5.00% 1,925 Not callable
2012A Airport System Revenue 315,780 2016-2043 3.00-5.00% 290,340 11/15/2022
2012B Airport System Revenue 510,140 2016-2043 4.00-5.00% 505,315 11/15/2022
2012C Airport System Revenue 30,285 2026 3.592% 30,285 1/2/2016
2013A Airport System Revenue 326,260 2016-2043 4.00-5.50% 322,460 11/15/2023
2013B Airport System Revenue 393,655 2016-2043 3.00-5.25% 392,360 11/15/2023
2014A Airport System Revenue 116,000 2031 0.431% 112,025 1/2/2016
2016-2021 and

2015A Airport System Revenue 195,940 2023-2035 2.20% 195,940 11/15/2016
Total Denver Airport System 4,112,490
Unamortized premium net of discount 128,879
Net Denver Airport System 4,241,369
Wastewater Management
2012 Wastewater Revenue Bonds 50,425 2016-2032 3.00-5.00% 40,710 n/a
Unamortized premium 4,613
Total Wastewater Management 45,323
Golf Enterprise
2005 Golf Enterprise Revenue Bonds 7,365 2016-2020 4.70-5.00% 2,970 9/1/2016
Unamortized premium 3
Total Golf Enterprise 2,973

continued
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Combined Schedule of Bonds Payable and Escrows - continued
December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

Amount Interest ° Amount 1st Optional
Issued Maturity Rate Outstanding Call Date

General Obligation
2006 Justice System Facilities Bonds 125,000 2016 5.00% 6,795 8/1/2016
2007 Justice System Facilities (mini-bonds) 8,861 2022 4.75% 8,861 Not callable
2008 Justice System Facilities 174,135 2016-2025 3.50-5.50% 123,755 8/1/2018
2009A Better Denver/Zoo Bonds 104,500 2016-2025 4.00-5.25% 73,435 8/1/2019
2010A Better Denver 37,910 2016 5.00% 5,930 Not callable
2010B Better Denver Bonds 312,055 2017-2030 3.78-5.65% 312,055 8/1/2020
2010D Better Denver Bonds 44,650 2016-2025 3.00-5.00% 31,870 8/1/2020
2011A Better Denver Bonds 16,455 2019-2025 2.75-5.00% 16,455 8/1/2021
2013A Better Denver Bonds 120,925 2016-2030 3.00-5.00% 89,545 8/1/2023
2013B1 GO Refunding Bonds 48,020 2016-2025 2.30% 47,480 8/1/2023
2013B2 GO Refunding Bonds 89,415 2016-2025 2.38% 87,495 8/1/2023
2014 Better Denver (mini-bonds) 12,000 2023, 2028 4.39-4.89% 12,000 Not callable
Total Primary Government 815,676
Unamortized premium 21,337
Net Primary Government 837,013
2009 Gateway Village GID 2,215 2016 3.76% 500 1/1/2016
14th Street GID 4,000 2034 7.00% 3,630 12/1/2020
Total General Obligation 841,143
Excise Tax Revenue Bonds
2005 Excise Tax Refunding 149,190 2016-2020 5.00-5.25% 97,735 Not callable
2009A Excise Tax Refunding 73,630 2021-2023 6.00% 73,630 9/1/2019
Total Excise Tax Revenue Bonds 171,365
Unamortized premium 4,738
Net Excise Tax Revenue Bonds 176,103
Total General Long-Term Debt 1,017,246
Total Bonds Payable $ 5,306,911

'Variable rate issue - weekly interest rate reset

“Auction rate securities - 7 day auction

*Variable rate issue - daily interest rate reset

*Amounts do not include $4,463 and $763 of compound interest on the Series 2007 and 2014A mini-bonds, respectively.
SVariable rate issues reflect rate in effect as of December 31, 2015.
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The public report burden for this information collection is estimated to average 380 hours annually.

Financial Planning 02/01
Form # 350-050-36

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT

City or County:

Denver

YEAR ENDING :
December 2015

This Information From The Records Of (example - City of _ or County of _):

Prepared By:
Phone:

Lindsay Schwerman
(720)913-5528

I. DISPOSITION OF HIGHWAY-USER REVENUES AVAI

LABLE FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENT EXPENDITURE

ITEM

. Total receipts available

. Minus amount used for collection expenses

. Minus amount used for nonhighway purposes
. Minus amount used for mass transit

. Remainder used for highway purposes

uls|wN]|e-

Il. RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES

A. Local
Motor-Fuel
Taxes

B. Local
Motor-Vehicle

Taxes User Taxes

C. Receipts from
State Highway-

1ll. DISBURSEMENTS FOR ROAD
AND STREET PURPOSES

D. Receipts from
Federal Highway
Administration

ITEM
A. Receipts from local sources:

ITEM

A. Local highway disbursements:

| AMOUNT

AMOUNT
1. Local highway-user taxes 1. Capital outlay (from page 2) 56,834,570
a. Motor Fuel (from Item I.A.5.) 2. Maintenance: 9,306,222
b. Motor Vehicle (from Item 1.B.5.) 3. Road and street services: _
c. Total (a.+b.) a. Traffic control operations 11,853,563
2. General fund appropriations 98,183,610 b. Snow and ice removal 6,794,727
3. Other local imposts (from page 2) 1,478,924 c. Other 14,606,578
4. Miscellaneous local receipts (from page 2) 0 d. Total (a.throughc.) 33,254,868
5. Transfers from toll facilities 4. General administration & miscellaneous 5,371,225
6. Proceeds of sale of bonds and notes: _ 5. Highway law enforcement and safety 22,358,019
a. Bonds - Original Issues 6. Total (1 through 5) 127,124,905

b. Bonds - Refunding Issues

B. Debt service on local obligations:

© |

c. Notes 1. Bonds: _
d. Total (a.+b.+c.) 0 a. Interest
7. Total (1 through 6) 99,662,534 b. Redemption
B. Private Contributions c. Total (a.+b.) 0
C. Receipts from State government 2. Notes: _
(from page 2) 27,462,372 a. Interest

A. Bonds (Total)

D. Receipts from Federal Government b. Redemption
(from page 2) c. Total (a. +b.) 0
E. Total receipts (A.7+B+C+D) 127,124,905 3. Total (L.c+2.¢) 0
C. Payments to State for highways
D. Payments to toll facilities
E. Total disbursements (A.6 + B.3 + C + D) 127,124,905

IV. LOCAL HIGHWAY DEBT STATUS
(Show all entries at par)

Opening Debt

Amount Issued Redemptions

Closing Debt

1. Bonds (Refunding Portion)

B. Notes (Total)

|

V. LOCAL ROAD AND STR|

EET FUND BALANCE

A. Beginning Balance

B. Total Receipts

C. Total Disbursements D. Ending Balance

E. Reconciliation

127,124,905

127,124,905

Notes and Comments:

cannot be separated from debt for other purposes.

-11.A.2 ("General fund appropriations") have been added to the extent that they are calculated to support highway expenditures
- IV. Until 2006 we reported debt only for street-related special assessment districts. That amount is now negligible. General Obligation debt related to highways

- V.A&D. The City and County of Denver has no comprehensive, separate Road and Street "Fund." We have funds for various capital outlays; General Fund
appropriations and other specified revenues support non-capital expenditures on roads and streets.

FORM FHWA-536 (Rev. 1-05)

PREVIOUS EDITIONS OBSOLETE

1

(Next Page)
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STATE:
Colorado

LOCAL HIGHWAY FINANCE REPORT YEAR ENDING (mm/yy):
December 2015

1. RECEIPTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

ITEM AMOUNT ITEM AMOUNT
A.3. Other local imposts: A.4. Miscellaneous local receipts:

a. Property Taxes and Assessments 1,478,924 a. Interest on investments
b. Other local imposts: b. Traffic Fines & Penalities
1. Sales Taxes c. Parking Garage Fees
2. Infrastructure & Impact Fees d. Parking Meter Fees
3. Liens e. Sale of Surplus Property
4. Licenses #| f. Charges for Services
5. Specific Ownership &/or Other g. Other Misc. Receipts
6. Total (1. through 5.) 0 h. Other
c. Total (a. +b.) 1,478,924 i. Total (a. through h.) 0

(Carry forward to page 1)

(Carry forward to page 1)

ITEM AMOUNT ITEM AMOUNT
C. Receipts from State Government D. Receipts from Federal Government
1. Highway-user taxes 1. FHWA (from Item I.D.5.)
2. State general funds 2. Other Federal agencies:
3. Other State funds: a. Forest Service
a. State bond proceeds b. FEMA
b. Project Match c. HUD
c. Motor Vehicle Registrations d. Federal Transit Admin
e
f.
g

d. Other (Specify) - DOLA Grant . U.S. Corps of Engineers
e. Other (Specify) . Other Federal
f. Total (a. through e.) 0 . Total (a. through f.)

4. Total (1. +2.+3.f) otal (1. +2.g)

(Carry forward to page 1)

Ill. DISBURSEMENTS FOR ROAD AND STREET PURPOSES - DETAIL

ON NATIONAL OFF NATIONAL
HIGHWAY HIGHWAY TOTAL
SYSTEM SYSTEM

(a) (b) (c)

A.1. Capital outlay:

a. Right-Of-Way Costs 200,494 200,494
b. Engineering Costs 5,137,463 5,137,463
c. Construction:
(1). New Facilities 0 0
(2). Capacity Improvements 6,955,200 6,955,200
(3). System Preservation 39,904,612 39,904,612
(4). System Enhancement & Operation 4,636,800 4,636,800
(5). Total Construction (1) +(2) +(3) + (4) 0 51,496,613 51,496,613
d. Total Capital Outlay (Lines 1.a. + 1.b. + 1.c.5) 0 56,834,570 56,834,570

(Carry forward to page 1)

Notes and Comments:

FORM FHWA-536 (Rev.1-05) PREVIOUS EDITIONS OBSOLETE
2
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StATISTICAL (UNAUDITED) 159

CONTENTS

This part of the City and County of Denver’s comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a context for
understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information says
about the government’s overall financial health.

161 FINANCIAL TRENDS

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the City’s Financial performance and
well-being have changed over time.

169 ReveNue CapaciTy

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City’s most significant local revenue source, the sales
tax.

176 DesTt CAPACITY

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City’s current levels of outstanding
debt and the City’s ability to issue additional debt in the future.

184 DEeMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the environment within
which the City’s financial activities take place.

187 OPERATING INFORMATION

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the information in the City’s
financial report relates to the services the City provides and the activities it performs.
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172 City AND COUNTY OF DENVER

Principal Property Taxpayers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago (dollars in thousands)

2015 2006
Taxpayer Value Rank Total Taxable Value Rank Total Taxable
Public Service Co. S 256,596 1 2.25% $ 166,870 1 1.85%
Brookfield Properties 200,284 2 1.76%
Beacon Capital Partners 169,290 3 1.49%
CenturyLink, Inc.’ 151,991 4 1.33% 162,552 2 1.80%
Invesco Realty Advisers Inc. 128,357 5 1.13%
Taubman Centers Inc. 101,355 6 0.89%
UBS Realty Investors 100,321 7 0.88%
Columbia-Healthone, LLC 99,232 8 0.87% 63,661 6 0.70%
Callahan Capital Partners 96,867 9 0.85%
Shorenstein Properties LLC 86,697 10 0.76%
Frontier Airlines 56,407 9 0.62%
United Airlines, Inc. 110,101 3 1.22%
Equity Office Properties 73,502 4 0.81%
AT&T 66,658 5 0.73%
Crescent Real Estate Equities 63,371 7 0.70%
Temple Hoyne Buell Foundation 59,852 8 0.66%
Sykwest Airlines 48,758 10 0.54%
Totals $ 1,390,990 12.21% $ 871,732 9.63%
2015 Principal Property Taxpayers
CenturyLink, Inc., Invesco Realty
1.33% Advisers Inc., Taubman
Beacon Capital 1.13% Centers Inc.,
Partners, 1.49% 0.89%
UBS Realty

Investors, 0.88%

- ‘_}_,\ Principal

All other \ property

taxpayers, taxpayers,
87.79% | 12.21%

Brookfield
Properties,
1.76%

Columbia-
Healthone,
LLC, 0.87%

Public Service

o
CclZ2o% Callahan Capital

Partners, 0.85%

Shorenstein
Properties LLC,
0.76%

1 CenturyLink, Inc. merged with Qwest Corp. in April 2011.

Source: Denver County Assessor
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178 CiTY AND COUNTY OF DENVER

Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt

December 31, 2015 (dollars in thousands)

City and County

Debt Percentage of Denver
Outstanding Applicable Share of Debt
Direct Debt
General Obligation bonds 815,676
General Improvement District bonds 4,130
Capital leases 403,555
Housing and Urban Development notes 1,431
Intergovernmental agreement 2,591
Total Net Direct Debt 1,227,383
Overlapping Debt
Regional Transportation District 3,387,621 30.5% 2 S 1,033,224
Metro Wastewater Reclamation District 606,630 38.5% ° 233,553
School District #1 2,354,967 100.0% 2,354,967
Total Overlapping Debt 6,349,218 3,621,744
Total Net Direct and Overlapping Debt 7,576,601

! Does not include $21,337 unamortized premium.

$ 4,849,127

’ Percentage calculated on estimated Scientific and Cultural Facilities District sales and use tax for Denver City and County compared to State total,

per the Colorado Department of Revenue, Office of Research and Analysis.

3
Percentage calculated on Denver’s wastewater charges compared to the entire metro district per Metro Wastewater Reclamation District.
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Principal Employers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

2015 2006

Employees Rank City Employ Employ Rank City Employment
Denver Public School District #1 12,864 1 3.0% 9,421 2 2.5%
City and County of Denver 10,549 2 2.5% 11,322 1 3.0%
State of Colorado Central Payroll 9,401 3 2.2% 8,885 3 2.4%
U.S.D.A. National Finance Center 7,264 4 1.7% 3,933 7 1.1%
Denver Health & Hospital Authority 6,047 5 1.4%
United Airlines, Inc. 5,412 6 1.3% 5,805 6 1.6%
CHC Payroll Agent, Inc. (HCA Health One) 4,264 7 1.0% 3,630 10 1.0%
University of Denver 3,795 8 0.9%
University of Colorado Central 3,536 9 0.8% 6,113 5 1.6%
Accounting Service Center (U. S. Postal Service) 2,943 10 0.7% 3,710 9 1.0%
Frontier Airlines Inc. 3,746 8 1.0%
Defense Civilian Pay System 8,352 4 2.2%
Total 66,075 15.5% 64,917 17.4%

2015 Principal Employers

CHC Payroll  yniversity of University of Accounting
Colorado X

Agent, Inc.  Dpenver, 0.9% Central, 0.8% Service Center

(HCA Health e (U. S. Postal

One), 1.0%\ ‘F’\ Service), 0.7%

United Airlines
Inc., 1.3% >
All other Denver FTUb!IC
employers, Denver e— 3 School DISDtI'ICt
84.5% Principal Health & e, #1, 3.0%
employers, Hospita f !
15.5% Authority, .
1.4% US.D.A. City and

National Grrae Y County of
Denver, 2.5%

Finance Center,
1.7%

Colorado
Central Payroll,
2.2%

Source: Based on 2015 and 2006 Occupational Privilege Tax Remitters.
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